学位論文

Quantum field theoretical approach to relativistic hydrodynamics from local Gibbs ensemble

(局所ギブス分布に基づく相対論的流体力学に対する 場の量子論的アプローチ)

平成27年12月博士(理学)申請

東京大学大学院理学系研究科

物理学専攻

本郷 優

Quantum field theoretical approach to relativistic hydrodynamics from local Gibbs ensemble

Masaru Hongo

Department of Physics, The University of Tokyo

December 2015

PhD Thesis



Abstract

Relativistic hydrodynamics is a low-energy effective theory which universally describes macroscopic behaviors of relativistic many-body systems. Its application covers the broad branches of physics such as high-energy physics, astrophysics, and condensed matter physics. Nevertheless, its derivation from underlying microscopic theories, especially from quantum field theories, has not been clearly clarified. Furthermore, it is recently pointed out that novel transport phenomena such as the chiral magnetic effect, which originates from the quantum anomaly in the underlying quantum field theories, take place in the macroscopic hydrodynamic regime.

In this thesis, we derive relativistic hydrodynamics from quantum field theories on the basis of the recent development of nonequilibrium statistical mechanics. In order to derive the hydrodynamic equations we introduce an assumption that the density operator is given by a local Gibbs distribution at initial time, and decompose the energy-momentum tensor and charge current into nondissipative and dissipative parts. This leads to a generalization of the Gibbs ensemble method canonically employed in equilibrium statistical mechanics. Our formalism is also applicable to the situation in the presence of the quantum anomaly, and we can describe the anomaly-induced tranport phenomena.

As a basic tool of our formalism, we first develop a path integral of the thermodynamic potential for locally thermalized systems. We show microscopically that the thermodynamic pontential, which is shown to be the generating functional of systems in local thermal equilibrium, is written in terms of the quantum field theory in the curved spacetime with one imaginary-time direction. The structure of this thermally emergent curved spacetime is determined by hydrodynamic variables such as the local temperature, and fluid-four velocity, and possesses notable symmetry properties: Kaluza-Klein gauge symmetry, spatial diffeomorphism symmetry, and gauge symmetry. With the help of the symmetry argument, we can construct the nondissipative part of the hydrodynamic equations including the anomaly-induced transport phenomena. By the use of the perturbative calculation, we evaluate the anomalous transport coefficients at one-loop level. Furthermore, we also construct a solid basis to study dissipative corrections to hydrodynamic equations. In particular, by performing the derivative expansion, together with the result on nondissipative part of the constitutive relations, we derive the firstorder dissipative hydrodynamic equations, that is, the relativistic Navier-Stokes equation. Our formalism also provides the quantum field theoretical expression of the Green-Kubo formulas for transport coefficients.

The formulation and whole works presented from Chapter 2 to Chapter 4 are based on our original work in collaboration with Yoshimasa Hidaka (RIKEN). The work presented in Chapter 3 is in collaboration with Yoshimasa Hidaka (RIKEN), Tomoya Hayata (RIKEN), and Toshifumi Noumi (Hong Kong University of Science and Technology) [1].

Table of Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Relativistic hydrodynamics	3
		1.1.1 What is hydrodynamics?	3
		1.1.2 Building blocks of hydrodynamics	5
		1.1.3 Conventional derivations of hydrodynamics	7
	1.2	Anomaly-induced transport phenomena	13
		1.2.1 Quantum anomaly	14
		1.2.2 Anomaly-induced transport	15
		1.2.3 Possible realization in physical systems	17
	1.3	Outline	18
	1.4	Notation	19
2	Qua	ntum field theory for locally thermalized system	21
	2.1	Review on finite temperature field theory	22
	2.2	Local thermodynamics on a hypersurface	24
		2.2.1 Geometric preliminary	24
		2.2.2 Matter field	26
		2.2.3 Local Gibbs distribution and Masseiu-Planck functional	28
	2.3	Path integral formulation and emergent curved spacetime	33
		2.3.1 Scalar field	33
		2.3.2 Gauge field	36
		2.3.3 Dirac field	40
	2.4	Symmetries of emergent thermal spacetime	46
		2.4.1 Kaluza-Klein gauge symmetry	47
		2.4.2 Spatial diffeomorphism symmetry	48
		2.4.3 Gauge connection and gauge symmetry	49
	2.5	Brief summary	49
3	Rela	ativistic hydrodynamics	51
	3.1	Basic nonequilibrium statistical mechanics	52
	3.2	Basis for derivative expansion	54

		3.2.1 Time evolution $\ldots \ldots 5$	4
		3.2.2 Towards derivative expansion	0
	3.3	Zeroth-order relativistic hydrodynamics: Perfect fluid	1
	3.4	First-order relativistic hydrodynamics: Navier-Stokes fluid	2
		3.4.1 Derivation of the Navier-Stokes fluid	3
		3.4.2 Choice of frame	6
	3.5	Brief summary	8
4	And	nalous hydrodynamics 7	1
	4.1	Hydrodynamics in the presence of anomaly	1
		A.1.1 Absence of the first-order anomalous dissipative transport $\ldots \ldots $ 7	2
		A.1.2 Anomalous correction to the Masseiu-Planck functional $\ldots \ldots \ldots $ 7	3
	4.2	Derivation of the anomaly-induced transport	3
		A.2.1 Perturbative approach to the Masseiu-Placnk functional $\ldots \ldots \ldots 7$	4
		A.2.2 Masseiu-Planck functional for Weyl fermion	5
		A.2.3 Anomaly-induced transport from Masseiu-Planck functional $\ldots \ldots \ldots 7$	8
	4.3	Brief summary	9
5	Sun	nary and Outlook 8	1
A	Det	led calculation 8	7
	A.1	Derivation of Eq. (2.47)	7
	A.2	Evaluation of integral (4.24)	7
В	Am	guity of energy-momentum tensor 9	1

Chapter 1

Introduction

Hydrodynamics has a long history of theoretical study and its application to our real life. Its prototype, hydrostatics, has already been started in seventeenth century by Pascal's work on the so-called Pascal's law [2]. Newton also worked on hydrostatics in his monumental "Philosophiæ Naturalis Principia Mathematica" [3]. While their works were restricted to static phenomena of fluid, and were indeed not hydrodynamics but hydrostatics, Daniel Bernoulli opened a new chapter of systematic study on hydrodynamics in his "Hydrodynamica, sive de viribus et motibus fluidorum commentarii" in 1738 [4]. He addressed several issues not only on a motion of fluid itself but also a first attempt to make a use of kinetic theory of gases to derive the Boyle's law. After seminal works by Clairaut and d'Alembert [5, 6, 7], Euler and Lagrange have laid the foundation of hydrodynamics [8, 9, 10]. Their framework of hydrodynamics, nevertheless, still remained irrelevant to the mundane problems such as pipe flows since they cannot cover the effects of viscosity. In the early nineteenth century, French physicists such as Navier, Cauchy, Saint-Venant, and Stokes worked on this problem and finally obtain the basic equation of hydrodynamics applicable to realistic situations, which is now known as the so-called Navier-Stokes equation¹. After the derivation of the Navier-Stokes equation almost 200 years ago, there still exist rich unsolved problems related to hydrodynamics ranging from mathematical one such as the "Navier-Stokes existence and smoothness" in Millennium Prize Problems by Clay Mathematics Institute to technological or engineering ones like the aircraft design.

Restricting ourselves to problems in physics, we often encounter hydrodynamics on the front line of research in various fields. This is because hydrodynamics gives a universal description of the macroscopic behaviors of many-body systems [12], focusing only on the spacetime evolution of densities of conserved charges such as energy, momentum, and electric charge. In fact, the framework of hydrodynamics itself does not depend on microscopic details of systems such as the nature of particles and their interactions, and its application covers various branches of physics from condensed matter to high-energy physics. Among them is illuminating the recent success of relativistic hydrodynamics in describing the spacetime evolution of the quark-gluon

¹ There is close investigation of priority to the Navier-Stokes equation in Ref. [11].

plasma (QGP) created in ultra-relativistic heavy-ion collision experiments [13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19]. In parallel with hydrodynamic modeling of the QGP, relativistic hydrodynamics itself has attracted much attention. The first-order relativistic hydrodynamic equations, that is, the relativistic version of the Navier-Stokes equations, which suffer from the violation of causality, have been derived long ago by Eckart [20] and by Landau and Lifshitz [12]. The second-order equations, which resolve the causality problem by introducing a finite relaxation time, were derived first by Müller [21] and also by Israel and Stewart [22]. After the aforementioned success of relativistic hydrodynamic equations have been progressively carried out. For example, the relativistic hydrodynamic equations are formulated based on the kinetic theory [23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32], the fluid/gravity correspondence [33, 34, 35, 36], the phenomenological extension of nonequilibrium thermodynamics [37, 38], and the projection operator method [39, 40]. Also, a novel method has recently been developed in which the generating functional for nondissipative hydrodynamics in equilibrium is constructed only by imposing symmetry and scaling properties of systems [41, 42].

Despite the progresses mentioned above, the foundation of hydrodynamics based on underlying microscipolic theories, especially quantum field theories, has not fully understood yet. In fact, it has been recently pointed out that a set of novel transport phenomena, which originate from quantum anomalies of underlying quantum field theories, take place in a medium composed of chiral fermions. They are called the anomaly-induced transport phenomena. One of such examples is the chiral magnetic effect which represents the existence of the electric current along the magnetic field. The chiral magnetic effect only arises when a system is under parity-violating environments expected to be realized in the QGP in heavy-ion collisions, hot and dense neutrino gases in the supernovae explosion, and also a Weyl semimetal in condensed matter. Although the parity-violating transport itself was already pointed out more than 30 years ago [43, 44] it is clearly recognized only recently that they appear even in the macroscopic hydrodynamic regime as a result of the quantum anomaly. The anomaly-induced transport phenomena are distinct from the usual transport phenomena in hydrodynamics such as the conducting current, and have not been fully understood from the point of the view of nonequilibrium statistical mechanics.

The aim of this thesis is to derive the relativistic hydrodynamic equations on the basis of the underlying microscopic theories, that is, quantum field theories. To derive the hydrodynamic equations, we introduce the local Gibbs distribution at initial time, which is a generalization of the Gibbs ensemble methods [45] usually applied in the equilibrium statistical mechanics [46]. This is based on the recent development of nonequilibrium statistical mechanics [47], which is quite similar with methods using nonequilibrium statistical ensembles [48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57]. However, we first performed the path-integral analysis of the thermodynamic potential for locally thermalized systems in detail, and formulated quantum field theories under local thermal equilibrium. This provides a first microscopic justification of the generating functional method [41, 42] for nondissipative hydrodynamics, and enables us to justify a generalized argument by Luttinger [58], in which the spatial distribution of the temperature is interpreted as an auxiliary external gravitational potential. This lays out a solid basis to describe the anomaly-induced transport phenomena based on the underlying quantum field theory. We also study the dissipative corrections to relativistic hydrodynamic equations by using our method and show that our formulation provides a solid basis not only to derive the first-order equations but also to proceed to higer orders. Moreover, we consider the system composed of the chiral fermion, and derive the anomaly-induced transport as a first-order nondissipative correction to the constitutive relations.

This chapter is organized as follows: In Sec. 1.1, we first reconsider the basis of relativistic hydrodynamics in detail. Then, we review different ways of constructing hydrodynamics: the phenomenological derivation, the derivation based on the kinetic theory, and the method based on the hydrostatic partition function. In Sec. 1.2, we introduce the anomaly-induced transport phenomena, whose derivation is one of the main topic in Chapter 4. We also show some examples where such transport phenomena take place. In Sec. 1.3, the outline of this thesis is shown.

1.1 Relativistic hydrodynamics

In this section, we present a basis of hydrodynamics. In Sec. 1.1.1, after explaining the fundamental assumption to apply hydrodynamics, we list a set of relavant variables which live in the hydrodynamic regime. In Sec. 1.1.2, we set out the building blocks for hydrodynamics: the conservation laws for the macroscopic variables, the constitutive relations, and the set of physical properties of systems. In 1.1.3, we briefly review some conventional derivations of relativistic hydrodynamic equations.

1.1.1 What is hydrodynamics?

Applicable condition for hydrodynamics

Hydrodynamics gives a systematic and powerful way to describe the spacetime evolution of many-body systems, or systems composed of quantum fields. However, it is not always applicable in general nonequilibrium situations. Here we demonstrate the conditions under which hydrodynamics becomes a proper tool to describe the real-time evolution of systems.

Given a certain Lagrangian (or Hamiltonian), we have intrinsic microscopic scales such as the mean free path and mean free time which are determined by the nature of particles and interactions between them. Let ℓ_{micro} denote such a microscopic scale. Under some circumstances like ones in which local thermodynamics is even approximately applicable, we also have macroscopic length scale ℓ_{macro} . Let this macroscopic scale ℓ_{macro} characterize the minimum scale of the macroscopic behaviors of systems such as a scale of steepest temperature gradient of the systems. Then, the fundamental assumption to apply hydrodynamics is that there exists a scale separation between ℓ_{micro} and ℓ_{macro} . In other words, the existence of a cut-off scale Λ satisfying

$$\ell_{\rm micro} \ll \Lambda \ll \ell_{\rm macro},$$
 (1.1)

is necessary to describe systems with the help of hydrodynamics.

The presence of this hierarchy allows us to describe systems by the use of coarse graining, i.e. the average over the scale shorter than the cut-off scale Λ . Since this cut-off scale is large compared to the microscopic one, the average values of conserved charge densities are expected to take typical values. Furthermore, if we focus on macroscopic behaviors of the averaged conserved charge densities, they are independent of the cut-off scale because the cut-off scale is sufficiently small compared to our macroscopic scale. Then, introducing a scale separation parameter $\epsilon \equiv \ell_{\text{micro}}/\ell_{\text{macro}}$, we consider the situation that the systems are characterized by a set of parameters $\lambda^a(x)$ which has sufficiently smooth coordinate dependence: $\lambda^a(x) = \bar{\lambda}^a(\epsilon x)$, where the functional form of $\bar{\lambda}^a$ does not depend on ϵ . Therefore, derivatives of relevant parameters gives higher-order contribution, and we can employ the derivative expansion for the relevant variables. This is the fundamental condition for hydrodynamics to work.

Relevant variables in hydrodynamics

From the modern point of view, hydrodynamics is regarded as a low energy effective theory which describes low-frequency and low-wavenumber behaviors of many-body systems. As is usual in order to construct an effective theory, we first have to specify a set of the relevant variables in the hydrodynamic description. In other words, we have to clarify what is a complete set of $\lambda^a(x)$ in the hydrodynamic regime.

Through the procedure of coarse graining, or averaging within a cut-off scale, a great number of degrees of freedom is reduced, and relevant variables which appear in the hydrodynamic description of systems are strongly restricted. In fact, the only relevant variables which live in the hydrodynamic regime are as listed below²:

- Conserved quantities, e.g. energy, momentum, and conserved charge (like electric charge)
- Nambu-Goldstone mode associated with spontaneous symmetry breaking
- Electromagnetic field (U(1)) gauge field), especially magnetic field³

The reason why these still remain is easily understood by focusing on the dispersion relations. If we have the massless dispersion relation, or $\omega \propto k^{\alpha}$ with positive α , the associated modes

 $^{^{2}}$ We have also fluctuations of the order parameters, or the critical fluctuation, in the vicinity of a critical point, where a second-order phase transition takes place.

 $^{^{3}}$ Similar to the electromagnetic field, we also have the gravitational field as an additional relevant variable when we consider the dynamics of the spacetime itself.

survive in the macroscopic scale, in which the mode becomes arbitrarily slow ($\omega \to 0$) when we observe in the enough macroscopic scale ($k \to 0$). Then, all the modes listed above have massless dispersion relations, and they survive. In fact since we have the conservation laws, the conserved quantities have the massless dispersion relation. Also the Nambu-Goldstone mode has the massless one due to the occurrence of a flat direction of the effective potential. While electric fields in the charged plasma is screened, the magnetic field is not, and it remains as one of the massless modes.

We have clarified the relevant variables in the hydrodynamic regime, and we next explain what will be resulting hydrodynamic equations. If we only have the conserved quantities, it leads to the usual hydrodynamic equations such as the Euler equation for a perfect fluid, or the Navier-Stokes equation depending on the order of the derivative expansion. In the coexistence of the conserved quantities and Nambu-Goldstone modes associated with the spontaneous symmetry breaking, the usual hydrodynamic equations are modified. The modified equations including the Nambu-Goldstone mode results in the two-fluid hydrodynamic equations, which is well known in the case of the superfluid ⁴He. Finally if we have the dynamical electromagnetic fields, the resulting equation is the magneto-hydrodynamic equations.

In addition, it has been recently pointed out that the existence of the quantum anomaly strongly affects hydrodynamics. It actually induces novel transport phenomena while it does not introduce the new degrees of freedoms. This novel transport phenomena is introduced in Sec. 1.2, and is one of the main subjects of this thesis. Hydrodynamics including the quantum anomaly and anomaly-induced transport is called anomalous hydrodynamics.

1.1.2 Building blocks of hydrodynamics

Conservation law for macroscopic variables

Here, we consider only conserved quantities as hydrodynamic variables. Then the basic building blocks for hydrodynamics are the conservation laws for the energy-momentum and conserved charge such as electric charge:

$$\nabla_{\mu}\hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) = 0, \qquad (1.2)$$

$$\nabla_{\mu}\hat{J}^{\mu}(x) = 0, \qquad (1.3)$$

where $\hat{T}^{\mu\nu}$ and \hat{J}^{μ} $(\mu, \nu = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, d-1)$ are the energy-momentum tensor and conserved current operator such as vector current, respectively. Here considering a general case, we introduce the covariant derivative ∇_{μ} . These are equations for the operator composed of quantum fields without coarse graining. By taking the average over an appropriate density operator $\hat{\rho}_0$, which represents the average within a cut-off scale discussed in the previous subsection, we obtain the conservation laws for the expectation values of the energy-momentum tensor and the conserved current

$$\nabla_{\mu} \langle \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle = 0, \qquad (1.4)$$

$$\nabla_{\mu}\langle \hat{J}^{\mu}(x)\rangle = 0, \tag{1.5}$$

where $\langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}(x) \rangle \equiv \operatorname{Tr} \hat{\rho}_0 \hat{\mathcal{O}}(x)$. This set of the conservation laws is the basic equation of relativistic hydrodynamics. Here relevant dynamical variables are conserved charge densities such as $\langle \hat{T}^{0\nu}(x) \rangle$ and $\langle \hat{J}^0(x) \rangle$.

Constitutive relation

We cannot solve the conservation laws (1.4) and (1.5) without relating $\langle \hat{T}^{i\nu}(x) \rangle$ and $\langle \hat{J}^i(x) \rangle$ $(i = 1, 2, \dots, d-1)$ to the conserved charge densities $\langle \hat{T}^{0\nu}(x) \rangle$ and $\langle \hat{J}^0(x) \rangle$, or their conjugate variables $\beta^{\mu}(x)$ and $\nu(x)^4$. Then, the second building blocks for hydrodynamics are the constitutive relations

$$\langle \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle = T^{\mu\nu}[T^{0\nu}, J^0] = T^{\mu\nu}[\beta^{\mu}, \nu],$$
 (1.6)

$$\langle \hat{J}^{\mu}(x) \rangle = J^{\mu}[T^{0\nu}, J^{0}] = J^{\mu}[\beta^{\mu}, \nu].$$
 (1.7)

Once we obtain the constitutive relations (1.6) and (1.7), together with the conservation laws, we have the complete set of hydrodynamic equations. This format of the conservation laws and constitutive relations is universal and independent of what kind of microscopic constituents we are considering.

Equation of state and transport coefficients

Although the hydrodynamic equations give universal description of macroscopic behaviors of systems, motions of fluid itself depends on the physical properties of systems determined by the microscopic details. The microscopic feature of systems such as the nature of particles and their interactions, is summarized in a few equations: the equation of state, and transport coefficients. For example, we have to specify the equation of state

$$p = p(e, n) = p(\beta, \nu), \tag{1.8}$$

where p denotes the pressure of the fluid, which appears as the diagonal spatial component of the averaged energy-momentum tensor in the leading order. Here e and n are energy density and charge density of fluid, respectively, and β and ν are their conjugate variables.

The transport coefficients, such as the shear viscosity η , bulk viscosity ζ , and charge conductivity κ , appear in the next-to-leading order constitutive relations. Let L_i denote a set

⁴ As is discussed in the subsequent chapter, these conjugate variables are indeed related to local temperature, fluid-four velocity, and local chemical potential.

of transport coefficients: $L_i \equiv \{\eta, \zeta, \kappa\}$. Then, we have to specify the values of transport coefficients

$$L_i = L_i(e, n) = L_i(\beta, \nu).$$
 (1.9)

The functional forms of Eqs. (1.8) and (1.9) depend on the microscopic details of systems dictated e.g. by the coupling constants of quantum fields.

1.1.3 Conventional derivations of hydrodynamics

Phenomenological derivation of hydrodynamics

Here we briefly review a phenomenological way to derive hydrodynamic equations based on local thermodynamics [12]. We first put an assumption that equilibrium thermodynamics is satisfied in the frame moving with the fluid velocity v, which is called the local rest frame. Then, considering the physical meaning of a each component of the energy-momentum tensor and charge current, we can write down their expressions in the local rest frame as

$$T_{\rm LRF}^{\mu\nu}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} e(x) & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & p(x) & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & p(x) & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & p(x) \end{pmatrix}, \quad J_{\rm LRF}^{\mu}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} n(x)\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{1.10}$$

where e(x), p(x), and n(x) denote the energy density, pressure, and charge density of the fluid, respectively. By the use of the Lorentz transformation, we obtain the zeroth-order constitutive relation

$$T^{\mu\nu}_{(0)} = (e+p)u^{\mu}u^{\nu} + pg^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (1.11)$$

$$J^{\mu}_{(0)} = n u^{\mu}, \tag{1.12}$$

where the four-fluid velocity $u^{\mu} = \gamma(x)(1, \boldsymbol{v}(x))$ with the Lorentz contraction factor $\gamma(x) \equiv 1/\sqrt{1-\boldsymbol{v}^2(x)}$. The conservation laws and the above constitutive relations result in the Euler equation for a perfect fluid.

Since we assume that local fluid variables such as e(x), p(x), n(x) obey thermodynamics, we have first law of thermodynamics:

$$e + p = sT + \mu n, \tag{1.13}$$

$$de = Tds + \mu dn, \tag{1.14}$$

where we introduced the entropy density s(x), local temperature T(x), and local chemical potential $\mu(x)$ of the fluid. By using the equation of motion for the zeroth-order hydrodynamics: $\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu}_{(0)} = 0$, $\nabla_{\mu}J^{\mu}_{(0)} = 0$, together with the first law of thermodynamics, we obtain

$$\nabla_{\mu}s^{\mu}_{(0)} = 0, \quad \text{with} \quad s^{\mu}_{(0)} = su^{\mu},$$
(1.15)

where s(x) is the entropy density of the fluid defined in Eq. (1.13). Evidently we have the conserved entropy current $s_{(0)}^{\mu}$ in the zeroth-order hydrodynamics. This is because the perfect fluid does not contain the effect of dissipation like the viscosity. The spacetime evolution of the perfect fluid is regarded as adiabatic procedures.

We, then, proceed to the first-order hydrodynamics. In order to consider the effect of dissipation, we express the constitutive relation as

$$T_{(1)}^{\mu\nu} = (e+p)u^{\mu}u^{\nu} + pg^{\mu\nu} + \delta T_{(1)}^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (1.16)$$

$$J^{\mu}_{(1)} = nu^{\mu} + \delta J^{\mu}_{(1)}, \tag{1.17}$$

where $\delta T^{\mu\nu}_{(1)}$ and $\delta J^{\mu}_{(1)}$ are dissipative derivative corrections in the first-order constitutive relations, which are orthogonal to u^{μ} : $\delta T^{\mu\nu}_{(1)}u_{\nu} = \delta J^{\mu}_{(1)}u_{\mu} = 0$. Then, our problem is to write down the form of the $\delta T^{\mu\nu}_{(1)}$ and $\delta J^{\mu}_{(1)}$. To obtain them, we introduce a crucial assumption that there exists the entropy current $s^{\mu}_{(1)}$ such that

$$\nabla_{\mu} s^{\mu}_{(1)} \ge 0,$$
(1.18)

is satisfied. Here the entropy current is also modified and written as

$$s_{(1)}^{\mu} = su^{\mu} + \delta s_{(1)}^{\mu}, \tag{1.19}$$

By the use of the modified constitutive relations (1.16) and (1.17) and the modified entropy current (1.19), together with the first law of thermodynamics (1.13) and (1.14), we obtain

$$\nabla_{\mu} \left(s u^{\mu} - \nu \delta J^{\mu} \right) = -\delta J^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} \nu - \beta \delta T^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\mu} u_{\nu}, \qquad (1.20)$$

where we introduced $\beta \equiv 1/T$, and $\nu \equiv \beta \mu$. This equation enables us to construct $\delta T^{\mu\nu}_{(1)}$, $\delta J^{\mu}_{(1)}$, and $\delta s^{\mu}_{(1)}$ satisfying the local version of the thermodynamic second law as

$$\delta T^{\mu\nu}_{(1)} = -2\eta \nabla^{\langle \mu} u^{\nu \rangle} - \zeta (\nabla_{\alpha} u^{\alpha}) \Delta^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (1.21)$$

$$\delta J^{\mu}_{(1)} = -\frac{\kappa}{\beta} \nabla^{\mu}_{\perp} \nu, \qquad (1.22)$$

$$\delta s^{\mu}_{(1)} = \kappa \mu \nabla^{\mu}_{\perp} \nu, \qquad (1.23)$$

with positive η , ζ , and κ , which are transport coefficients and called the shear viscosity, bulk viscosity, and charge conductivity, respectively. Here we defined $\Delta^{\mu\nu} \equiv g^{\mu\nu} + u^{\mu}u^{\nu}$, which satisfies $\Delta^{\mu\nu}u_{\nu} = 0$, and $\nabla^{\mu}_{\perp} \equiv \Delta^{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\nu}$. We also introduced the angle bracket as the projection to traceless part given by

$$\nabla^{\langle \mu} u^{\nu \rangle} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \Delta^{\mu \alpha} \Delta^{\nu \beta} (\nabla_{\alpha} u_{\beta} + \nabla_{\beta} u_{\alpha}) - \frac{1}{d-1} \Delta^{\mu \nu} \Delta^{\alpha \beta} \nabla_{\alpha} u_{\beta}, \qquad (1.24)$$

with spacetime dimension d. Substituting these constitutive relations in Eq. (1.20), we obtain $\nabla_{\mu}s^{\mu}_{(1)} \geq 0$. Therefore, we obtain the first-order constitutive relations given by

$$T_{(1)}^{\mu\nu} = (e+p)u^{\mu}u^{\nu} + pg^{\mu\nu} - 2\eta\nabla^{\langle\mu}u^{\nu\rangle} - \zeta(\nabla_{\alpha}u^{\alpha})\Delta^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (1.25)$$

$$J^{\mu}_{(1)} = nu^{\mu} - \frac{\kappa}{\beta} \nabla^{\mu}_{\perp} \nu.$$
(1.26)

These constitutive relations result in the relativistic version of the Navier-Stokes equation. This phenomenological derivation is quite simple and extendable in the presence of the quantum anomalies [59]. However, it should be emphasized that we do not have the microscopic formulas to determine the transport coefficients, and, thus, they are dealt with phenomenological parameters to be determined from experiments. This is because we adopted the *ad hoc* assumption on the phenomenological use of the local second law of thermodynamics, and stayed away statistical mechanics.

Derivation from the Boltzmann equation

Another way to construct the constitutive relations is to use the kinetic theory, or the relativistic Boltzmann equation [60, 61, 62, 63, 64], which is derived from weak-coupling quantum field theories,

$$p^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}f(x,p) = C[f](x,p), \qquad (1.27)$$

where f(x, p) denotes the one particle distribution function for the momentum p^{μ} at the position x^{μ} . Here the right-hand side represents the collision term given by

$$C[f](x,p) = \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{p}_1}{(2\pi)^3 E_{p_1}} \frac{d^3 \mathbf{p}_2}{(2\pi)^3 E_{p_2}} \frac{d^3 \mathbf{p}_3}{(2\pi)^3 E_{p_3}} \mathcal{W}(p,p_1;p_2,p_3) \times \left[(1+af_p)(1+af_{p_1})f_{p_2}f_{p_3} - f_p f_{p_1}(1+af_{p_2})(1+af_{p_3}) \right],$$
(1.28)

where $\mathcal{W}(p, p_1, ; p_2, p_3)$ is the transition matrix, and f_p is the short-hand notation of f(x, p): $f_p = f(x, p)$. The transition matrix usually satisfies the symmetry properties: $\mathcal{W}(p, p_1; p_2, p_3) = \mathcal{W}(p_2, p_3; p, p_1) = \mathcal{W}(p_1, p; p_3, p_2) = \mathcal{W}(p_3, p_2; p_1, p)$. Here *a* represents statistics of particles: a = +1 for bosons, a = -1 for fermions, and a = 0 for classical particles. With the help of the one particle distribution function, we can define the energy-momentum tensor $T^{\mu\nu}(x)$ and charge current $J^{\mu}(x)$ as

$$T^{\mu\nu}(x) = \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^3 E_p} p^{\mu} p^{\nu} f(x, p), \qquad (1.29)$$

$$J^{\mu}(x) = \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^3 E_p} p^{\mu} f(x, p).$$
(1.30)

Using a symmetric properties of the transition matrix and the Boltzmann equation, we can show the conservation laws:

$$\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu}(x) = \int \frac{d^{3}\boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}E_{p}}p^{\mu}p^{\nu}\partial_{\mu}f(x,p) = \int \frac{d^{3}\boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}E_{p}}p^{\nu}C[f]$$

= 0, (1.31)

$$\partial_{\mu}J^{\mu}(x) = \int \frac{d^{3}\boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}E_{p}}p^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}f(x,p) = \int \frac{d^{3}\boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}E_{p}}C[f]$$

= 0. (1.32)

Then, our problem is to express these conserved charge currents in terms of thermodynamic variables. In order to do so, we perform the tensor decomposition

$$T^{\mu\nu} = eU^{\mu}U^{\nu} + P\Delta^{\mu\nu} + q^{\mu}U^{\nu} + q^{\nu}U^{\mu} + \pi^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (1.33)$$

$$J^{\mu} = nU^{\mu} + \nu^{\mu}, \tag{1.34}$$

where U^{μ} is arbitrary vector at this stage, $\Delta^{\mu\nu} = g^{\mu\nu} + U^{\mu}U^{\nu}$ the projection operator orthogonal to U^{μ} , q^{μ} and ν^{μ} vectors orthogonal to U^{μ} , and $\pi^{\mu\nu}$ the symmetric traceless part of the energymomentum tensor also orthogonal to U^{μ} .

Let us consider systems slightly deviating from thermal equilibrium and derive the constitutive relations. In that case, we may expand the distribution function around local thermal equilibrium

$$f(x,p) = f^{(0)}(x,p) + \delta f(x,p), \qquad (1.35)$$

where $f^{(0)}(x, p)$ denotes the local equilibrium distribution function given by

$$f^{(0)}(x,p) = \frac{1}{e^{-\beta^{\mu}(x)p_{\mu} + \nu(x)} - a},$$
(1.36)

where $\beta^{\mu} \equiv \beta u^{\mu}$, and $\nu = \beta \mu$ with local inverse temperature β , fluid-four velocity u^{μ} , and local chemical potential μ . Here, to decompose the thermal equilibrium part $f^{(0)}(x,p)$ and the deviation $\delta f(x,p)$, we impose the so-called matching condition

$$\delta T^{\mu\nu}u_{\nu} = 0, \quad \text{with} \quad \delta T^{\mu\nu}(x) \equiv \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3 E_p} p^{\mu} p^{\nu} \delta f(x,p), \tag{1.37}$$

$$\delta J^{\mu}u_{\nu} = 0, \quad \text{with} \quad \delta J^{\mu}(x) \equiv \int \frac{d^3p}{(2\pi)^3 E_p} p^{\mu} \delta f(x,p). \tag{1.38}$$

This condition enables us to apply local thermodynamics in the fluid-comoving frame, and to relate the conserved charge densities to the local thermodynamic parameters such as $\beta^{\mu}(x)$ and $\nu(x)$. After taking this matching condition, we choose $U^{\mu}(x) = u^{\mu}(x)$, and obtain

$$T^{\mu\nu} = eu^{\mu}u^{\nu} + (p+\Pi)\Delta^{\mu\nu} + \pi^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (1.39)$$

$$J^{\mu} = nu^{\mu} + \nu^{\mu}, \tag{1.40}$$

where we write $P = p + \Pi$ with the thermodynamic pressure p determined from $f_p^{(0)}$, and the deviation as Π . We note that δf_p in Eq. (1.35) represents the deviation from local thermal equilibrium, and gives the dissipative corrections. Our problem is now to write down Π , $\pi^{\mu\nu}$ and ν^{μ} in terms of hydrodynamic variables like u^{μ} , β , μ , and their derivatives. This program can be successfully accomplished by treating δf_p in a perturbative way in various methods such as the Chapman-Enskog method [65, 66, 67], the relaxation time approximation method [68, 32], the Grad's fourteen moment method [69, 70, 22, 23, 27, 29, 31], and the renormalization group method [71, 24, 25, 72, 73]. Here we briefly show the derivation based on the Chapman-Enskog method [60, 65, 66, 67]. First of all, decomposing the derivative as

$$\partial_{\mu} = \delta^{\nu}_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} = -u_{\mu} D + \partial_{\perp \mu}, \quad \text{with} \quad D \equiv u^{\mu} \partial_{\mu}, \quad \partial_{\perp \mu} \equiv \Delta^{\mu \nu} \partial_{\nu}, \tag{1.41}$$

we rewrite the Boltzmann equation as

$$-Df_p = \frac{1}{p \cdot u} C[f]_p - \epsilon \frac{1}{p \cdot u} p^{\mu} \partial_{\perp \mu} f_p, \qquad (1.42)$$

where ϵ is a bookkeeping parameter representing the scale separation corresponding to the Knudsen number: $\epsilon = \ell_{\text{micro}}/\ell_{\text{macro}}$. Then, we expand the distribution function as

$$f_p = f_p^{(0)} + \epsilon f_p^{(1)} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad (1.43)$$

$$Df_p = \epsilon (Df_p)^{(1)} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2), \qquad (1.44)$$

where we used the fact that the proper time derivative of the one particle distribution function vanishes in the zeroth-order: $(Df_p)^{(0)} = 0$. After linearizing the Boltzmann equation on top of $f_p^{(0)}$, the first-order equation with respect to ϵ results in

$$-(p \cdot u)(Df_p)^{(1)} + p^{\mu}\partial_{\perp\mu}f_p^{(0)} = f_p^{(0)}(1 + af_p^{(0)})L[\phi^{(1)}]_p, \qquad (1.45)$$

where we defined $f_p^{(1)} \equiv f_p^{(0)}(1 + af_p^{(0)})\phi_p^{(1)}$, and introduced the linearized collision operator $L[\phi^{(1)}]$ as

$$L[\phi](x,p) = -\frac{1}{2(1+af_p^{(0)})} \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{p}_1}{(2\pi)^3 E_{p_1}} \frac{d^3 \mathbf{p}_2}{(2\pi)^3 E_{p_2}} \frac{d^3 \mathbf{p}_3}{(2\pi)^3 E_{p_3}} \mathcal{W}(p,p_1;p_2,p_3) \times f_{p_1}^{(0)}(1+af_{p_2}^{(0)})(1+af_{p_3}^{(0)}) \left[\phi_p + \phi_{p_1} - \phi_{p_2} - \phi_{p_3}\right].$$
(1.46)

The first term in Eq. (1.45) can be calculated as

$$(Df_p)^{(1)} = \frac{\partial f_p^{(0)}}{\partial \beta} D\beta + \frac{\partial f_p^{(0)}}{\partial \nu} D\nu + \frac{\partial f_p^{(0)}}{\partial u^{\mu}} Du^{\mu}.$$
 (1.47)

Then, with the help of the zeroth-order hydrodynamic equation, we have

$$D\beta = \beta \left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial e}\right)_n \theta, \tag{1.48}$$

$$D\nu = -\beta \left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial n}\right)_e \theta,\tag{1.49}$$

$$Du^{\mu} = T\partial_{\perp\mu}\beta - \frac{nT}{h}\partial_{\perp\mu}\nu, \qquad (1.50)$$

where $\theta \equiv \partial_{\mu} u^{\mu}$, and $h \equiv e + p$ denotes the enthalpy density. Therefore, we obtain the first-order linearized Boltzmann equation

$$-\beta\theta\Pi_p - \beta\sigma_{\mu\nu}\pi_p^{\mu\nu} - (\partial_{\perp\mu}\nu)J_p^{\mu} = L[\phi^{(1)}]_p, \qquad (1.51)$$

where we defined the projected tensor decomposition of the energy-momentum and current as

$$\Pi_p \equiv p^{\mu} p^{\nu} \left(\frac{\Delta_{\mu\nu}}{d-1} - p_e u_{\mu} u_{\nu} \right) - p \cdot u p_n \tag{1.52}$$

$$\pi_p^{\mu\nu} \equiv p^{\langle\mu} p^{\nu\rangle},\tag{1.53}$$

$$J_p^{\mu} \equiv p_{\perp}^{\mu} \left(1 - p \cdot u \frac{n}{h} \right). \tag{1.54}$$

Here we introduced $p_e \equiv (\partial p/\partial e)_n$, $p_n \equiv (\partial p/\partial n)_e$. From Eq. (1.51), we can express $\phi_p^{(1)}$ as

$$\phi_p^{(1)} = -\beta \theta L^{-1}[\Pi_p] - \beta \sigma_{\mu\nu} L^{-1}[\pi_p^{\mu\nu}] - \partial_{\perp\mu} \nu L^{-1}[J_p^{\mu}].$$
(1.55)

This expression allows us to write down the constitutive relations by using $f_p^{(1)} = f_p^{(0)}(1 + af_p^{(0)})\phi_p^{(1)}$, and they are again given by the same expressions as Eqs. (1.25) and (1.26). In addition to the constitutive relations, we have the expressions for the transport coefficients as

$$\zeta = \beta \langle \Pi_p, L^{-1}[\Pi_p] \rangle, \tag{1.56}$$

$$\eta = \frac{\beta}{(d+1)(d-2)} \langle \pi_p^{\mu\nu}, L^{-1}[\pi_p^{\rho\sigma}] \rangle \Delta_{\mu\rho} \Delta_{\nu\sigma}, \qquad (1.57)$$

$$\kappa = \frac{\beta}{d-1} \langle J_p^{\mu}, L^{-1}[J_p^{\nu}] \rangle \Delta_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (1.58)$$

where we defined the inner product as

$$\langle A_p, B_p \rangle \equiv \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^3 E_p} f_p^{(0)} (1 + a f_p^{(0)}) A_p B_p.$$
 (1.59)

Therefore, if we specify the dynamics of the system, we can, in principle, calculate the transport coefficient with the help of these equations, which give the kinetic expression of the Green-Kubo formulas [74, 75, 76]. This gives one derivation of the hydrodynamic equation on the basis of the Boltzmann equation. Nevertheless, it is worth while to point out a weakness of the derivation based on the kinetic theory. While the Boltzmann equation gives us a strong tool to derive the constitutive relations, and also actual values of transport coefficients through the Green-Kubo formulas, it is only valid in the weak-coupling regime. On the other hand, hydrodynamics still works in the strong-coupling regime, and, thus, the derivation should not be restricted to the kinetic theory. Moreover, as we will introduce in the next section, the anomaly-induced transport phenomena is not described in a straightforward manner in the conventional kinetic theory has been recently developed, the form of the collision term has been still elusive [77, 78, 79, 80, 81, 82, 83, 84]. Therefore, there is a compelling need for the derivation of hydrodynamics without relying on the kinetic theory.

Derivation using hydrostatic partition function method

A novel method has recently been developed in which the equilibrium-generating functional for nondissipative hydrodynamics is constructed only by imposing the symmetry and scaling properties of systems [41, 42]. In these works, relativistic quantum field theories on a general manifold with a timelike killing vector, whose line element ds^2 is parametrized by the Kaluza-Klein form, is considered under the presence of a time independent background U(1) gauge connection \mathcal{A} :

$$ds^{2} = -e^{2\sigma(\boldsymbol{x})} \left(dt + a_{i}(\boldsymbol{x}) dx^{2} \right)^{2} + g_{ij}(\boldsymbol{x}) dx^{i} dx^{j}, \qquad (1.60)$$

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_0(\boldsymbol{x})dx^0 + \mathcal{A}_i(\boldsymbol{x})dx^i, \qquad (1.61)$$

where σ , a_i , g_{ij} are smooth functions only dependent on spatial coordinate \boldsymbol{x} . Only based on general symmetry and scaling grounds, the possible form of the generating functional reads

$$\log Z = \int d^{d-1}x \sqrt{g} \frac{e^{\sigma}}{T_0} p(T_0 e^{-\sigma}, e^{-\sigma} A_0) + (\cdots), \qquad (1.62)$$

where Z denotes the partition function of the system, T_0 the temperature at global thermal equilibrium, and (\cdots) gives higher-order terms with spatial derivatives. They call Eq. (1.62) the hydrostatic partition function. We obtain the energy-momentum tensor (the charge current) by taking the variation of log Z with respect to the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ (the background gauge field \mathcal{A}_{μ}):

$$T_{\mu\nu} = -2T_0 \frac{\delta}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} \log Z, \qquad (1.63)$$

$$J^{\mu} = T_0 \frac{\delta}{\delta \mathcal{A}_{\mu}} \log Z. \tag{1.64}$$

Then, matching the functional differentiation (1.63) and (1.64) with the known form of the constitutive relations, they read off the thermodynamic meanings of the parameters such as $T_0e^{-\sigma}$ and $e^{-\sigma}A_0$. As a result, they reproduce the constitutive relation, which is consistent with the thermodynamic structure. Furthermore, in the presence of the quantum anomaly, this method enables us to derive the anomaly-induced transport. In fact, the first-order derivative correction to log Z, which is consistent with the quantum anomaly, leads to the anomaly-induced transport [41, 85, 86, 87, 88]. Nevertheless, we note that what is assumed in this treatment is rather obscure, similar to the phenomenological approach discussed in the first part of this section. As a consequence of the phenomenological aspect of this derivation, we do not have the Green-Kubo formula for the transport coefficients. In addition, the physical meanings of the background data such as σ , and a_i are not determined without matching the known hydrodynamic equations. Therefore, strictly speaking, this does not provide the derivation of hydrodynamics from underlying microscopic theories. To unravel the reason why this method works is one of the main topics of this thesis, particularly in Chapter 2.

1.2 Anomaly-induced transport phenomena

If the system possesses a certain symmetry, the Noether's theorem tells us an existence of a corresponding conserved quantity [89]. To be exact, this is, however, true only in the classical

sense. It is known that some conservation laws fail as a consequence of the quantum correction even if there exist corresponding global symmetries. This phenomenon is known as the quantum anomaly [90, 91, 92]. The vital point concerning the anomaly is that it is associated with the topological properties of gauge theories, and, therefore, exact. When we construct a low-energy effective field theory, we have to properly take into account the quantum anomaly: A well-known example is the Wess-Zumino-Witten term in chiral perturbation theory [93, 94]. It is recently pointed out that the quantum anomaly also affects the macroscopic transport properties in the hydrodynamic regime. In this section, after a short introduction of the quantum anomaly in Sec. 1.2.1, we explain the anomaly-induced transport phenomena such as the chiral magnetic effect [44, 95, 96, 97], the chiral separation effect [98, 99], and the chiral vortical effect [43, 100, 101, 59] in Sec. 1.2.2. In Sec. 1.2.3, we also present some candidate systems where the anomaly-induced transport would take place.

1.2.1 Quantum anomaly

Breakdown of axial current conservation law

Let us consider the massless Dirac fermion in d = 4 spacetime dimension, whose Lagrangian reads

$$\mathcal{L} = -\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}D_{\mu}\psi, \quad \text{with} \quad D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - iA_{\mu}, \tag{1.65}$$

where γ^{μ} denote gamma matrices, and $\bar{\psi} \equiv i\psi^{\dagger}\gamma^{0}$.

This Lagrangian remains unchanged under the global $U(1)_V$ transformation

$$\psi \to e^{i\alpha}\psi, \quad \bar{\psi} \to \bar{\psi}e^{-i\alpha},$$
(1.66)

where α is the arbitrary constant. The $U(1)_V$ symmetry of the Lagrangian (1.65) brings about the conservation law of the vector current

$$\partial_{\mu}J^{\mu} = 0, \quad \text{with} \quad J^{\mu} = i\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\psi.$$
 (1.67)

Although this is the classical argument, this remains true even if we consider quantum correnctions.

In addition to the $U(1)_V$ symmetry, the Lagrangian (1.65) has another symmetry under the global $U(1)_A$ transformation

$$\psi \to e^{i\gamma_5 \alpha} \psi, \quad \bar{\psi} \to \bar{\psi} e^{i\gamma_5 \alpha},$$
 (1.68)

where we introduced the chiral matrix $\gamma_5 \equiv -i\gamma^0\gamma^1\gamma^2\gamma^3$ defined in the case of d = 4. Then, expected conservation law associated with the $U(1)_A$ symmetry is

$$\partial_{\mu}J_{5}^{\mu} = 0 \quad \text{with} \quad J_{5}^{\mu} = i\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\gamma_{5}\psi. \tag{1.69}$$



Figure 1.1: Feynman diagrams which contributes to a divergence of the axial current.

However, we find that this is not true if we consider the quantum correction shown in Fig. 1.1. The proper consideration shows that, instead of Eq. (1.67), we obtain

$$\partial_{\mu}\hat{J}^{\mu}_{5} = C_{\rm ano}\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}F_{\mu\nu}F_{\rho\sigma},\qquad(1.70)$$

where $F_{\mu\nu}$ is the field strength tensor of the electromagnetic fields. Therefore, we have the breakdown of the conservation law of the axial current. This is the quantum anomaly [90, 91, 92].

1.2.2 Anomaly-induced transport

Chiral Magnetic Effect and Chiral Separation Effect

When systems composed of charged particles are put under the electric field E, we have the electric current along the electric field

$$\boldsymbol{J}_V = \sigma \boldsymbol{E},\tag{1.71}$$

where σ denotes the electric conductivity. This is nothing but Ohm's law. An actual value of the electric conductivity is obtained by the use of the Green-Kubo formula, or the Boltzmann equation, and depends on the coupling strength. For example, based on a perturbative calculation, the electric conductivity at high temperature in U(1) gauge theories is evaluated as [102, 103]

$$\sigma = \frac{2.50}{\alpha \log(1.46/\alpha)}T,\tag{1.72}$$

where α is the fine structure constant.

Then, let us consider systems under the magnetic field B. We usually do not have the electric current along magnetic fields such as

$$\boldsymbol{J}_V = \sigma_B \boldsymbol{B},\tag{1.73}$$

where we defined the magnetic conductivity σ_B . This is easily understood with the help of parity symmetry. Under the parity transformation, the electric current changes the sign: $J_V \rightarrow -J_V$. On the other hand, the magnetic field is pseudo-vector, and it is unchanged, $B \rightarrow B$. Therefore, for Eq. (1.73) to hold with a non-zero current, the magnetic conductivity has to behave like pseudo-scalar, $\sigma_B \rightarrow -\sigma_B$ under the parity transformation. However, if the system considered has parity symmetry, we do not have pseudo-scalar quantities, and the magnetic conductivity vanishes: $\sigma_B = 0$.

The situation is drastically changed if the system does not have parity invariance. For instance, let us consider the system composed of the massless fermion with chirality imbalance between left- and right-handed fermions. Then, we can introduce the chiral chemical potential μ_5 which represents the chemical potential for the axial charge $\mu_5 \equiv (\mu_R - \mu_L)/2$, where $\mu_R \ (\mu_L)$ denotes the chemical potential for right- (left-) handed fermions. Since the chiral chemical potential is a pseudo-scalar quantity, we can have a current along the magnetic field

$$\boldsymbol{J}_V = \frac{\mu_5}{2\pi^2} \boldsymbol{B}.$$
 (1.74)

This is the chiral magnetic effect (see Fig. 1.2 (a)) [44, 95, 96, 97]. Comparison between Eq. (1.73) and Eq. (1.74) allows us to find that the chiral magnetic conductivity is given by

$$\sigma_B = \frac{\mu_5}{2\pi^2}.\tag{1.75}$$

Here an important point is that, unlike Eq. (1.72), the chiral magnetic conductivity σ_B does not depend on the coupling constant α , and it is completely determined by the thermodynamic quantity μ_5 . This is the important difference between the usual conducting current and the chiral magnetic current. This property arises from the fact that the chiral magnetic effect belongs to a family of the anomaly-induced transport.

We also have the corresponding current for the axial current J_A , the so-called chiral separation effect [98, 99], although we do not have the conducting current in this sector. Let us consider a similar situation with the vector charge chemical potential μ . In this case, the chiral separation effect is given by

$$\boldsymbol{J}_A = \frac{\mu}{2\pi^2} \boldsymbol{B}.$$
 (1.76)

The chiral separation conductivity is also determined only by the chemical potential, and not dependent on the coupling constant. This is because the chiral separation effect is also one example of the anomaly-induced transport.

Chiral Vortical Effect

There is another example of the anomaly-induced transport, the so-called chiral vortical effect. After a long time had passed since the first encounter in Refs. [43], the chiral vortical effect in hydrodynamics has been first recognized based on the fluid/gravity correspondence [100, 101], and has later been confirmed based on the phenomenological derivation of hydrodynamics [59], and also other ways such as the linear response theory [104, 105, 106], and the hydrostatic partition function method [41, 85, 86, 87, 88]. The chiral vortical effect is a phenomenon analogous to the chiral magnetic effect obtained by replacing the magnetic field \boldsymbol{B} by the fluid



Figure 1.2: Some example of the anomaly-induced transport phenomena. (a) Chiral magnetic effect (b) Chiral vortical effect.

vorticity $\boldsymbol{\omega} \equiv \nabla \times \boldsymbol{v}$ with a fluid velocity \boldsymbol{v} . The chiral vortical effects for the massless QED are given by

$$\boldsymbol{J}_{V} = \frac{\mu\mu_{5}}{2\pi^{2}}\boldsymbol{\omega}, \quad \boldsymbol{J}_{A} = \left(\frac{\mu^{2} + \mu_{5}^{2}}{4\pi^{2}} + \frac{T^{2}}{12}\right)\boldsymbol{\omega}, \qquad (1.77)$$

where T denotes temperature of the system (see Fig. 1.2 (b)). There is, of course, a similarity that the chiral vortical conductivity does not depend on the coupling constant, but also a difference that it depends on temperature. This suggests that we have different vortical currents, from different physical origins. In fact, some parts come from the chiral anomaly while others do not.

1.2.3 Possible realization in physical systems

Quark-Gluon Plasma in heavy-ion collisions

The quark-gluon plasma (QGP), which is composed of deconfined quarks and gluons, is considered to be a candidate where anomaly-induced transport phenomena take place. The QGP is experimentally created by colliding two heavy-ion nuclei at ultra-relativistic energies. Such experiments have been and are being performed at Relativistic Heavy Ion Collider (RHIC) in BNL, and Large Hadron Collider (LHC) in CERN since 2000.

Since two charged nuclei collide at very high energy, extremely strong magnetic fields, as large as 10^{14} T, are created in off-central collisions (see Fig. 1.3 (a)) [107, 108]. Therefore, the vector (axial) current may flow due to the chiral magnetic (separation) effect along the magnetic fields. At present, the evidence in the experiments has been elusive, and numerous works to assess the contributions from anomaly-induced transport are now underway [109, 110, 111, 112, 113, 114].

Weyl semimetal in condensed matter

It is recently pointed out that the anomaly-induced transport also takes place in a special kind of material, the so-called Weyl semimetal which has separated Weyl nodes [115, 116, 117,



Figure 1.3: Possible physical systems where the anomaly-induced transport take place.

118]. In the vicinity of the Weyl nodes, the dispersion relation of the quasi-patricles becomes approximately linear (see Fig. 1.3 (b)). Therefore, the effective Hamiltonian for these quasiparticles read $H = \pm v_F \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{k}$, where v_F denotes the Fermi velocity of quasi-particles, σ^i the Pauli matrices, and \boldsymbol{k} the momentum. This is nothing but the Hamiltonian for the Weyl fermions.

The experimental realization of the Weyl semimetal is now under intensive studies. Some experimental signature of the Weyl fermions and the chiral magnetic effect in materials such as TaAs, $ZrTe_5$ have recently been reported [119, 120, 121].

1.3 Outline

This thesis is organized as follows. Chapter 2, we review local thermodynamics and derive the path-integral formulation of the Massieu-Planck functional on a hypersurface. As a result, we show that a thermodynamic potential, or the Masseiu-Planck functional, is written in terms of quantum field theories in the emergent curved spacetime, whose structure is determined by thermodynamic parameters. This analysis gives a solid basis to derive the nondissipative part of the constitutive relations. In Chapter 3, we consider the time evolution of hydrodynamic variables, and derive the zeroth-order and first-order constitutive relations for normal relativistic fluids⁵. We show that the obtained constitutive relations results in the one for a perfect fluid and for the Navier-Stokes fluid, respectively. In Chapter 4, we consider the parity-violating system under the background electromagnetic fields which contains the quantum anomaly, and derive the anomaly-induced transport phenomena from quantum field theories. Based on the formulation presented in Chapter 2, we calculate the Masseiu-Planck functional" fields with the help

 $^{^{5}}$ By "normal" fluids, we mean fluids which do not have neither spontaneously broken symmetries nor the parity violation.

of the perturbative method. Chapter 5 is devoted to conclusions and outlook. The overall structure of this thesis is presented in Fig. 1.4.



Figure 1.4: Overall structure of this thesis.

1.4 Notation

In this thesis, we use the natural unit,

$$c = \hbar = k_B = 1. \tag{1.78}$$

We use Greek letters μ, ν, \cdots for the *d*-dimensional curved spacetime indices, which run over $0, 1, 2, \cdots, d-1$ with x^0 the time coordinate. Latin letters starting from i, j, \cdots run over the d-1-dimensional Euclidean space coordinate labels $1, 2, \cdots, d-1$, while we use ones starting from a, b, \cdots for the *d*-dimensional (local) Minkowski indices⁶.

We adopt the mostly positive convention for the metric,

$$\eta_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(-1, 1, 1, \cdots, 1), \tag{1.79}$$

and also adopt the convention that $\varepsilon^{\mu_0\mu_1\cdots\mu_{d-1}}$ is the totally antisymmetric tensor with

$$\varepsilon^{012\cdots d-1} = 1. \tag{1.80}$$

In Chapter 4, we introduce the imaginary-time notation

$$X^{\mu} \equiv (\tau, \boldsymbol{x}), \tag{1.81}$$

where τ denotes the imaginary time appeared in the thermal field theory, and x the spatial vector. Fourier transformation in the imaginary-time formalism is carried out as

$$\varphi(X) = T \sum_{\omega_n} \int \frac{d^{d-1}x}{(2\pi)^{d-1}} e^{-i\omega_n \tau + i\boldsymbol{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{x}} \varphi(\omega_n, \boldsymbol{p}) \equiv \sum_P e^{iP \cdot X} \varphi(P), \qquad (1.82)$$

where T is the global temperature of systems, ω_n the Matsubara frequency, and P^{μ} is introduced as

$$P^{\mu} \equiv (i\omega_n, \boldsymbol{p}). \tag{1.83}$$

⁶These (local) Minkowski indices are used to describe spinor fields in the curved spacetime in the subsequent chapters.

Chapter 2

Quantum field theory for locally thermalized system

In this chapter, extending the imaginary-time formalism of the finite temperature quantum field theory, we formulate quantum field theories for locally thermalized systems. In particular, we derive the path-integral formula for the Massieu-Planck functional $\Psi = \log Z$, where Z is a hydrodynamic partition function. In the same way as the finite temperature field theory for globally thermalized systems [122, 123, 124], the Massieu-Planck functional is written in terms of the path integral of a Euclidean action. It is, however, not the Euclidean action in flat spacetime but one in the emergent curved spacetime background, whose metric depends on thermodynamic parameters such as the local temperature and fluid four-velocity [1]. This arises from inhomogeneity of the local Gibbs distribution, which describes locally thermalized systems. Performing the explicit path-integral analysis for the Masseiu-Planck functional, we show that this emergent spacetime has useful symmetries such as Kaluza-Klein gauge symmetry, spatial diffeomorphism symmetry, and gauge symmetry for external fields. These symmetry properties are in accordance with those of recent studies, in which the Massieu-Planck functional is deduced on the basis of symmetry and scaling properties [41, 42]. Symmetry properties for the Massieu-Planck functional give a solid basis to derive relativistic hydrodynamic equations in the subsequent chapters.

This chapter is organized as follows: In Sec. 2.1, we briefly review the finite temperature field theory, especially the imaginary-time formalism, which enables us to calculate thermodynamic properties based on the quantum field theory. In Sec. 2.2, we focus on the local thermodynamics on a hypersurface, and introduce the local Gibbs distribution. We also show that the Masseiu-Planck functional is regarded as the generating functional for nondissipative hydrodynamics. In Sec. 2.3, we give the path-integral formulation of the Massieu-Planck functional on a hypersurface for representative examples of quantum fields. In Sec. 2.4, we show symmetry properties of the emergent thermal spacetime which the Massieu-Planck functional respects. Sec. 2.5 is devoted to a short summary of this chapter.

The formulation and whole works presented from Sec. 2.2 to Sec. 2.5 are based on our

original work in collaboration with Yoshimasa Hidaka (RIKEN). The part of them are also in collaboration with Yoshimasa Hidaka (RIKEN), Tomoya Hayata (RIKEN), and Toshifumi Noumi (Hong Kong University of Science and Technology) [1].

2.1 Review on finite temperature field theory

Basics of quantum statistical mechanics in thermal equilibrium

To study the system under thermal equilibrium, we start with an appropriate statistical ensemble [122, 123, 124]. Here we introduce the so-called Gibbs ensemble [45, 46], or grand canonical ensemble, which is described by the density operator

$$\hat{\rho}_G = \frac{e^{-\beta(\hat{H}-\mu\hat{N})}}{Z} \quad \text{with} \quad Z = \operatorname{Tr} e^{-\beta(\hat{H}-\mu\hat{N})},$$
(2.1)

where \hat{H} and \hat{N} denote Hamiltonian and a conserved total charge operator, respectively, while β and μ denote inverse temperature and chemical potential, respectively. The partition function Z gives the normalization factor of the probability distribution. This Gibbs ensemble is understood as the statistical ensemble with the maximum information entropy $S = -\operatorname{Tr} \hat{\rho} \log \hat{\rho}$ under the constraints that the average values of total energy and conserved charge are fixed: $\langle \hat{H} \rangle = E = \text{const.}$ and $\langle \hat{N} \rangle = N = \text{const.}$ The expectation value of operators is given by the thermal average over the Gibbs distribution $\hat{\rho}_G(\beta, \mu)$

$$\langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}(x) \rangle_G = \operatorname{Tr} \hat{\rho}_G \hat{\mathcal{O}}(x).$$
 (2.2)

Equilibrium statistical mechanics tells us that the thermodynamic potential constructed from the partition function Z contains enough information on thermal properties of systems such as the specific heat, charge susceptibility, and the equation of state. In fact, once we evaluate the following thermodynamic function¹

$$\Psi(\beta,\nu,V) = \log Z(\beta,\nu,V), \qquad (2.3)$$

where V denotes the volume of the system and $\nu \equiv \beta \mu$, we can obtain the expectation value of the total energy E, and conserved charge N by

$$E \equiv \langle \hat{H} \rangle_G = -\frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial \beta}, \quad N \equiv \langle \hat{N} \rangle_G = \frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial \nu}, \quad \beta p \equiv \frac{\partial \Psi}{\partial V}, \quad (2.4)$$

where p denotes the pressure. Then, the first law of thermodynamics is given by

$$d\Psi = -Ed\beta + Nd\nu + \beta pdV. \tag{2.5}$$

¹ According to Ref. [125], this thermodynamic function is called as the Kramers function. However, when we consider local thermal equilibrium in the subsequent chapters, we call the generalization of this thermodynamic function as the Masseiu-Planck functional.

Performing the Legendre transformation, we can also describe the thermodynamic relation in an alternative way. By defining the entropy,

$$S \equiv -\operatorname{Tr} \hat{\rho}_G \log \hat{\rho}_G = \beta E - \nu N + \Psi, \qquad (2.6)$$

we easily see the first law of thermodynamics,

$$dS = \beta dE - \nu dN + \beta p dV. \tag{2.7}$$

Furthermore, dividing all the extensive quantities by the volume V such as $\psi \equiv \Psi/V = pV$, $e \equiv E/V$, $n \equiv N/V$, and $s \equiv S/V = \beta e - \nu n + \psi$, we obtain the following expressions of the first law of thermodynamics

$$d\psi = -ed\beta + nd\nu, \quad ds = \beta de - \nu dn. \tag{2.8}$$

Imaginary-time formalism for finite temperature field theory

In order to study thermodynamic properties of systems based on the quantum field theory, we have well-established formalisms such as imaginary-time formalism [126, 127], real-time formalism [128, 129, 123], and thermo-field dynamics [130, 131]. These formalisms look very different from each other, but give equivalent results in thermal equilibrium. Here we focus on the imaginary-time formalism, which plays an important role in this thesis.

In the imaginary-time formalism, or the Matsubara formalism, we start from the Lagrangian in the Minkowski space $\mathcal{L}(\varphi, \partial_{\mu}\varphi)$, and construct the Hamiltonian $\hat{H}(\hat{\varphi}, \hat{\pi})$, and the conserved charge $\hat{N}(\hat{\varphi}, \hat{\pi})$, where φ and π denotes fields and its canonical momentum. Then, we express the partition function as

$$Z = \operatorname{Tr} e^{-\beta(\hat{H}-\mu\hat{N})} = \int d\varphi \langle \pm \varphi | e^{-\beta(\hat{H}-\mu\hat{N})} | \varphi \rangle, \qquad (2.9)$$

where \pm corresponds to the case of bosonic or fermionic fields: + for bosonic fields, and - for the fermionic fields. Recalling that the path-integral representation of the transition amplitude in real-time from a state $|\varphi_a\rangle$ at time $t = t_i$ to a state $|\varphi_b\rangle$ at time $t = t_f$ is given by

$$K_{ba}(t_f, t_i) = \langle \varphi_b | e^{-i\hat{H}(t_f - t_i)} | \varphi_a \rangle$$

= $\int_{\varphi(t_1) = \varphi_a}^{\varphi(t_f) = \varphi_b} \mathcal{D}\varphi \exp\left[i \int_{t_i}^{t_f} dt \int d^{d-1}x \,\mathcal{L}(\varphi, \partial_\mu \varphi)\right],$ (2.10)

Comparing Eq. (2.9) with Eq. (2.10), we immediately find that the partition function Z is obtained by taking a summation over state φ after the following replacement in Eq. (2.10): $\hat{H} \rightarrow \hat{H} - \mu \hat{N}, i(t_f - t_i) \rightarrow \beta$, and $\varphi_a = \pm \varphi_b \rightarrow \varphi$. As a result, we obtain the path-integral formula for the partition function,

$$Z = \int_{\varphi(\beta)=\pm\varphi(0)} \mathcal{D}\varphi \, e^{+S_E[\varphi]}, \quad \text{with} \quad S_E[\varphi] = \int_0^\beta d\tau \int d^{d-1}x \, \mathcal{L}_E(\varphi, \partial_\mu \varphi), \tag{2.11}$$



Figure 2.1: Schematic picture of the imaginary-time formalism.

where φ denotes a quantum field dependent on the imaginary-time, and $S_E[\varphi]$ is the Euclidean action which is obtained by replacing $it \to \tau$ in the original Lagrangian, and restricting the integration range for imaginary time as $\tau_i = 0$ to $\tau_f = \beta$. The boundary condition for the fields in the temporal direction depends on the spin of the fields: periodic, or $\varphi(\tau = 0) = \varphi(\tau = \beta)$ for bosonic fields, and anti-periodic or $\varphi(\tau \neq 0) = \beta(\varphi(\tau = \beta))$ for fermionic fields. Therefore, the partition function is obtained by the use of the quantum field theory in the Euclidean flat spacetime (see Fig. 2.1).

2.2 Local thermodynamics on a hypersurface

In this section we discuss the local thermodynamics on a spacelike hypersurface in order to formulate quantum field theories for locally thermalized systems in a covariant way. In Sec. 2.2.1, we summarize geometric aspects of the spatial hypersurface used in this thesis. In Sec. 2.2.2, we derive the conservation law for the system under the external field based on symmetry arguments. In Sec. 2.2.3, we introduce several concepts such as the local Gibbs distribution, and the Masseiu-Planck functional, which play a central role in our derivation of hydrodynamics.

2.2.1 Geometric preliminary

Decomposition of spacetime with hypersurface

As a technical preparation, we first summarize the geometric aspects of spacelike hypersurface in this subsection. Let us consider spatial slicings on a general curved spacetime with a metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ and parametrize the spacelike hypersurface by \bar{t} . We also introduce the spatial coordinates \bar{x} on the hypersurface. In other words, we define a spacelike hypersurface $\Sigma_{\bar{t}}$ by the $\bar{t}(x) =$ const. surface, and introduce spatial coordinates $\bar{x} = \bar{x}(x)$, where x is a general coordinate (see Fig. 2.2). To discuss dynamics on such a spacelike hypersurface, it is convenient to introduce a timelike unit vector n_{μ} as

$$n_{\mu}(x) = -N(x)\partial_{\mu}\bar{t}(x) \quad \text{with} \quad N(x) \equiv (-\partial^{\mu}\bar{t}(x)\partial_{\mu}\bar{t}(x))^{-1/2}.$$
(2.12)



Figure 2.2: Illustration of the Arnowitt-Deser-Misner (ADM) decomposition of the spacetime. $\Sigma_{\bar{t}}$ denotes a spacelike hypersurface parametrized by $\bar{t}(x) = \text{const.} n^{\mu}$ is a vector normal to the hypersurface. Introducing the lapse function N(x) and the shift vector $N^{\mu}(x)$, we decompose the time vector as $t^{\mu} \equiv \partial_{\bar{t}} x^{\mu} = N v^{\mu} = N n^{\mu} + N^{\mu}$. The figure is taken from [1].

Here we normalize n_{μ} as $n_{\mu}n^{\mu} = -1$ and n^{μ} is future oriented. N > 0 is the lapse function. We use the mostly plus convention of the metric, e.g., the Minkowski metric is $\eta_{\mu\nu} \equiv \text{diag}(-1, 1, 1, \dots, 1)$. The induced metric $\gamma_{\mu\nu}$ on the spacelike hypersurface is then

$$\gamma_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} + n_{\mu}n_{\nu} \,. \tag{2.13}$$

We also introduce the time vector $t^{\mu} \equiv \partial_{\bar{t}} x^{\mu}(\bar{t}, \bar{x})$, and the shift vector N^{μ} by the decomposition

$$t^{\mu} \equiv \partial_{\bar{t}} x^{\mu}(\bar{t}, \bar{\boldsymbol{x}}) = N n^{\mu} + N^{\mu} \quad \text{with} \quad n_{\mu} N^{\mu} = 0.$$

$$(2.14)$$

In the coordinate system $(\bar{t}, \bar{x}), n_{\mu}, \gamma_{\mu\nu}$, and N^{μ} are given explicitly by

$$n_{\bar{\mu}} = (-N, \mathbf{0}), \quad \gamma_{\bar{0}\bar{i}} = \gamma_{\bar{i}\bar{0}} = g_{\bar{0}\bar{i}} = g_{\bar{i}\bar{0}}, \quad \gamma_{\bar{i}\bar{j}} = g_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}, \quad N^{\bar{\mu}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ N^2 g^{\bar{0}\bar{i}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.15)

The metric $g_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}$ takes the form of the Arnowitt-Deser-Misner (ADM) metric,

$$g_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} = g_{\mu\nu} \frac{\partial x^{\mu}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\bar{\mu}}} \frac{\partial x^{\nu}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\bar{\nu}}} = \begin{pmatrix} -N^2 + N_{\bar{i}} N^{\bar{i}} & N_{\bar{j}} \\ N_{\bar{i}} & \gamma_{\bar{i}\bar{j}} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad g^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} = \begin{pmatrix} -N^{-2} & N^{-2} N^{\bar{j}} \\ N^{-2} N^{\bar{i}} & \gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}} - N^{-2} N^{\bar{i}} N^{\bar{j}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.16)

Here $N_{\bar{i}} = \gamma_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}N^{\bar{j}}$. $\gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}}$ is the inverse of $\gamma_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}$ and satisfies $\gamma_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}\gamma^{\bar{j}\bar{k}} = \delta_{\bar{i}}^{\bar{k}}$. The *d*-dimensional volume element is given by

$$\int d^d x \sqrt{-g} = \int d^d x N \sqrt{\gamma} \quad \text{with} \quad \gamma = \det \gamma_{i\bar{j}} , \qquad (2.17)$$

whereas the volume element on the spacelike hypersurface $\Sigma_{\bar{t}}$ is

$$\int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}} = \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \delta(\bar{t} - \bar{t}(x)) N^{-1}(x) = \int d^{d-1} \bar{x} \sqrt{\gamma} \,. \tag{2.18}$$

It is also convenient to introduce a vector v^{μ} proportional to Eq. (2.14) as

$$v^{\mu} = N^{-1} t^{\mu}$$
 with $v^{\mu} n_{\mu} = -1$. (2.19)

Using n_{μ} and v^{μ} , we define a spatial projection operator P^{μ}_{ν} as

$$P^{\mu}_{\nu} \equiv \delta^{\mu}_{\nu} + v^{\mu} n_{\nu} \quad \text{with} \quad P^{\mu}_{\nu} v^{\nu} = 0 \,, \quad P^{\mu}_{\nu} n_{\mu} = 0 \,, \quad P^{\mu}_{\rho} P^{\rho}_{\nu} = P^{\mu}_{\nu} \,. \tag{2.20}$$

Its concrete form in the coordinate system (\bar{t}, \bar{x}) is given by $P_{\bar{\nu}}^{\bar{\mu}} = \text{diag}(0, 1, 1, \dots, 1)$. We will use this projection operator in Sec. 3.2.1. We note that such an operator often appears in the context of Newton-Cartan geometry (see, e.g., Refs. [132, 133]²).

2.2.2 Matter field

Energy-momentum conservation law under external field

Following the geometric preliminary, we next consider the matter sector and set out a general relation between symmetries of system and conservation laws³. We consider matter actions in a general curved spacetime background $g_{\mu\nu}$ and an external gauge field A_{μ} , which is given by

$$S[\varphi; g_{\mu\nu}, A_{\mu}] = \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \mathcal{L}(\varphi_i(x), \partial_{\mu}\varphi_i(x); g_{\mu\nu}(x), A_{\mu}(x)), \qquad (2.21)$$

where φ_i denotes a set of matter fields under consideration, and spacetime integral runs within all region in which matter fields take place⁴. Here we consider general situations with charged matter fields, but if matter fields are not charged, we do not have the external gauge field.

Since the action remains invariant under a general coordinate transformation, we have corresponding conserved charge currents associated with diffeomorphism invariance. Let us consider the following infinitesimal coordinate transformation,

$$x^{\mu} \to x'^{\mu} = x^{\mu} - \xi^{\mu}(x),$$
 (2.22)

where $\xi^{\mu}(x)$ denotes an arbitrary infinitesimal vector. We assume that $\xi^{\mu}(x)$ vanishes on the boundary of the region of spacetime integration for the action. Under the infinitesimal cooridinate transformation (2.22), variations of the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$, the external gauge field A_{μ} , and matter fields φ_i which are nothing but Lie derivatives along ξ^{μ} , are given by

$$\delta_{\xi} g_{\mu\nu} \equiv g'_{\mu\nu}(x) - g_{\mu\nu}(x) = \nabla_{\mu} \xi_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu} \xi_{\mu}, \qquad (2.23)$$

$$\delta_{\xi}A_{\mu} \equiv A'_{\mu}(x) - A_{\mu}(x) = \xi^{\nu}\nabla_{\nu}A_{\mu} + A_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu}\xi^{\nu}, \qquad (2.24)$$

$$\delta_{\xi}\varphi_i \equiv \varphi_i'(x) - \varphi_i(x), \qquad (2.25)$$

²Our normalization $n_{\mu}v^{\mu} = -1$ has the opposite sign compared to that in Refs. [132, 133]

³ Here, we do not consider quantum anomalies, which brings about the breakdown of the conservation law in spite of the existence of classical symmetries. We will discuss the effects of quantum anomalies on hydrodynamics in Chap. 4.

 $^{^{4}}$ If the action consists of spinor fields, it is not written in terms of the metric. Therefore, we have to take a slightly different way. Due to the extensive preparation required for that case, it will be discussed when we consider the Dirac field in Sec. 2.3.3

where the explicit form of $\delta_{\xi}\varphi_i$ depends on the spin of fields such as $\delta_{\xi}\phi = \xi^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\phi$ for the scalar field, and $\delta_{\xi}B_{\mu} = \xi^{\nu}\nabla_{\nu}B_{\mu} + B_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu}\xi^{\mu}$ for the vector field. We, however, get rid of a change invoked by the variation of fields φ_i , with the help of the equation of motion for φ_i : $\delta S/\delta\varphi_i = 0$. Therefore, we obtain an expression for the variation of the action,

$$\delta S = \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{1}{2} T^{\mu\nu} \delta_{\xi} g_{\mu\nu} + J^{\mu} \delta_{\xi} A_{\mu} \right]$$

$$= \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{1}{2} T^{\mu\nu} (\nabla_{\mu} \xi_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu} \xi_{\mu}) + J^{\mu} (\xi^{\nu} \nabla_{\nu} A_{\mu} + A_{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \xi^{\nu}) \right]$$

$$= -\int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \left[(\nabla_{\mu} T^{\mu}_{\ \nu} - F_{\nu\lambda} J^{\lambda}) \xi^{\nu} \right] + \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \nabla_{\mu} [(T^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + J^{\mu} A_{\nu}) \xi^{\nu}] - \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \xi^{\nu} A_{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} J^{\mu}$$
(2.26)

where we defined the energy-momentum tensor $T^{\mu\nu}$ and charge current J^{μ} by taking variations of the action with respect to the metric and external gauge field

$$T^{\mu\nu}(x) \equiv \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g_{\mu\nu}(x)}, \quad J^{\mu}(x) \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta A_{\mu}(x)}.$$
 (2.27)

Here we also introduced a field strength tensor of the external gauge field $F_{\mu\nu}$ as

$$F_{\mu\nu} \equiv \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}. \tag{2.28}$$

The second term in the last line of Eq. (2.26) vanishes because it gives an integration on the boundary of the region, where ξ^{μ} does not take values. Furthermore, the third term also vanishes due to the conservation law for the charge current as will be explained below. Since the action is invariant ($\delta S = 0$) under the above transformation with an arbitrary $\xi^{\mu}(x)$, Eq. (2.26) results in the energy-momentum conservation law under the external field,

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = F_{\nu\lambda}J^{\lambda}.\tag{2.29}$$

We note that this energy-momentum tensor is symmetric under $\mu \leftrightarrow \nu$ by definition⁵. This energy-momentum conservation law is an essential piece for hydrodynamics.

Charge conservation law

As is already mentioned, if systems include charged matter fields, the charge current J^{μ} is also conserved. This stems from an internal symmetry of the action. Since this internal symmetry of the action is gauged, and is indeed written in terms of the covariant derivative, the action possesses gauge invariance under the U(1) gauge transformation

$$\delta_{\alpha}A_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu}\alpha, \qquad (2.30)$$

$$\delta_{\alpha}\varphi_i = ic_i\alpha\varphi_i,\tag{2.31}$$

⁵When we consider spinor fields, we use a vielbein $e_{\mu}^{\ a}$ instead of the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$. We note that symmetry under $\mu \leftrightarrow \nu$ is not obvious in such a case. This is discussed in Sec. 2.3.3. Also see the discussion on the Noether current in Appendix B.

where $\alpha(x)$ is an infinitesimal arbitrary function, which is assumed to be zero on the boundary, and $c_i = \pm 1$, 0 denotes the charge of matter fields φ_i . The action is invariant under this U(1)gauge transformation: $\delta S = 0$.

We would like to express the variation of the action. Here we do not have to consider the variation of the matter fields, because it does not contribute to the variation of the action by the use of the equation of motion: $\delta S/\delta \varphi_i = 0$. Therefore, the variation of action is given by

$$\delta S = \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} J^\mu \delta_\alpha A_\mu = \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} J^\mu \partial_\mu \alpha$$

= $-\int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \left[(\nabla_\mu J^\mu) \alpha \right] + \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \nabla_\mu (J^\mu \alpha).$ (2.32)

The second term in the second line of Eq. (2.118) is the boundary term, and again vanishes. Since this holds for arbitrary $\alpha(x)$, we obtain the resulting conservation law

$$\nabla_{\mu}J^{\mu} = 0, \qquad (2.33)$$

where J^{μ} is defined by the variation of the action with respect to the external gauge field in Eq. (2.27).

2.2.3 Local Gibbs distribution and Masseiu-Planck functional

Local Gibbs distribution

We next introduce a density operator representing a local thermal equilibrium state, and review the thermodynamics on the hypersurface [56, 134, 135, 57]. We start with global thermal equilibrium on the Minkowski space, in which the density operator for an arbitrary inertial frame of reference is given as the Gibbs distribution,

$$\hat{\rho}_{\rm eq}(\beta^{\mu},\nu) = e^{\beta^{\mu}\hat{P}_{\mu} + \nu\hat{N} - \Psi(\beta^{\mu},\nu)},\tag{2.34}$$

where parameters are $\beta^{\mu} = \beta u^{\mu}$ with the inverse temperature β , the fluid four-velocity of the system u^{μ} normalized by $u^{\mu}u_{\mu} = -1$, and $\nu = \beta\mu$ with the chemical potential μ . \hat{P}_{μ} and \hat{N} denote energy-momentum and number operators, respectively. The Massieu-Planck function $\Psi(\beta^{\mu},\nu) \equiv \log \operatorname{Tr} \exp[\beta^{\mu}\hat{P}_{\mu} + \nu\hat{N}]$ determines the normalization of the density operator $\hat{\rho}_{eq}$. At the rest frame of medium, $u^{\mu} = (1, \mathbf{0})$, and thus $\hat{\rho}_{eq}(\beta^{\mu}, \nu) = \exp\left[-\beta(\hat{H} - \mu\hat{N}) - \Psi(\beta, \nu)\right]$ are satisfied. The Gibbs distribution is regarded as a probability distribution obtained by maximizing the entropy $S \equiv -\operatorname{Tr} \hat{\rho} \log \hat{\rho}$ under the constraint that the average of total energy and charge are fixed: $\operatorname{Tr} \hat{\rho}\hat{H} = \operatorname{const.}$, and $\operatorname{Tr} \hat{\rho}\hat{N} = \operatorname{const.}$ In fact, we can interpret that β and ν as Lagrange multipliers, which fix the average energy and charge.

We then generalize the global Gibbs distribution (2.34) to a local form in a coordinateinvariant way. For this purpose, let us consider local thermodynamics on the spacelike hypersurface, $\Sigma_{\bar{t}}$, introduced in the previous subsection. For generality, we leave the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ of the spacetime as a general curved one. We can construct the density operator which reproduces local thermodynamics on a given hypersurface $\Sigma_{\bar{t}}$, by maximizing the entropy functional $S \equiv -\text{Tr} \hat{\rho} \log \hat{\rho}$ under the constraint that the conserved charge densities are fixed. Since we put the constraint on the average values of the local charge densities, the corresponding Lagrange multipliers are also local one. As a result, we introduce a local Gibbs distribution $\hat{\rho}_{LG}[\bar{t};\lambda]$ on the hypersurface as

$$\hat{\rho}_{\rm LG}[\bar{t};\lambda] \equiv \exp\left(-\hat{S}[\bar{t};\lambda]\right) \quad \text{with} \quad \hat{S}[\bar{t};\lambda] \equiv \hat{K}[\bar{t};\lambda] + \Psi[\bar{t};\lambda] \,, \tag{2.35}$$

where $\hat{K}[\bar{t};\lambda]$ is defined by

$$\hat{K}[\bar{t};\lambda] \equiv -\int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}\mu} \lambda^a(x) \hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\mu}_a(x) = -\int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}\nu} \left(\beta^{\mu}(x) \hat{T}^{\nu}_{\ \mu}(x) + \nu(x) \hat{J}^{\nu}(x)\right).$$
(2.36)

Here we introduced $d\Sigma_{\bar{t}\mu} = -d\Sigma_{\bar{t}}n_{\mu}$. λ^{a} and $\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}$ denote sets of parameters, $\lambda^{a}(x) \equiv \{\beta^{\mu}(x), \nu(x)\}$, and of current operators, $\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \equiv \{\hat{T}_{\nu}^{\mu}(x), \hat{J}^{\mu}(x)\}$, respectively. Just as in the global case (2.34), the Massieu-Planck functional $\Psi[\bar{t}; \lambda]$ determines the normalization of the density operator $\hat{\rho}_{\mathrm{LG}}$,

$$\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda] \equiv \log \operatorname{Tr} \exp(-\hat{K}[\bar{t};\lambda]).$$
(2.37)

For constant parameters and $n_{\mu} = (-1, \mathbf{0})$, the local Gibbs distribution reproduces the global one (2.34). We note that the definition here is coordinate invariant by construction.

The charge density operators on the hypersurface, $\hat{c}_{(x)} = {\{\hat{p}_{\mu}(x), \hat{n}'(x)\}}^{6}$, read $\hat{p}_{\mu}(x) \equiv -n_{\nu}(x)\hat{T}^{\nu}_{\ \mu}(x)$ and $\hat{n}'(x) \equiv -n_{\nu}(x)\hat{J}^{\nu}(x)$. Their expectation values, $\langle \hat{c}_{a}(x)\rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\text{LG}} \equiv \text{Tr} \left[\hat{\rho}_{\text{LG}}[\bar{t};\lambda]\hat{c}_{a}(x)\right]_{\bar{t}}^{2}$ are obtained from the variation of the Masseiu-Planck functional $\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda]$ with respect to the thermodynamic parameters $\lambda^{a}(x)$ on $\Sigma_{\bar{t}}$,

$$c_a(x) \equiv \langle \hat{c}_a(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} = \frac{\delta}{\delta \lambda^a(x)} \Psi[\bar{t}; \lambda].$$
(2.38)

Therefore, when the Masseiu-Planck functional is known as a functional of the thermodynamic parameters λ^a , it enables us to extract all the thermodynamic properties like the equation of state. This is the reason why the Masseiu-Planck functional belongs to the family of the thermodynamic potentials.

For later purposes, we introduce the Masseiu-Planck current ψ^{μ} such that

$$\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda] = \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}\mu}\psi^{\mu} = \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}}\psi, \qquad (2.39)$$

where $\psi = -n_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}$, which satisfies

$$d\psi = c_a d\lambda^a = p_\mu d\beta^\mu + n' d\nu, \qquad (2.40)$$

⁶ Note that Latin letters on thermodynamic parameters $c_a(x)$ and $\lambda^a(x)$ and current density $\hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\mu}_a(x)$ do not denote the (local) Lorentz indices to describe spinor fields.
up to the covariant total derivative that does not contribute to $\delta \Psi$. As will be seen in Sec. 3.3, in the leading order of derivative expansion, we can write ψ^{μ} as $\psi^{\mu} = \beta^{\mu} p(\beta, \nu)$ with the pressure p. We note that there is an ambiguity in the definition of ψ^{μ} because Ψ is invariant under the transformation $\psi^{\mu} \to \psi^{\mu} + g^{\mu}$ with a function g^{μ} satisfying $n_{\mu}g^{\mu} = 0$.

Performing the Legendre transformation, we can also describe the local thermodynamics by the use of the entropy functional. The entropy functional is defined by

$$S[\bar{t};c] \equiv -\operatorname{Tr} \hat{\rho}_{\mathrm{LG}}[\bar{t};\lambda] \log \hat{\rho}_{\mathrm{LG}}[\bar{t};\lambda]$$

$$= \langle \hat{S}[\bar{t};\lambda] \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}$$

$$= -\int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}} \lambda^{a} c_{a} + \Psi[\bar{t};\lambda], \qquad (2.41)$$

where the entropy operator $\hat{S}[\bar{t};\lambda]$ is defined in Eq. (2.35). The entropy is not a functional of thermodynamic parameters λ^a , but conserved densities c_a , which can be confirmed by conducting the variation of S with fixed \bar{t} ,

$$\delta S = \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}} \left(-\delta \lambda^a c_a - \lambda^a \delta c_a + \frac{\delta \Psi[\bar{t};\lambda]}{\delta \lambda^a} \delta \lambda^a \right)$$

= $-\int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}} \lambda^a \delta c_a.$ (2.42)

Therefore, the thermodynamic parameters are obtained as functional derivatives of entropy with respect to c_a

$$\lambda^{a}(x) = -\frac{\delta}{\delta c_{a}(x)} S[\bar{t}; c].$$
(2.43)

This formula again enables us to extract all the thermodynamic properties of the system once the dependence on the conserved charge densities of the entropy functional is acquired. As a result, the entropy functional is counted among the family of the thermodynamic potentials.

Here we introduce the entropy current operator as

$$\hat{s}^{\mu} \equiv -\lambda^{a} \hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\mu}_{a} + \psi^{\mu} = -\beta^{\nu} \hat{T}^{\mu}_{\ \nu} - \nu \hat{J}^{\mu} + \psi^{\mu}, \qquad (2.44)$$

the entropy reads

$$S = \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}\mu} s^{\mu} = \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}} s \,, \qquad (2.45)$$

where $s^{\mu} \equiv \langle \hat{s}^{\mu} \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\text{LG}}$, and $s = -n_{\mu}s^{\mu} = -\lambda^{a}c_{a} + \psi = -\beta^{\mu}p_{\mu} - \nu n' + \psi$. The entropy density s satisfies the thermodynamic relation, $ds = -\lambda^{a}dc_{a} = -\beta^{\mu}dp_{\mu} - \nu dn'$, up to the covariant total derivative. These concepts related to the entropy play important roles when we consider the time evolution in Chap. 3.

Masseiu-Planck functional as generating functional under special gauge choice

Here we derive a valuable formula which relates the Masseiu-Planck functional to the average value of the conserved current operators such as $\hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x)$ and $\hat{J}^{\mu}(x)$ over the local Gibbs distribution. For sake of simplicity, we restrict a discussion to a specific choice of the coordinate system though we have such a relation without choosing the special coordinate system [136].

Let us consider the derivative of $\Psi[\bar{t}, \lambda]$ with respect to \bar{t} , which reads

$$\partial_{\bar{t}}\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda] = -\langle \partial_{\bar{t}}\hat{K}[\bar{t};\lambda] \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} = \left\langle \partial_{\bar{t}} \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}\mu}\lambda^{a}\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \right\rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} = \left\langle \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}}N\nabla_{\mu} \left(\lambda^{a}\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}\right) \right\rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} = \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}}N(\nabla_{\mu}\Lambda^{a}) \langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}},$$

$$(2.46)$$

where we used the conservation laws (2.29) and (2.33) for operators. We also used

$$\partial_{\bar{t}} \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}\mu} f^{\mu} = \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}} N \nabla_{\mu} f^{\mu}, \qquad (2.47)$$

for an arbitrary smooth function $f^{\mu}(x)$ (see Appendix A.1). Here we introduced $\nabla_{\mu}\Lambda^{a}$ as

$$\nabla_{\mu}\Lambda^{\nu} \equiv \nabla_{\mu}\beta^{\nu}, \quad \nabla_{\mu}\Lambda^{4} \equiv \nabla_{\mu}\nu + F_{\nu\mu}\beta^{\nu}$$
(2.48)

From Eq. (2.46), we obtain the divergence of ψ^{μ} as

$$\nabla_{\mu}\psi^{\mu} = (\nabla_{\mu}\Lambda^{a})\langle\hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\mu}_{a}\rangle^{\mathrm{LG}}_{\bar{t}}.$$
(2.49)

If we write down it in a more explicit way, it gives

$$\partial_{\bar{t}}\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda] = \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}}N(\nabla_{\mu}\Lambda^{a})\langle\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}\rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}$$

$$= \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{-g}\left(\nabla_{\mu}\beta_{\nu}\langle\hat{T}^{\mu\nu}\rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} + (\nabla_{\mu}\nu + F_{\nu\mu}\beta^{\nu})\langle\hat{J}^{\mu}\rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}\right).$$
(2.50)

To take one more step forward, we choose the useful coordinate system by matching the time vector $t^{\mu}(x) \equiv \partial_{\bar{t}} x^{\mu}(\bar{t}, \bar{x})$ with the local fluid vector $\beta^{\mu}(x)$: $t^{\mu}(x) = \beta^{\mu}(x)$. This gauge fixing is schematically shown in Fig. 2.3. Since the fluid remains at rest in this coordinate system, we call it the hydrostatic gauge⁷. Besides, we interpret the chemical potential as the time component of the background U(1) gauge field: $\nu = A_{\nu}\beta^{\nu} = A_{\bar{0}}$. Under this parametrization, we obtain

$$\partial_{\bar{t}}\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda] = \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{-g} \left(\nabla_{\mu}\beta_{\nu}\langle\hat{T}^{\mu\nu}\rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} + (\nabla_{\mu}\nu + F_{\nu\mu}\beta^{\nu})\langle\hat{J}^{\mu}\rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}\right) = \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{1}{2}(\nabla_{\mu}\beta_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu}\beta_{\mu})\langle\hat{T}^{\mu\nu}\rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} + (\beta^{\nu}\nabla_{\nu}A_{\mu} + A_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu}\beta^{\nu})\langle\hat{J}^{\mu}\rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}\right),$$
(2.51)



Figure 2.3: Schematic picture of a gauge fixing to the hydrostatic gauge. Before the gauge fixing, we have a fluid configuration $\beta^{\mu}(x)$ on the hypersurface, which could be any time-like vector. After the gauge fixing by choosing $t^{\mu}(x) = \beta^{\mu}(x)$, it simply becomes a set of the unit vectors.

where we used the symmetry of energy-momentum tensor under $\mu \leftrightarrow \nu$.

It closely resembles the variation formula of the action in the second line of Eq. (2.26). In fact, if we note that Lie derivatives of the metric and the external gauge field along the fluid-velocity β^{μ} are given by

$$\delta_{\beta}g_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\mu}\beta_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu}\beta_{\mu},$$

$$\delta_{\beta}A_{\mu} = \beta^{\nu}\nabla_{\nu}A_{\mu} + A_{\nu}\nabla_{\mu}\beta^{\nu},$$
(2.52)

we can rewrite the above equation as

$$\partial_{\bar{t}}\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda] = \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{1}{2}\delta_{\beta}g_{\mu\nu}\langle\hat{T}^{\mu\nu}\rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} + \delta_{\beta}A_{\mu}\langle\hat{J}^{\mu}\rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}\right).$$
(2.53)

On the other hand, the variation of the Massieu-Planck functional with respect to \bar{t} , or the Lie derivative along t^{μ} , is expressed in another way. Since we choose $t^{\mu} = \beta^{\mu}$, we can use the relation like $\delta_t \beta^{\mu} = \delta_{\beta} \beta^{\mu} = 0$. As a result, we obtain another expression

$$\partial_{\bar{t}}\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda] = \int d^{d-1}\bar{x} \left(\delta_{\beta}g_{\mu\nu}\frac{\delta\Psi}{\delta g_{\mu\nu}} + \delta_{\beta}A_{\mu}\frac{\delta\Psi}{\delta A_{\mu}}\right).$$
(2.54)

Comparison of Eq. (2.53) with Eq. (2.54) enables us to relate the average values of the conserved currents over the local Gibbs distribution with the variation of the Masseiu-Planck functional like

$$\langle \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta}{\delta g_{\mu\nu}(x)} \Psi[\bar{t};\lambda], \quad \langle \hat{J}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta}{\delta A_{\mu}(x)} \Psi[\bar{t};\lambda]. \tag{2.55}$$

⁷ The same name for a similar situation is also employed in Ref. [88].

In conclusion, we can identify the Masseiu-Planck functional as a generating functional for nondissipative hydrodynamics, in which we neglect the deviation from the local Gibbs distribution at each time.

2.3 Path integral formulation and emergent curved spacetime

In this section, dealing with some representative examples of quantum fields such as the scalar field, gauge field, and Dirac field, we explicitly perform path-integral analysis for the Masseiu-Planck functional $\Psi[\bar{t}; \lambda]$ [1, 136]. As a result, we show that the Masseiu-Planck functional is written in terms of the Euclidean action in the same way as the case of the global thermal equilibrium. It, however, does not have the form of that in the flat spacetime, but in the emergent curved spacetime background, whose metric or vielbein is determined by the local temperature and the fluid four-velocity.

2.3.1 Scalar field

Real scalar field

Let us first consider a one-component real scalar field. In the coordinate system (\bar{t}, \bar{x}) with the ADM metric (2.16), the Lagrangian for a neutral scalar field ϕ reads

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{g^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}}{2}\partial_{\bar{\mu}}\phi\partial_{\bar{\nu}}\phi - V(\phi) = \frac{1}{2N^2}(\partial_{\bar{t}}\phi - N^{\bar{i}}\partial_{\bar{i}}\phi)^2 - \frac{\gamma^{ij}}{2}\partial_{\bar{i}}\phi\partial_{\bar{j}}\phi - V(\phi), \qquad (2.56)$$

where $V(\phi)$ denotes the potential term. The canonical momentum $\pi(\boldsymbol{x})$ is $\pi(\boldsymbol{x}) \equiv -g^{\bar{0}\bar{\nu}}\partial_{\bar{\nu}}\phi(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}) = N^{-2}(\partial_{\bar{t}}\phi - N^{\bar{i}}\partial_{\bar{t}}\phi)$, which satisfies the canonical commutation relation, $[\hat{\phi}(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}), \hat{\pi}(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}')] = i\delta(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}} - \bar{\boldsymbol{x}}')/(N\sqrt{\gamma})$. We obtain the energy-momentum tensors as

$$\hat{T}^{\bar{0}}_{\bar{0}} = -\hat{\pi}\partial_{\bar{t}}\hat{\phi} + \hat{\mathcal{L}} = -\frac{N^2}{2}\hat{\pi}^2 - N^{\bar{i}}\hat{\pi}\partial_{\bar{i}}\hat{\phi} - \frac{\gamma^{ij}}{2}\partial_{\bar{i}}\hat{\phi}\partial_{\bar{j}}\hat{\phi} - V(\hat{\phi}), \qquad (2.57)$$

$$\hat{T}^{\bar{0}}_{\ \bar{i}} = -\hat{\pi}\partial_{\bar{i}}\hat{\phi}.$$
(2.58)

By using the standard technique of the path integral, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr} e^{-\hat{K}} = \int d\phi \langle \phi | e^{-\hat{K}} | \phi \rangle$$

=
$$\int \mathcal{D}\phi \mathcal{D}\pi \exp\left(\int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau [i \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}N\sqrt{\gamma}\partial_{\tau}\phi(\tau,\bar{\boldsymbol{x}})\pi(\tau,\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}) - \beta_{0}^{-1}K]\right),$$
(2.59)

where K denotes the functional corresponding to the operator \hat{K} . After parametrizing $\beta^{\bar{\mu}} = \beta_0 e^{\sigma} u^{\bar{\mu}}$ and integrating Eq. (2.59) with respect to the canonical momentum π , we obtain the

path-integral formula for the Massieu-Planck functional as

$$\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda] = \log \int \mathcal{D}\phi \exp\left(S[\phi;\lambda]\right), \qquad (2.60)$$

with

$$S[\phi;\lambda] = \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{\gamma}\tilde{N} \Big[\frac{1}{2\tilde{N}^{2}} \Big(i\partial_{\tau}\phi - \tilde{N}^{\bar{i}}\partial_{\bar{i}}\phi \Big)^{2} - \Big(\frac{\gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}}}{2}\partial_{\bar{i}}\phi\partial_{\bar{j}}\phi + V(\phi) \Big) \Big]$$

$$\equiv \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{-\tilde{g}}\tilde{\mathcal{L}}(\phi,\tilde{\partial}_{\bar{\rho}}\phi;\tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}), \qquad (2.61)$$

where $\tilde{N} \equiv N u^{\bar{0}} e^{\sigma} = -n_{\mu} \beta^{\mu} / \beta_0$, $\tilde{N}^{\bar{i}} \equiv \gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}} e^{\sigma} u_{\bar{j}} = e^{\sigma} (u^{\bar{0}} N^{\bar{i}} + u^{\bar{i}})$. Here we defined the partial derivative in the thermal space denoted by tilde such as $\tilde{\partial}_{\mu} \equiv (i\partial_{\tau}, \partial_{\bar{i}})$. We also defined the thermal metric $\tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}$ and its inverse $\tilde{g}^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}$ as

$$\tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} = \begin{pmatrix} -\tilde{N}^2 + \tilde{N}_{\bar{i}}\tilde{N}^{\bar{i}} & \tilde{N}_{\bar{j}} \\ \tilde{N}_{\bar{i}} & \gamma_{\bar{i}\bar{j}} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \tilde{g}^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} = \begin{pmatrix} -\tilde{N}^{-2} & \tilde{N}^{-2}\tilde{N}^{\bar{j}} \\ \tilde{N}^{-2}\tilde{N}^{\bar{i}} & \gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}} - \tilde{N}^{-2}\tilde{N}^{\bar{i}}\tilde{N}^{\bar{j}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.62)

Here, $\tilde{N}_{\bar{i}} \equiv \gamma_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}\tilde{N}^{\bar{j}} = e^{\sigma}u_{\bar{i}}$. As is clearly demonstrated from Eq. (2.60) to Eq. (2.62), the Masseiu-Planck functional $\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda]$ is expressed in terms of the path integral over the Euclidean action in the emergent curved spacetime, whose metric is given in Eq. (2.62).

Charged scalar field

We can easily generalize our analysis to a charged scalar field in a straightforward way. This system, however, is distinct from simple summation of two independent real field in a sense that there exists conserved charge current coupled to the external gauge field, and thus can have chemical potential. Dealing with the charged scalar field, we show how the chemical potential and external gauge field is implemented in our path-integral formula.

Lagrangian for a charged scalar boson is given by

$$\mathcal{L} = -g^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}D_{\bar{\mu}}\Phi^*D_{\bar{\nu}}\Phi - V(|\Phi|^2) = \frac{1}{N^2}(D_{\bar{t}}\Phi^* - N^{\bar{i}}D_{\bar{i}}\Phi^*)(D_{\bar{t}}\Phi - N^{\bar{i}}D_{\bar{i}}\Phi) - \gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}}D_{\bar{i}}\Phi^*D_{\bar{j}}\Phi - V(|\Phi|^2),$$
(2.63)

where Φ denotes a complex field and describes bosons with positive and negative charges, and $D_{\bar{\mu}}$ is a covariant derivative which acts on charged fields as

$$D_{\bar{\mu}}\Phi = \partial_{\bar{\mu}}\Phi - iA_{\bar{\mu}}\Phi, \quad D_{\bar{\mu}}\Phi^* = \partial_{\bar{\mu}}\Phi^* + iA_{\bar{\mu}}\Phi^*, \tag{2.64}$$

where we take a charge of the complex field as unity, and $A_{\bar{\mu}}$ denotes an external gauge field coupled to the conserved charge current. Since this Lagrangian is invariant under U(1) transformation $\Phi \to \Phi' = \Phi e^{i\alpha}$, this system possesses the conserved charge current,

$$J^{\bar{\mu}} = -ig^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}(\Phi^* D_{\bar{\nu}}\Phi - \Phi D_{\bar{\nu}}\Phi^*).$$
(2.65)

For the convenience, we decompose Φ into real and imaginary parts, $\Phi = (\phi_1 + i\phi_2)/\sqrt{2}$, in which both of ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 denote real fields, and rewrite the Lagrangian in the following form,

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{a=1}^{2} \left[-\frac{g^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}}{2} D_{\bar{\mu}} \phi_a D_{\bar{\nu}} \phi_a \right] - V(\phi_1^2 + \phi_2^2)$$

$$= \sum_{a=1}^{2} \left[\frac{1}{2N^2} (D_{\bar{t}} \phi_a - N^{\bar{t}} D_{\bar{t}} \phi_a)^2 - \frac{\gamma^{\bar{t}\bar{j}}}{2} D_{\bar{t}} \phi_a D_{\bar{j}} \phi_a \right] - V(\phi_1^2 + \phi_2^2).$$
(2.66)

Here we introduced a covariant derivative, which acts to real fields ϕ_a (a = 1, 2) as

$$D_{\bar{\mu}}\phi_a = \partial_{\bar{\mu}}\phi_a + \varepsilon_{ab}A_{\bar{\mu}}\phi_b \tag{2.67}$$

with $\varepsilon_{12} = 1 = -\varepsilon_{21}$, $\varepsilon_{11} = \varepsilon_{22} = 0$, and use a contraction rule for the subscript b.

By using canonical momenta $\pi_a \equiv -g^{\bar{0}\bar{\nu}}D_{\bar{\nu}}\phi_a = N^{-2}(D_{\bar{t}}\phi_a - N^{\bar{t}}D_{\bar{t}}\phi_a)$ (a = 1, 2), which satisfy the canonical commutation relations, $[\hat{\phi}_a(\bar{x}), \hat{\pi}_b(\bar{x}')] = i\delta_{ab}\delta(\bar{x} - \bar{x}')/(N\sqrt{\gamma})$, all the conserved charge densities such as the energy-momentum and conserved U(1) charge are written as

$$\hat{T}^{\bar{0}}_{\bar{0}} = -\sum_{a=1}^{2} \left[\frac{N^2}{2} \hat{\pi}_a^2 + N^{\bar{i}} \hat{\pi}_a D_{\bar{i}} \hat{\phi}_a + \frac{\gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}}}{2} D_{\bar{i}} \hat{\phi}_a D_{\bar{j}} \hat{\phi}_a \right] - V(\hat{\phi}_1^2 + \hat{\phi}_2^2), \tag{2.68}$$

$$\hat{T}^{\bar{0}}_{\ \bar{i}} = -\sum_{a=1}^{2} \hat{\pi}_a D_{\bar{i}} \hat{\phi}_a, \tag{2.69}$$

$$\hat{J}^{\bar{0}} = \sum_{a=1}^{2} \hat{\pi}_a \varepsilon_{ab} \hat{\phi}_b.$$
(2.70)

While these do not contain the time derivative, and thus the time component of the external gauge field $A_{\bar{0}}$, these are manifestly gauge invariant under the gauge transformation of the spatial components: $A_{\bar{i}} \rightarrow A_{\bar{i}} + \partial_{\bar{i}} \alpha$.

From this set of conserved quantities we obtain

$$\operatorname{Tr} e^{-\hat{K}} = \int \mathcal{D}\phi_1 \mathcal{D}\phi_2 \mathcal{D}\pi_1 \mathcal{D}\pi_2 \exp\left(\int_0^{\beta_0} d\tau [i \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}N\sqrt{\gamma}\sum_{a=1}^2 \partial_\tau \phi_a(\tau, \bar{\boldsymbol{x}})\pi_a(\tau, \bar{\boldsymbol{x}}) - \beta_0^{-1}K]\right).$$
(2.71)

Since the canonical momenta are quadratic, we are able to integrate out π_a (a = 1, 2) also for this case. Under the same parametrization $\beta^{\bar{\mu}} = \beta_0 e^{\sigma} u^{\bar{\mu}}$, we can write down the Masseiu-Planck functional as

$$\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda,A_{\bar{\mu}}] = \log \int \mathcal{D}\Phi \exp\left(S[\Phi;\lambda,A_{\bar{\mu}}]\right), \qquad (2.72)$$

with

$$S[\Phi;\lambda,A_{\mu}] = \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{\gamma}\tilde{N}$$

$$\times \left[\frac{1}{2\tilde{N}^{2}}\sum_{a=1}^{2} \left[\left(\tilde{D}_{\bar{0}}\phi_{a}-\tilde{N}^{\bar{i}}D_{\bar{i}}\phi_{a}\right)^{2}-\frac{\gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}}}{2}D_{\bar{i}}\phi_{a}D_{\bar{j}}\phi_{a}\right]-V(|\Phi|^{2})\right)\right]$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{\gamma}\tilde{N}$$

$$\times \left[\frac{1}{\tilde{N}^{2}}\left(\tilde{D}_{\bar{0}}\Phi^{*}-\tilde{N}^{\bar{i}}\tilde{D}_{\bar{i}}\Phi^{*}\right)\left(\tilde{D}_{\bar{0}}\Phi-\tilde{N}^{\bar{i}}\tilde{D}_{\bar{i}}\Phi\right)-\gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}}\tilde{D}_{\bar{i}}\Phi^{*}\tilde{D}_{\bar{j}}\Phi-V(|\Phi|^{2})\right]$$

$$\equiv \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{-\tilde{g}}\tilde{\mathcal{L}}(\Phi,\tilde{\partial}_{\bar{p}}\Phi;\tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}},\tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}}),$$

$$(2.73)$$

where we define the covariant derivative in the thermal space denoted by tilde as follows:

$$\tilde{D}_{\bar{\mu}}\phi_a = \tilde{\partial}_{\bar{\mu}}\phi_a + \varepsilon_{ab}\tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}}\phi_b, \qquad (2.74)$$

$$\tilde{D}_{\bar{\mu}}\Phi = \tilde{\partial}_{\bar{\mu}}\Phi - i\tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}}\Phi, \quad \tilde{D}_{\bar{\mu}}\Phi^* = \tilde{\partial}_{\bar{\mu}}\Phi^* + i\tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}}\Phi^*, \qquad (2.75)$$

with the background gauge field defined by

$$\tilde{A}_{\bar{0}} \equiv e^{\sigma} \mu = \nu / \beta_0, \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{A}_{\bar{i}} \equiv A_{\bar{i}}.$$
 (2.76)

We note that $(i\partial_{\tau})^{\dagger} = i\partial_{\tau}$ in our convention.

We see that the resulting Euclidean action is again written in terms of the thermal metric background (2.62), and an essential difference is only seen in the covariant derivative (2.74) or (2.75). We, therefore, only need to consider the modified gauge connection in the presence of finite chemical potential, by replacing the partial derivative $\tilde{\partial}_{\bar{\mu}}$ with the covariant one, $\tilde{D}_{\bar{\mu}}$. As is discussed in Sec. 2.4, this additional term $e^{\sigma}\mu = \nu/\beta_0$ is Kaluza-Klein gauge invariant. Therefore, the structure and symmetry properties of the emergent curved spacetime also hold for systems with finite chemical potential.

2.3.2 Gauge field

Abelian gauge field

As a next example, let us consider the electromagnetic field, whose field strength tensor is given by

$$F_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} = \partial_{\bar{\mu}}A_{\bar{\nu}} - \partial_{\bar{\nu}}A_{\bar{\mu}},\tag{2.77}$$

where $A_{\bar{\mu}}$ denotes the four-vector potential. The Lagrangian for the electromagnetic field is

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4} g^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} g^{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}} F_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\alpha}} F_{\bar{\nu}\bar{\beta}},$$

$$= \frac{1}{2N^2} \gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}} (F_{\bar{0}\bar{i}} - N^{\bar{k}} F_{\bar{k}\bar{i}}) (F_{\bar{0}\bar{j}} - N^{\bar{l}} F_{\bar{l}\bar{j}}) - \frac{1}{4} \gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}} \gamma^{\bar{k}\bar{l}} F_{\bar{i}\bar{k}} F_{\bar{j}\bar{l}},$$
(2.78)

where we use the coordinate system (\bar{t}, \bar{x}) with the ADM metric (2.16) in the last line.

Since the field strength tensor is invariant under the gauge transformation

$$A_{\bar{\mu}}(x) \to A_{\bar{\mu}}(x) + \partial_{\bar{\mu}}\alpha(x),$$
 (2.79)

where $\alpha(x)$ is an arbitrary function smoothly dependent on x, the Lagrangian and all physical observables are also gauge invariant. However, to quantize gauge field in our setup, which is essentially Hamiltonian formalism, we need to fix a gauge. Here, we employ the axial gauge

$$A_{\overline{d-1}}(x) = 0. (2.80)$$

Although this axial gauge condition does not completely fix the gauge, we fix the residual gauge freedom later on.

The canonical momenta $\Pi^{\overline{i}}$ are given by

$$\Pi^{\bar{i}} \equiv -F^{\bar{0}\bar{i}} = \frac{1}{N^2} \gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}} (F_{\bar{0}\bar{j}} - N^{\bar{k}} F_{\bar{k}\bar{j}}).$$
(2.81)

Note that $\Pi^{\bar{0}} = 0$ so that $A_{\bar{0}}$ is not a dynamical field, since the field strength tensor is antisymmetric under the exchange of indices. We also note that due to the axial gauge condition $A_{\overline{d-1}} = 0$, we do not have the $\Pi^{\overline{d-1}}$ as a dynamical field. In fact, it is determined by the Gauss's law

$$\nabla_{\bar{i}}F^{\bar{0}\bar{i}} = 0, \qquad (2.82)$$

where we consider the situation in the absence of the charged particles.

From the Lagrangian for the electromagnetic field, we can construct energy-momentum tensor $\hat{T}^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$ as usual, and it gives

$$\hat{T}^{\bar{0}}_{\bar{0}} = \hat{F}^{\bar{0}\bar{\alpha}}\hat{F}_{\bar{0}\bar{\alpha}} + \hat{\mathcal{L}} = -\frac{N^2}{2}\hat{\Pi}^{\bar{i}}\gamma_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}\hat{\Pi}^{\bar{j}} - N^{\bar{i}}\hat{F}_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}\hat{\Pi}^{\bar{j}} - \frac{1}{4}\gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}}\gamma^{\bar{k}\bar{l}}\hat{F}_{\bar{i}\bar{k}}\hat{F}_{\bar{j}\bar{l}}, \qquad (2.83)$$

$$\hat{T}^{0}_{\ \bar{i}} = \hat{F}^{0\bar{\alpha}}\hat{F}_{\bar{i}\bar{\alpha}} = -\hat{\Pi}^{j}\hat{F}_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}.$$
(2.84)

As is mentioned before, contrary to its apparent expression, $\Pi^{\overline{d-1}}$ is not an independent dynamical field, and determined by solving Gauss's law (2.82) : $\Pi^{\overline{d-1}} = -F^{\overline{0}\overline{d-1}}(\Pi^{\overline{1}}, \cdots, \Pi^{\overline{d-2}})$. This fact is not useful in order to integrate out all the conjugate momentum $\Pi^{\overline{i}}$. Therefore, we insert an identity

$$1 = \int \mathcal{D}\Pi^{\overline{d-1}} \delta\left(\Pi^{\overline{d-1}} + F^{\overline{0}\overline{d-1}}(\Pi^{\overline{1}}, \cdots, \Pi^{\overline{d-2}})\right)$$
(2.85)

to avoid this apparent difficulty. Furthermore, by decomposing the Gauss law constraint as

$$\delta(\Pi^{\overline{d-1}} + F^{\overline{0}\overline{d-1}}(\Pi^{\overline{1}}, \cdots, \Pi^{\overline{d-2}})) = \delta(\nabla_{\overline{i}}\Pi^{\overline{i}}) \det\left(\frac{\partial(\nabla_{\overline{i}}\Pi^{\overline{i}})}{\partial\Pi^{\overline{d-1}}}\right) = \delta(\nabla_{\overline{i}}\Pi^{\overline{i}}) \det\left(\nabla_{\overline{d-1}}\right), \quad (2.86)$$

we express the partition function with the following path-integral formula

$$\operatorname{Tr} e^{-\hat{K}} = \int \prod_{j=1}^{d-1} \mathcal{D}\Pi^{\bar{j}} \prod_{k=0}^{d-2} \mathcal{D}A_{\bar{k}} \,\delta(\nabla_{\bar{i}}\Pi^{\bar{i}}) \det(\nabla_{\overline{d-1}}) \\ \times \exp\left(\int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \left[\int d^{d-1}\bar{x}N\sqrt{\gamma} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{d-2}\Pi^{\bar{l}}i\partial_{\tau}A_{\bar{l}}\right) - \beta_{0}^{-1}K\right]\right) \\ = \int \prod_{j=1}^{d-1} \mathcal{D}\Pi^{\bar{j}} \prod_{k=0}^{d-2} \mathcal{D}A_{\bar{k}} \det(\nabla_{\overline{d-1}}) \\ \times \exp\left(\int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \left[\int d^{d-1}\bar{x}N\sqrt{\gamma} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{d-2}\Pi^{\bar{l}}i\partial_{\tau}A_{\bar{l}} - \Pi^{\bar{i}}i\partial_{\bar{i}}A_{\bar{0}}\right) - \beta_{0}^{-1}K\right]\right),$$
(2.87)

where we use a functional-integral expression for the delta function $\delta(\nabla_{\bar{i}}\Pi^{\bar{i}})$ with an auxiliary field $A_{\bar{0}}$

$$\delta(\nabla_{\bar{i}}\Pi^{\bar{i}}) = \int \mathcal{D}A_{\bar{0}} \exp\left(i\int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}N\sqrt{\gamma}A_{\bar{0}}\nabla_{\bar{i}}\Pi^{\bar{i}}\right),\tag{2.88}$$

and perform an integration by parts in order to obtain the last line in Eq. (2.87).

Using the same parametrization $\beta^{\bar{\mu}} = \beta_0 e^{\sigma} u^{\bar{\mu}}$ with the case of the scalar fields, and after integrating out the conjugate momenta $\Pi^{\bar{i}}$, we obtain the path-integral formula for the Masseiu-Planck functional,

$$\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda] = \log \int \prod_{i=0}^{d-2} \mathcal{D}A_{\bar{i}} \det(\nabla_{\overline{d-1}}) \exp\left(S[A_{\bar{\sigma}};\lambda]\right), \qquad (2.89)$$

with

$$S[A_{\bar{\sigma}};\lambda] = \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{\gamma}\tilde{N} \\ \times \left[\frac{1}{2\tilde{N}^{2}}\gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}}(\tilde{F}_{\bar{0}\bar{i}}-\tilde{N}^{\bar{k}}F_{\bar{k}\bar{i}})(\tilde{F}_{\bar{0}\bar{j}}-\tilde{N}^{\bar{l}}F_{\bar{l}\bar{j}}) - \frac{1}{4}\gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}}\gamma^{\bar{k}\bar{l}}F_{\bar{i}\bar{k}}F_{\bar{j}\bar{l}}\right], \qquad (2.90)$$
$$\equiv \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{-\tilde{g}}\tilde{\mathcal{L}}(\tilde{\partial}_{\bar{\rho}}A_{\bar{\sigma}};\tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}),$$

where $\tilde{N} \equiv N u^{\bar{0}} e^{\sigma} = -n_{\mu} \beta^{\mu} / \beta_0$, $\tilde{N}^{\bar{i}} \equiv \gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}} e^{\sigma} u_{\bar{j}}$ is used as is the same with the case for the scalar fields, and we introduced the field strength tensor along the imaginary-time direction:

$$\ddot{F}_{\bar{0}\bar{i}} \equiv i\partial_{\tau}A_{\bar{i}} - i\partial_{\bar{i}}A_{\bar{0}}.$$
(2.91)

What is important is that the result is again written in terms of the Euclidean action under the curved spacetime with thermal metric (2.62).

A short comment on the gauge invariance is in order here. The above result is the pathintegral formula of the Massieu-Planck functional for the axial gauge, and the path integral over $A_{\overline{d-1}}$ is not contained because of the axial gauge condition $A_{\overline{d-1}} = 0$. However, we can implement the axial gauge condition through an insertion of

$$1 = \int \mathcal{D}A_{\overline{d-1}}\delta(A_{\overline{d-1}}), \qquad (2.92)$$

and, as a result, we obtain

$$\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda] = \log \int \mathcal{D}A_{\bar{\mu}}\delta(A_{\overline{d-1}}) \det(\nabla_{\overline{d-1}})e^{S[A_{\bar{\sigma}};\lambda]}.$$
(2.93)

This is the result for a special choice of the axial gauge, but we can easily generalize this result for an arbitrary gauge choice by replacing the gauge fixing condition and Jacobian as

$$\delta(A_{\overline{d-1}}) \det(\nabla_{\overline{d-1}}) \to \delta(F) \det\left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial \alpha}\right),$$
(2.94)

where F = 0 gives the gauge fixing condition like $F = A_{\overline{d-1}}$ in the axial gauge. Since the delta function and the determinant give a gauge-invariant combination, the final expression for the Masseiu-Planck functional is

$$\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda] = \log \int \mathcal{D}A_{\bar{\mu}}\delta(F) \det\left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial\alpha}\right) \exp\left(S[A_{\bar{\sigma}};\lambda]\right), \qquad (2.95)$$

which is explicitly gauge invariant so that we can choose an arbitrary gauge suitable for our calculation.

Non-Abelian gauge field

Let us generalize our result to the non-Abelian gauge field. Here, for concreteness, we consider SU(N) gauge theory. The Lagrangian for the non-abelian gauge field is given by

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4} g^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} g^{\bar{\alpha}\bar{\beta}} G^{a}{}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\alpha}} G^{a}{}_{\bar{\nu}\bar{\beta}}
= \frac{1}{2N^{2}} \gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}} (G^{a}{}_{\bar{0}\bar{i}} - N^{\bar{k}} G^{a}{}_{\bar{k}\bar{i}}) (G^{a}{}_{\bar{0}\bar{j}} - N^{\bar{l}} G^{a}{}_{\bar{l}\bar{j}}) - \frac{1}{4} \gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}} \gamma^{\bar{k}\bar{l}} j G^{a}{}_{\bar{i}\bar{k}} G^{a}{}_{\bar{j}\bar{l}}.$$
(2.96)

Here we introduced the field strength tensor for the non-Abelian gauge field

$$G^{a}{}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} = \partial_{\bar{\mu}}A^{a}{}_{\bar{\nu}} - \partial_{\bar{\nu}}A^{a}{}_{\bar{\mu}} + gf_{abc}A^{b}{}_{\bar{\mu}}A^{c}{}_{\bar{\nu}}, \qquad (2.97)$$

with the non-Abelian gauge field $A^a{}_{\bar{\mu}}$, the dimensionless coupling constant g, and the structure constants of SU(N) gauge group f_{abc} , which satisfy

$$[t^{a}, t^{b}] = i f_{abc}, \quad \operatorname{tr}(t^{a} t^{b}) = \frac{1}{2} \delta_{ab},$$
 (2.98)

where t^a denotes generators of SU(N) group. One important difference with the Abelian gauge field is that the gauge field carries the (color) index a which runs from a = 1 to $N^2 - 1$.

Introducing $A_{\bar{\mu}} = t^a A^a_{\ \bar{\mu}}$, we can express the field strength tensor in terms of the commutator of the covariant derivative

$$G_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} = \partial_{\bar{\mu}}A_{\bar{\nu}} - \partial_{\bar{\nu}}A_{\bar{\mu}} - ig[A_{\bar{\mu}}, A_{\bar{\nu}}] = \frac{i}{g}[D_{\bar{\mu}}, D_{\bar{\nu}}], \qquad (2.99)$$

where we introduced $G_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} \equiv t^a G^a_{\ \bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}$ and covariant derivative

$$D_{\bar{\mu}} \equiv \partial_{\bar{\mu}} - igt^a A^a{}_{\bar{\mu}}, \qquad (2.100)$$

The field strength tensor transforms as $G_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} \to UG_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}U^{\dagger}$ under the SU(N) gauge transformation

$$A_{\bar{\mu}}(x) \to U(x)(A_{\bar{\mu}}(x) + ig^{-1}\partial_{\bar{\mu}})U^{\dagger}(x), \qquad (2.101)$$

where $U(x) \equiv \exp(-i\theta^a(x)t^a)$ is a unitary matrix: $UU^{\dagger} = \mathbb{1}$. Together with the cyclic property of traces: $\operatorname{Tr}(AB) = \operatorname{Tr}(BA)$, we easily see gauge invariance of the Lagrangian (2.96).

Quantization procedure of the non-Abelian gauge field is essentially in a similar way with the Abelian gauge fields, and we directly write down the final result for the Masseiu-Planck functional,

$$\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda] = \log \int \mathcal{D}A^a_{\ \bar{\mu}}\delta(F^b) \det\left(\frac{\partial F^c}{\partial \alpha_d}\right) \exp\left(S[A_{\bar{\sigma}};\lambda]\right), \qquad (2.102)$$

where $\delta(F^b)$ represents the gauge-fixing condition, and the determinant does the Fadeev-Popov determinant with the gauge parameter α^d . The Euclidean action is completely the same as the previous analysis on the Abelian case and

$$S[A_{\bar{\sigma}};\lambda] = \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{\gamma}\tilde{N} \\ \times \left[\frac{1}{2\tilde{N}^{2}}\gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}}(\tilde{G}^{a}_{\ \bar{0}\bar{i}} - \tilde{N}^{\bar{k}}G^{a}_{\ \bar{k}\bar{i}})(\tilde{G}^{a}_{\ \bar{0}\bar{j}} - \tilde{N}^{\bar{l}}G^{a}_{\ \bar{l}\bar{j}}) - \frac{1}{4}\gamma^{\bar{i}\bar{j}}\gamma^{\bar{k}\bar{l}}G^{a}_{\ \bar{i}\bar{k}}G^{a}_{\ \bar{j}\bar{l}}\right], \qquad (2.103)$$
$$\equiv \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{-\tilde{g}}\tilde{\mathcal{L}}(\tilde{\partial}_{\bar{\rho}}A_{\bar{\sigma}};\tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}).$$

Here in the same way as the Abelian case, we introduced the field strength tensor along the imaginary-time direction:

$$\tilde{G}^a_{\ \bar{0}\bar{i}} \equiv i\partial_\tau A^a_{\ \bar{i}} - i\partial_{\bar{i}}A^a_{\ \bar{0}}.$$
(2.104)

2.3.3 Dirac field

Spinor field in curved spacetime

As a last example, let us consider the Dirac field. Before starting the path-integral analysis in the case of the Dirac field, we first summarize a way to describe spinor fields in the curved spacetime, that is, a so-called vielbein formalism. In order to describe the spinor field in the curved spacetime, we use the vielbein e_{μ}^{a} instead of the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$. Here, Greek letters (μ, ν, \cdots) represent the curved spacetime indices in the coordinate system (t, \boldsymbol{x}) , while Latin letters (a, b, \cdots) do the local Lorentz indices. The metric and vielbein are related to each other through

$$g_{\mu\nu} = e_{\mu}^{\ a} e_{\nu}^{\ b} \eta_{ab}, \quad \eta^{ab} = e_{\mu}^{\ a} e_{\nu}^{\ b} g^{\mu\nu}. \tag{2.105}$$

We also define the inverse vielbein $e_a^{\ \mu}$, which satisfies the relations $\delta_{\mu}^{\nu} = e_{\mu}^{\ a} e_a^{\ \nu}$, $\delta_a^b = e_a^{\ \mu} e_{\mu}^{\ b}$. The (inverse) vielbein enables us to exchange the curved spacetime indices and the local Lorentz indices as follows

$$B_{a} = e_{a}^{\ \mu}B_{\mu}, \quad B^{a} = e_{\mu}^{\ a}B^{\mu}, B_{\mu} = e_{\mu}^{\ a}B_{a}, \quad B^{\mu} = e_{a}^{\ \mu}B^{a}.$$
(2.106)

The Lagrangian for a Dirac field ψ is expressed by the use of the inverse vielbein

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2}\bar{\psi}(e_a^{\ \mu}\gamma^a\overrightarrow{D}_{\mu} - \overleftarrow{D}_{\mu}\gamma^a e_a^{\ \mu})\psi - m\bar{\psi}\psi, \qquad (2.107)$$

where we defined $\bar{\psi} \equiv i \psi^{\dagger} \gamma^{0}$, and the covariant derivative

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - iA_{\mu} - i\frac{1}{2}\omega_{\mu}^{\ ab}\Sigma_{ab}, \qquad (2.108)$$

with the external gauge field A_{μ} , and a spin connection $\omega_{\mu}^{\ ab}$. Here $\Sigma_{ab} \equiv i[\gamma_a, \gamma_b]/4$ is a generator of the Lorentz group with γ^a being the gamma matrices, which satisfy a set of relations $\{\gamma^a, \gamma^b\} = 2\eta^{ab}$ with $\{A, B\} \equiv AB + BA$, $(i\gamma^0)^{\dagger} = i\gamma^0$, $(i\gamma^0)^{\dagger}(i\gamma^0) = 1$, $i\gamma^0(\gamma^a)^{\dagger}i\gamma^0 = -\gamma^a$, and $i\gamma^0\Sigma_{ab}^{\dagger}i\gamma^0 = \Sigma_{ab}$ in our convention. From a direct calculation, we obtain the next relations

$$[\Sigma_{ab}, \Sigma_{cd}] = -i(\eta_{ac}\Sigma_{bd} - \eta_{bc}\Sigma_{ad} - \eta_{ad}\Sigma_{bc} + \eta_{bd}\Sigma_{ac}), \qquad (2.109)$$

$$[\gamma_a, \Sigma_{cd}] = -i(\eta_{ad}\gamma_c - \eta_{ac}\gamma_d).$$
(2.110)

The left and right derivatives are defined as

$$\overrightarrow{D}_{\mu}\phi \equiv \partial_{\mu}\phi - iA_{\mu}\phi - i\frac{1}{2}\omega_{\mu}^{\ ab}\Sigma_{ab}\phi, \quad \text{and} \quad \phi\overleftarrow{D}_{\mu} \equiv \partial_{\mu}\phi + i\phi A_{\mu} + i\phi\frac{1}{2}\omega_{\mu}^{\ ab}\Sigma_{ab}.$$
(2.111)

In Eq. (2.108), we have the spin connection ω_{μ}^{ab} , which is expressed by the vielbein as

$$\omega_{\mu}^{\ ab} = \frac{1}{2} e^{a\nu} e^{b\rho} (C_{\nu\rho\mu} - C_{\rho\nu\mu} - C_{\mu\nu\rho}),$$

$$C_{\mu\nu\rho} \equiv e_{\mu}^{\ c} (\partial_{\nu} e_{\rho c} - \partial_{\rho} e_{\nu c}),$$
(2.112)

where $C_{\mu\nu\rho}$ are called the Ricci rotation coefficients. We note that the spin connection $\omega_{\mu}^{\ ab}$ is anti-symmetric under the exchange of the local Lorentz indices: $\omega_{\mu}^{\ ab} = -\omega_{\mu}^{\ ba}$.

Energy-momentum conservation for spinor field

As is demonstrated in Sec. 2.2.2, taking the variation of the action with respect to the metric, we obtain the conserved energy-momentum tensor associated with diffeomorphism invariance. However, if matters considered are composed of spinor fields, the action is described not by the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ but by the vielbein $e_{\mu}^{\ a}$

$$S[\psi, \bar{\psi}; e_{\mu}^{\ a}, A_{\mu}] = \int d^{d}x e \mathcal{L}(\psi(x), \bar{\psi}(x), D_{\mu}\psi(x), D_{\mu}\bar{\psi}(x); e_{\mu}^{\ a}(x), A_{\mu}(x)), \qquad (2.113)$$

where we define $e \equiv \det e_{\mu}^{\ a} = \sqrt{-g}$, and the explicit form of the Lagrangian for the Dirac field is already given by Eq. (2.107). In a similar way discussed in Sec. 2.2.2, we can generalize our discussion on the derivation of the energy-momentum conservation law for the fermionic action. Let us consider a set of variations with respect to the vielbein $e_{\mu}^{\ a}$, the external gauge field A_{μ} , and the spinor fields ψ , $\bar{\psi}$

$$\delta_{\xi} e_{\mu}^{\ a} \equiv e_{\mu}^{\prime \ a}(x) - e_{\mu}^{\ a}(x) = \xi^{\nu} \nabla_{\nu} e_{\mu}^{\ a} + e_{\nu}^{\ a} \nabla_{\mu} \xi^{\nu}, \qquad (2.114)$$

$$\delta_{\xi} A_{\mu} \equiv A'_{\mu}(x) - A_{\mu}(x) = \xi^{\nu} \nabla_{\nu} A_{\mu} + A_{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \xi^{\nu}, \qquad (2.115)$$

$$\delta_{\xi}\psi \equiv \psi'(x) - \psi(x) = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}\psi, \qquad (2.116)$$

$$\delta_{\xi}\bar{\psi} \equiv \bar{\psi}'(x) - \bar{\psi}(x) = \xi^{\nu}\partial_{\nu}\bar{\psi}, \qquad (2.117)$$

which are caused by the general coordinate transformation (2.22). Since the action again has diffeomorphism invariance, the variation of the action under this transformations vanishes: $\delta S = 0$. Since the variations of the fields does not contribute with the help of the equation of motion, the variation of the action leads to

$$\delta S = \int d^d x e \left[\mathcal{T}^{\mu}_a \delta_{\xi} e^{\ a}_{\mu} + J^{\mu} \delta_{\xi} A_{\mu} \right]$$

$$= \int d^d x e \left[\mathcal{T}^{\mu}_a (\xi^{\nu} \nabla_{\nu} e^{\ a}_{\mu} + e^{\ a}_{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \xi^{\nu}) + J^{\mu} (\xi^{\nu} \nabla_{\nu} A_{\mu} + A_{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \xi^{\nu}) \right]$$

$$= -\int d^d x e \left[(\nabla_{\mu} \mathcal{T}^{\mu}_{\ \nu} - F_{\nu\lambda} J^{\lambda}) \xi^{\nu} \right] + \int d^d x e \mathcal{T}_{ab} \omega_{\nu}^{\ ab} \xi^{\nu}$$

$$+ \int d^d x e \nabla_{\mu} \left[(\mathcal{T}^{\mu}_{\ \nu} + J^{\mu} A_{\nu}) \xi^{\nu} \right] - \int d^d x e \xi^{\nu} A_{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} J^{\mu},$$
(2.118)

where we define the energy-momentum tensor for spinor fields \mathcal{T}^{μ}_{a} as

$$\mathcal{T}^{\mu}_{\ a} \equiv \frac{1}{e} \frac{\delta S}{\delta e_{\mu}^{\ a}},\tag{2.119}$$

and we replace the Lorentz indices as the curved spacetime indices by the use of the vielbein: $\mathcal{T}^{\mu}_{\nu} = e_{\nu}^{\ a} \mathcal{T}^{\mu}_{a}$. Here we also used a so-called tetrad postulate that argues that the covariant derivative of the vielbein vanishes

$$D_{\mu}e_{\nu}^{\ b} = \nabla_{\mu}e_{\nu}^{\ b} + \omega_{\mu}^{\ b}e_{\nu}^{\ a} = 0, \qquad (2.120)$$

where $\Gamma^{\mu}_{\rho\sigma}$ denotes the usual Christoffel symbol without a torsion. Compared to the previous case in Eq. (2.26), we have the additional term proportional to $\mathcal{T}_{ab}\omega_{\mu}^{\ ab}$, which, in general, does not seem to vanish. However, as will be shown soon, this term vanishes, and we have the energy-momentum conservation law

$$\nabla_{\mu} \mathcal{T}^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = F_{\nu\lambda} J^{\lambda}. \tag{2.121}$$

Let us focus on the reason that the additional term does not contribute. In addition to diffeomorphism invariance, we have another symmetry due to the fact that it does not matter which locally inertial frames we adopt. In other words, the fermionic action is invariant under the local Lorentz transformation

$$\delta_{\alpha}e_{\mu}^{\ a} = \alpha^{a}_{\ b}(x)e_{\mu}^{\ b}, \qquad (2.122)$$

$$\delta_{\alpha}\psi = -\frac{i}{2}\alpha^{ab}(x)\Sigma_{ab}\psi, \qquad (2.123)$$

$$\delta_{\alpha}\bar{\psi} = \frac{i}{2}\alpha^{ab}(x)\Sigma_{ab}\bar{\psi},\qquad(2.124)$$

where $\alpha^a_{\ b}(x)$ denotes a local rotation angle, which is anti-symmetric: $\alpha_{ab}(x) = -\alpha_{ba}(x)$, and Σ_{ab} the generator of the Lorentz group. By the use of the equation of motion $\delta S/\delta \psi = \delta S/\delta \bar{\psi} = 0$, the variation of action under the infinitesimal local Lorentz transformation is, then, expressed as

$$\delta S = \int d^d x e \mathcal{T}^{\mu}_a \delta_{\alpha} e^{\ a}_{\mu} = -\int d^d x e \mathcal{T}^{ab} \alpha_{ab}$$

$$= -\int d^d x e \frac{1}{2} (\mathcal{T}^{ab} - \mathcal{T}^{ba}) \alpha_{ab},$$

(2.125)

for arbitrary $\alpha_{ab}(x)$. Therefore, local Lorentz invariance of the action: $\delta S = 0$, results in the proposition that the anti-symmetric part of the energy-momentum tensor vanishes:

$$\mathcal{T}^{ab} - \mathcal{T}^{ba} = 0. \tag{2.126}$$

This is why we drop the term proportional to $\mathcal{T}_{ab}\omega_{\mu}^{\ ab}$ in Eq. (2.118).

Combined with the consequence of differmorphism invariance and that of local Lorentz invariance, in other words, the energy-momentum conservation law (2.121), and the symmetry property of the energy-momentum tensor (2.126), we immediately conclude that the symmetric energy-momentum tensor is also conserved for the fermionic case,

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = F_{\nu\lambda}J^{\lambda},\tag{2.127}$$

where we define the symmetric energy-momentum tensor T^{μ}

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} (\mathcal{T}^{\mu}_{\ a} e^{\nu a} + \mathcal{T}^{\nu}_{\ a} e^{\mu a}), \qquad (2.128)$$

which is clearly symmetric under $\mu \leftrightarrow \nu$ by definition.

Charge current conservation

The Lagrangian for the Dirac field (2.107) also has a gauge symmetry under the U(1) gauge transformation: $\delta_{\alpha}A_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu}\alpha$. We, therefore, have a conserved vector current J^{μ} which is coupled to the background U(1) gauge field:

$$\nabla_{\mu}J^{\mu} = 0, \quad \text{with} \quad J^{\mu} \equiv i\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\psi.$$
 (2.129)

Path-integral formula for Dirac field

We are ready to develop the path-integral formulation for the Dirac field. First of all, taking the variation of the action with respect to vielbein, we obtain the energy-momentum tensor $\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu}$ defined in Eq. (2.119) as

$$\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}\bar{\psi}(\gamma^{\mu}\overrightarrow{D}^{\nu} - \overleftarrow{D}^{\nu}\gamma^{\mu})\psi - \frac{i}{4}D_{\rho}(\bar{\psi}\{\gamma^{\mu}, \Sigma^{\nu\rho}\}\psi) + g^{\mu\nu}\mathcal{L}.$$
 (2.130)

By symmetrizing the indices, we also have the symmetric energy-momentum tensor $T^{\mu\nu}$ defined in Eq. (2.128)

$$T^{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{1}{2} (\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{T}^{\nu\mu}) = \frac{1}{4} \bar{\psi} (\gamma^{\mu} \overrightarrow{D}^{\nu} + \gamma^{\nu} \overrightarrow{D}^{\mu} - \overleftarrow{D}^{\nu} \gamma^{\mu} - \overleftarrow{D}^{\mu} \gamma^{\nu}) \psi + g^{\mu\nu} \mathcal{L}.$$
(2.131)

We have to choose which energy-momentum tensor we adopt in order to construct the local Gibbs distribution. Our choice is the symmetric energy-momentum tensor (2.131). The reason for this choice is as follows: Our guiding principal to construct the local Gibbs distribution is that we should collect a set of independent conserved quantities such as the energy, momentum, and conserved charge. We do not have to take into account the angular momentum as a conserved charge since if the energy-momentum tensor is symmetric, the associated angular momentum is trivially conserved, and hence, it is not the independent conserved quantity. One can also argue that the energy-momentum tensor appeared in relativistic hydrodynamics should be symmetric.

If we adopt the symmetric energy-momentum tensor, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr} e^{-\hat{K}} = \int \mathcal{D}\psi \mathcal{D}\bar{\psi} \exp\left(\int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau [i \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}e\frac{-1}{2}(\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\bar{0}}\overline{\partial_{\tau}}\psi - \bar{\psi}\overline{\partial_{\tau}}\gamma^{\bar{0}}\psi) - \beta_{0}^{-1}K]\right), \quad (2.132)$$

where K includes the symmetric energy-momentum tensor. Here we note that the imaginarytime derivative is not the covariant derivative but the partial derivative, because it simply arises from inner products of the adjacent state vectors introduced by the insertion of complete sets. On the other hand, the spatial derivative is the covariant derivative.

Contrary to the previous examples, we face with the problematic situation that the symmetric energy-momentum tensor does not seem to reproduce the correct Euclidean action. It is also not reasonable that the imaginary-time derivative is not covariant one, if the Euclidean action is given as that of the emergent curved spacetime. As will be shown below, these difficulties are closely related with each other, and a proper treatment again gives the correct Euclidean action in the emergent thermal spacetime.

In order to decompose the symmetric energy-momentum tensor, we use the consequence of local Lorentz invariance

$$\mathcal{T}^{ab} - \mathcal{T}^{ba} = 0 \Leftrightarrow \frac{1}{4} \bar{\psi} (\gamma^{\mu} \overrightarrow{D}_{\nu} - \gamma_{\nu} \overrightarrow{D}^{\mu} - \overleftarrow{D}_{\nu} \gamma^{\mu} + \overleftarrow{D}^{\mu} \gamma_{\nu}) \psi - \frac{i}{4} D_{\rho} (\bar{\psi} \{\gamma^{\mu}, \Sigma_{\nu}^{\ \rho}\} \psi) = 0. \quad (2.133)$$

By the virtue of this relation, we can rewrite the symmetric energy-momentum tensor as

$$T^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{\psi} (\gamma^{\mu} \overrightarrow{D}_{\nu} - \overleftarrow{D}_{\nu} \gamma^{\mu}) \psi + \delta^{\mu}_{\nu} \mathcal{L} - \frac{1}{4} \bar{\psi} (\gamma^{\mu} \overrightarrow{D}_{\nu} - \gamma_{\nu} \overrightarrow{D}^{\mu} - \overleftarrow{D}_{\nu} \gamma^{\mu} + \overleftarrow{D}^{\mu} \gamma_{\nu}) \psi$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \bar{\psi} (\gamma^{\mu} \overrightarrow{D}_{\nu} - \overleftarrow{D}_{\nu} \gamma^{\mu}) \psi + \delta^{\mu}_{\nu} \mathcal{L} - \frac{i}{4} D_{\rho} (\bar{\psi} \{\gamma^{\mu}, \Sigma_{\nu}^{\ \rho}\} \psi)$$

$$\equiv \Theta^{\mu}_{\ \nu} - \frac{i}{2} D_{\rho} \Sigma^{\mu}_{\ \nu}{}^{\rho}, \qquad (2.134)$$

where we defined the canonical part of the energy-momentum tensor $\Theta^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$, and the spin part of the angular momentum tensor $\Sigma^{\mu}_{\ \nu}{}^{\rho}$ as

$$\Theta^{\mu}_{\ \nu} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \bar{\psi} (\gamma^{\mu} \overrightarrow{D}_{\nu} - \overleftarrow{D}_{\nu} \gamma^{\mu}) \psi + \delta^{\mu}_{\nu} \mathcal{L}, \qquad (2.135)$$

$$\Sigma^{\mu \ \rho}_{\ \nu} \equiv \frac{1}{2} (\bar{\psi} \{ \gamma^{\mu}, \Sigma^{\ \rho}_{\nu} \} \psi).$$
 (2.136)

Then, we can rewrite the K as follows:

$$K = -\int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}\bar{\mu}} \left(\beta^{\bar{\nu}} T^{\bar{\mu}}_{\ \bar{\nu}} + \nu J^{\bar{\mu}}\right)$$

$$= -\int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}\bar{\mu}} \left(\beta^{\bar{\nu}} \Theta^{\bar{\mu}}_{\ \bar{\nu}} - \frac{i}{2} \beta^{\bar{\nu}} D_{\bar{\rho}} \Sigma^{\bar{\mu}}_{\ \bar{\nu}}{}^{\bar{\rho}} + \nu J^{\bar{\mu}}\right)$$

$$= -\int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}\bar{\mu}} \left(\beta^{\bar{\nu}} \Theta^{\bar{\mu}}_{\ \bar{\nu}} + \frac{i}{2} \Sigma^{\bar{\mu}}_{\ \bar{\nu}}{}^{\bar{\rho}} D_{\bar{\rho}} \beta^{\bar{\nu}} + \nu J^{\bar{\mu}}\right) + \frac{i}{2} \int dS_{\bar{t}\bar{\mu}\bar{\rho}} \Sigma^{\bar{\mu}}_{\ \bar{\nu}}{}^{\bar{\rho}} \beta^{\bar{\nu}},$$

(2.137)

where $dS_{t\bar{\rho}\bar{\mu}}$ denotes the surface element for the (d-1)-dimensional spatial region $\Sigma_{\bar{t}}$, and we used the Stokes's theorem

$$\int_{\Sigma} d\Sigma_{\bar{t}\bar{\mu}} D_{\bar{\rho}} B^{\bar{\rho}\bar{\mu}} = \int_{\partial\Sigma} dS_{\bar{t}\bar{\mu}\bar{\rho}} B^{\bar{\rho}\bar{\mu}}, \qquad (2.138)$$

satisfied for anti-symmetric tensors $B^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} = -B^{\bar{\nu}\bar{\mu}}$ to obtain the last line in Eq. (2.137). If the fields fall off sufficiently rapidly as $|\bar{x}| \to \infty$, we can neglect the surface term.

Through the careful analysis we finally get the following expression:

$$\Psi[\bar{t};\lambda,A_{\bar{\mu}}] = \log \int \mathcal{D}\psi \mathcal{D}\bar{\psi} \exp\left(S[\psi,\bar{\psi};\lambda,A_{\bar{\mu}}]\right), \qquad (2.139)$$

with

$$S[\psi,\bar{\psi};\lambda,A_{\bar{\mu}}] = \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \left(\int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\tilde{e} \left[-\frac{1}{2}\bar{\psi}(\tilde{e}_{a}^{\ \bar{\mu}}\gamma^{a}\overrightarrow{\tilde{D}}_{\mu} - \overleftarrow{\tilde{D}}_{\mu}\gamma^{a}\tilde{e}_{a}^{\ \bar{\mu}})\psi - m\bar{\psi}\psi \right] \right)$$

$$\equiv \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\tilde{e}\tilde{\mathcal{L}}(\psi,\bar{\psi},\tilde{D}_{\mu}\psi,\tilde{D}_{\mu}\bar{\psi};\tilde{e}_{\bar{\mu}}^{\ a},\tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}}),$$

$$(2.140)$$

where we define the (inverse) thermal vielbein $\tilde{e}_{\bar{\mu}}^{\ a}$ $(\tilde{e}_{a}^{\ \bar{\mu}})$

$$\tilde{e}_{\bar{0}}{}^{a} = e^{\sigma} u^{a}, \quad \tilde{e}_{\bar{i}}{}^{a} = e_{\bar{i}}{}^{a},$$
(2.141)

$$\tilde{e}_{a}^{\ \bar{0}} = e_{a}^{\ \bar{0}} \frac{e^{-\sigma}}{u^{\bar{0}}}, \quad \tilde{e}_{a}^{\ \bar{i}} = e_{a}^{\ \bar{i}} - e_{a}^{\ \bar{0}} \frac{u^{i}}{u^{\bar{0}}}.$$
(2.142)

Here, the thermal vielbein satisfies relations

$$\tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} = \tilde{e}_{\bar{\mu}}^{\ a} \tilde{e}_{\bar{\nu}}^{\ b} \eta_{ab}, \quad \eta^{ab} = \tilde{e}_{\bar{\mu}}^{\ a} \tilde{e}_{\bar{\nu}}^{\ b} \tilde{g}^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}},$$
(2.143)

and the inverse vielbein satisfies $\delta^{\bar{\nu}}_{\bar{\mu}} = \tilde{e}^{\ a}_{\bar{\mu}} \tilde{e}^{\ \bar{\nu}}_{a}$, $\delta^{b}_{a} = \tilde{e}^{\ \bar{\mu}}_{a} \tilde{e}^{\ b}_{\bar{\mu}}$. Compared with the relations such as Eq. (2.105) which the original vielbein satisfies, it is properly considered as the vielbein associated with the emergent thermal spacetime. We also introduced the covariant derivative of the imaginary time as

$$\tilde{D}_{\bar{\mu}} \equiv \tilde{\partial}_{\bar{\mu}} - i\tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}} - i\frac{1}{2}\tilde{\omega}_{\bar{\mu}}^{\ ab}\Sigma_{ab}, \qquad (2.144)$$

with $\tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}} \equiv (e^{\sigma}\mu, A_{\bar{i}})$ and the spin connection $\tilde{\omega}_{\bar{\mu}}^{ab}$ in the thermal tilde space obtained from the (inverse) thermal vielbein in Eq. (2.141) and (2.142). This shows that the Masseiu-Planck functional is again written in terms of the Euclidean action in the emergent curved spacetime in the same way as fields with the integer spin. Although it is expressed by the thermal vielbein, there exists no torsion, and the structure of the emergent thermal space is completely same as the previous case.

2.4 Symmetries of emergent thermal spacetime

In the previous section, we have shown that the Masseiu-Planck functional under local thermal equilibrium for any quantum field from spin 0 to spin 1 is written in terms of a language of the emergent curved spacetime background, whose line element again has the form of the ADM metric:

$$ds^2 = -(\tilde{N}d\tilde{t})^2 + \gamma_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}(\tilde{N}^{\bar{i}}d\tilde{t} + d\bar{x}^{\bar{i}})(\tilde{N}^{\bar{j}}d\tilde{t} + d\bar{x}^{\bar{j}}), \qquad (2.145)$$

with $\tilde{N} \equiv Nu^{\bar{0}}e^{\sigma}$, $\tilde{N}_{\bar{i}} = e^{\sigma}u_{\bar{i}}$, and $d\tilde{t} = -id\tau$. We schematically show what we have accomplished in Fig. 2.4. This gives an extension of the imaginary-time formalism in the case of local thermal equilibrium (compare Fig. 2.1 with Fig. 2.4). While the global thermal field theory is formulated under the flat Euclidean spacetime the local thermal field theory can be formulated





Figure 2.4: Schematic picture of the imaginary-time formalism for local thermal equilibrium.

under a curved Euclidean spacetime background. The metric $\tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}$, or the vielbein $\tilde{e}_{\bar{\mu}}^{a}$, which controls the structure of the emergent thermal spacetime, is determined by the thermodynamic parameters such as the local temperature $e^{\sigma} \equiv \beta(x)/\beta_{0}$, and the fluid-four velocity $u^{\mu}(x)$ as in Eq. (2.62), and thus the imaginary-time radius manifestly depends on the spatial coordinate as shown in Fig. 2.4. We, therefore, call $\tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}$, and $\tilde{e}_{\bar{\mu}}^{a}$ as the thermal metric, and the thermal vielbein. The line element, ds^{2} is not real because $d\tilde{t}$ is imaginary, so that the action $S[\varphi, \lambda]$ is in general complex, which may cause the sign problem in lattice simulations. This expression of the thermal metric does not explicitly depend on the choice of the original shift vector $N^{\bar{i}}$.

We have also considered the conserved current which couples to the external U(1) gauge field. It is described by the presence of a background U(1) gauge connection which is slightly modified by the (local) chemical potential $\mu(x)$ as

$$\tilde{A} = \tilde{A}_{\bar{0}}d\tilde{t} + \tilde{A}_{\bar{i}}d\bar{x}^{\bar{i}}, \qquad (2.146)$$

47

with $A_{\bar{0}} \equiv e^{\sigma} \mu$. Since the time component of the original external field does not appear in our construction, gauge invariance is only attached to the spatial component.

In this section, we demonstrate symmetries of this emergent thermal spacetime, and the background U(1) gauge connection. First, we show the most prominent symmetry property related to our imaginary-time formalism, that is, the Kaluza-Klein gauge symmetry of the Masseiu-Planck functional in Sec. 2.4.1. We next see that it also has (d-1)-dimensional spatial diffeomorphism invariance in Sec. 2.4.2. In addition to these spacetime symmetries, we finally see the symmetric properties for the background U(1) gauge connection in Sec. 2.4.3. These symmetry arguments lay out a foundation to derive hydrodynamic equations in subsequent chapters. For example, in the subsequent chapters, we will write down the possible form of the Massieu-Planck functional within the derivative expansion using above symmetric properties.

2.4.1 Kaluza-Klein gauge symmetry

First of all, we point out that the structure of the emergent thermal spacetime is invariant under the global imaginary-time translation, since the thermodynamic parameters λ^a such as the local temperature and fluid-four velocity do not depend on the imaginary time τ , and thus $\tilde{t} = -i\tau$. Furthermore, we also have a local symmetry by the spatial coordinate-dependent redefinition of the imaginary time. In order to demonstrate this symmetry, we rewrite the line element from the ADM form to the Kaluza-Klein one as

$$ds^{2} = -e^{2\sigma} (d\tilde{t} + a_{\bar{i}} d\bar{x}^{\bar{i}})^{2} + \gamma_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}' d\bar{x}^{\bar{i}} d\bar{x}^{\bar{j}}, \qquad (2.147)$$

where we defined

$$a_{\overline{i}} \equiv -e^{-\sigma} u_{\overline{i}}, \quad \gamma'_{\overline{ij}} \equiv \gamma_{\overline{ij}} + u_{\overline{i}} u_{\overline{j}}.$$

$$(2.148)$$

Here we used $\tilde{g}_{\bar{0}\bar{0}} = -\tilde{N}^2 + \tilde{N}_{\bar{i}}\tilde{N}^{\bar{i}} = -e^{2\sigma}$. In this parametrization, the square root of determinant of the thermal metric becomes $\sqrt{-\tilde{g}} = \tilde{N}\sqrt{\gamma} = e^{\sigma}\sqrt{\gamma'}$. This parametrization of the Massieu-Planck functional was discussed in Ref. [41]. Following Refs. [41, 42], we can easily see that this metric is invariant under the local transformation (the Kaluza-Klein gauge transformation),

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{t} \to \tilde{t} + \chi(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}), \\ \bar{\boldsymbol{x}} \to \bar{\boldsymbol{x}}, \\ a_{\bar{i}}(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}) \to a_{\bar{i}}(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}) - \partial_{\bar{i}}\chi(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}), \end{cases}$$
(2.149)

where $\chi(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}})$ is an arbitrary function of the spatial coordinates. We note that the original induced metric $\gamma_{i\bar{j}}$ nonlinearly transforms under this transformation since $\gamma'_{i\bar{j}}$ does not change, so that γ is not Kaluza-Klein gauge invariant.

This symmetry enables us to restrict possible terms that appear in the construction of the Massieu-Planck functional [41]. In fact, while this symmetry does not restrict a dependence on the dilaton sector, that is the local temperature $e^{\sigma} = \beta(x)/\beta_0$, it strongly does on the thermal Kaluza-Klein gauge field $a_{\bar{i}}$. For example, $a_{\bar{i}}$ appears in the Massieu-Planck functional only through the gauge invariant combination such as the field strength $f_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}$ defined by

$$f_{\bar{i}\bar{j}} \equiv \partial_{\bar{i}}a_{\bar{j}} - \partial_{\bar{j}}a_{\bar{i}}.$$
(2.150)

As is shown in Sec. 2.4.3, it is also controlled by the Kaluza-Klein symmetry how the Masseiu-Planck functional depends on the external gauge field $A_{\bar{i}}$.

2.4.2 Spatial diffeomorphism symmetry

As is developed in Sec. 2.2.1, utilizing the ADM decomposition, we introduced the spatialcoordinate systems $\bar{\boldsymbol{x}} = \bar{\boldsymbol{x}}(x)$ on a spacelike hypersurface $\Sigma_{\bar{t}}$. The spatial coordinate systems are described by the original induced metric $\gamma_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}$, or equivalently the modified one $\gamma'_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}$.

If we recall the simple fact that Physics does not depend on our choice of the spatialcoordinate systems $\bar{\boldsymbol{x}} = \bar{\boldsymbol{x}}(x)$, we can easily see that the Masseiu-Planck functional Ψ is invariant under the (d-1)-dimensional spatial diffeomorphism

$$\bar{\boldsymbol{x}} \to \bar{\boldsymbol{x}}'(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}).$$
 (2.151)

This spatial diffeomorphism invariance also restricts possible terms that could appear in the construction of the Massieu-Planck functional. For example, γ' appears only in combination with $d^{d-1}\bar{x}$, i.e., $d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{\gamma'} = d\Sigma_{\bar{t}}Ne^{-\sigma}$. Note that we use $\sqrt{\gamma'}$ instead of $\sqrt{\gamma}$. This is because the modified γ' is Kaluza-Klein gauge invariant while the original one γ is not invariant.

2.4.3 Gauge connection and gauge symmetry

In the presence of the conserved U(1) current coupled to the external field $A_{\bar{i}}$, we have also the background U(1) gauge connection (2.146) at the same time as the emergent thermal space (2.145), or (2.147). As is already mentioned, we do not have the time-component of the original external field $A_{\bar{0}}$, and the Masseiu-Planck functional is invariant under

$$A_{\bar{i}}(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}) \to A_{\bar{i}}(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}) + \partial_{\bar{i}}\alpha(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}).$$
 (2.152)

Note that we do not have invariance under the transformation $A_{\bar{0}}(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}) \to A_{\bar{0}}(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}) + \partial_{\bar{t}}\alpha(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}})$.

Since $A_{\bar{i}}$ is not Kaluza-Klein gauge invariant from the same reason that the original induced metric $\gamma_{\bar{i}\bar{j}}$ is not, it is convenient to rewrite the gauge connection (2.146) in a similar way with Eq. (2.147) as follows:

$$\tilde{A} = \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\bar{0}}(d\tilde{t} + a_{\bar{i}}d\bar{x}^{\bar{i}}) + \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\bar{i}}d\bar{x}^{\bar{i}}, \qquad (2.153)$$

where the modified gauge field $\tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}}$ is defined as

$$\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\bar{0}} \equiv \tilde{A}_{\bar{0}} = e^{\sigma}\mu, \quad \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\bar{i}} \equiv \tilde{A}_{\bar{i}} - \tilde{A}_{\bar{0}}a_{\bar{i}} = A_{\bar{i}} - e^{\sigma}\mu a_{\bar{i}}.$$
(2.154)

From Eq. (2.153), it becomes clear that this modified gauge field \tilde{A}_{μ} remains invariant under the Kaluza-Klein gauge transformation (2.149), since the combination $d\tilde{t} + a_{\bar{i}}d\bar{x}^{\bar{i}}$ is unchanged. Moreover, this modified background gauge field behaves in the same manner as the original one under the gauge transformation in Eq. (2.152), We, therefore, rephrase that the Masseiu-Planck functional is invariant under

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\bar{i}}(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}) \to \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\bar{i}}(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}) + \partial_{\bar{i}}\alpha(\bar{\boldsymbol{x}}).$$
(2.155)

From this useful property, we use the modified gauge field $A_{\bar{\mu}}$ instead of the original one.

2.5 Brief summary

The main results of this chapter can be summarized as follows:

• We have introduced the local Gibbs distribution in Eqs. (2.35)-(2.36), which describes locally thermalized systems, and shown the variation formula (2.55) (Sec. 2.2).



Figure 2.5: Comparison between the global thermal equilibrium (a) and local thermal equilibrium states (b). The figure is taken from [1].

- We have derived the path-integral formula of the Masseiu-Planck functional, and shown that it is written in terms of the emergent curved spacetime background (Sec. 2.3).
- We have elucidated the symmetry properties of the emergent curved spacetime: Kaluza-
- Klein gauge symmetry, spatial diffeomorphism symmetry, and gauge symmetry (Sec. 2.4).

The imaginary-time formalism for systems under local thermal equilibrium, in which the density operator is given by the local Gibbs distribution, is presented on the basis of the path-integral formulation. Through the detailed analysis on representative examples of quantum fields from the scalar fields to spinor fields, we have reached the conclusion that the Masseiu-Planck functional is written in terms of the path integral of the Euclidean action in the emergent curved spacetime. In Fig. 2.5, we show a schematic picture of a locally thermalized state by comparing it with that of the globally thermalized one. While the global thermal field theory is formulated under the flat Euclidean spacetime as shown in Fig. 2.5(a), the local thermal field theory can be formulated under a curved spacetime background as shown in Fig. 2.5(b).

This emergent curved spacetime has one imaginary-time direction, and d-1 spatial directions, and possesses the intrinsic symmetries associated with the local Gibbs distribution. They are the Kaluza-Klein gauge symmetry, the spatial diffeomorphism symmetry, and the gauge symmetry for the background gauge field. Since we also show that the Masseiu-Planck functional is regarded as the generating functional for the average values of the conserved current operator over the local Gibbs distribution, it gives a solid basis that the Masseiu-Planck functional to enjoy these symmetries in order to derive the hydrodynamic equations. This symmetry argument will be aggressively used in the subsequent chapters.

Chapter 3

Relativistic hydrodynamics

In this chapter, we derive relativistic hydrodynamics from quantum field theories by assuming that the density operator is given by a local Gibbs distribution at initial time. In order to derive hydrodynamic equations, we first rearrange the density operator into a more useful form to perform derivative expansions. This procedure is similar with the way to manage perturbative expansions in weakly interacting quantum theories based on the interaction picture. It enables us to decompose the energy-momentum tensor and conserved charge current into nondissipative and dissipative parts, and to analyze their time evolution in detail. As a result, it gives a solid basis to construct the constitutive relations order-by-order. In addition to the constitutive relations, it also brings Green-Kubo formulas for the transport coefficients such as the shear viscosity, bulk viscosity, and charge conductivity, in which they are expressed as correlation functions of conserved current operators [74, 75, 76]. We also show how useful is the pathintegral formula and emergent symmetries for the Masseiu-Planck functional derived in the previous chapter to derive the nondissipative part of the constitutive relations.

This chapter is organized as follows: In Sec. 3.1, through the simple example of a classical Hamiltonian system, we first review a way to derive the second law of thermodynamics on the basis of the recent development of nonequilibrium statistical mechanics. In Sec. 3.2, considering the time evolution of hydrodynamic variables, we develop a general basis to derive hydrodynamic equations order-by-order. We also verify the second law of thermodynamics, which reproduce a perfect fluid. In Sec. 3.4, we derive first-order dissipative correction in relativistic hydrodynamics, which gives relativistic versions of the Navier-Stokes equation. We also discuss the so-called frame ambiguity and its choice from the point of view of our setup. Sec. 3.5 is devoted to a short summary of this chapter.

The materials presented from Sec. 3.2 to Sec. 3.5 are based on our original work in collaboration with Yoshimasa Hidaka (RIKEN), Tomoya Hayata (RIKEN), and Toshifumi Noumi (Hong Kong University of Science and Technology) [1].

3.1 Basic nonequilibrium statistical mechanics

Second law of thermodynamics for isolated system

Here we illustrate how the second law of thermodynamics for a classical particle system is implemented in the modern nonequilibrium statistical mechanics [137]. Let us consider a classical N particle system trapped in the thermally isolated container with a piston which is mechanically manageable by an outside force (see Fig. 3.1). The position of the piston is denoted by $\nu(t)$. The phase space variable is $\Gamma = (\mathbf{r}_1, \dots, \mathbf{r}_N, \mathbf{p}_1, \dots, \mathbf{p}_N) \equiv (\{\mathbf{r}_i\}, \{\mathbf{p}_i\})$, where \mathbf{r}_i and \mathbf{p}_i denote the position and momentum of i-th particle, respectively. The time evolution of this system is governed by Hamilton's equation of motion

$$\frac{d\boldsymbol{r}_i}{dt} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial \boldsymbol{p}_i}, \quad \frac{d\boldsymbol{p}_i}{dt} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial \boldsymbol{r}_i}, \quad (i = 1, \cdots, N)$$
(3.1)

where Hamiltonian is given by

$$H(\Gamma;\nu) = \sum_{i} \frac{p_{i}^{2}}{2m} + V(\{\boldsymbol{r}_{i}\};\nu), \quad \text{with} \quad V(\{\boldsymbol{r}_{i}\};\nu) = \sum_{i< j} V(\boldsymbol{r}_{i} - \boldsymbol{r}_{j}) + \sum_{i} V(\boldsymbol{r}_{i};\nu). \quad (3.2)$$

Here $V(\{r_i\}; \nu)$ denotes the potential term composed of short range interactions between particles and also between particles and the piston, whose detailed form need not be specified in our discussion.

Then, we manipulate the position of the piston $\nu(t)$ from t = 0 to $t = \tau$ so that we finally restore the position of the piston

$$\nu(t): 0 \le t \le \tau, \quad \nu_0 \equiv \nu(0) = \nu(\tau) \equiv \nu_1.$$
(3.3)

Starting from an initial phase space point Γ , the system evolves as $\Gamma \to \Gamma_{\tau}$ under this manipulation, which is completely determined by Hamilton's equation (3.1) with time-dependent Hamiltonian (3.2). Here we define work done by the outsider as the energy difference between initial and final states,

$$W(\Gamma) = H(\Gamma_{\tau}; \nu_1) - H(\Gamma; \nu_0), \qquad (3.4)$$

where we distinctively write the initial and final positions of the piston as ν_0 and ν_1 although they coinside with each other: $\nu_0 = \nu_1$,

Then, the second law of thermodynamics in this situation is presented as follows.

For the system staying in an equilibrium state, the expectation values of work under any manipulation always gives a positive value

$$\langle W(\Gamma) \rangle_{\text{eq}} \ge 0,$$
 (3.5)

where $\langle \cdots \rangle_{eq}$ means the average over equilibrium states.



Figure 3.1: Setup for discussion of the second law of thermodynamics.

Proof of second law of thermodynamics and Jarzynski equality

Here we give a quick proof of the second law of thermodynamics based on statistical mechanics. The most crucial question here is what equilibrium states, or $\langle W(\Gamma) \rangle_{eq}$, actually mean. We put an assumption that this average is regarded as the canonical Gibbs ensemble average over the initial state Γ with an inverse temperature β . In other words, we interpret $\langle W(\Gamma) \rangle_{eq}$ as

$$\langle W(\Gamma) \rangle_{\text{eq}} \to \langle W(\Gamma) \rangle_G = \int d\Gamma \frac{1}{Z_{\beta,\nu_0}} e^{-\beta H(\Gamma;\nu_0)} W(\Gamma),$$
 (3.6)

where the partition function is $Z = \int d\Gamma e^{-\beta H_{\nu_0}(\Gamma)}$. Then, what we would like to show becomes the next inequality

$$\langle W(\Gamma) \rangle_G \ge 0. \tag{3.7}$$

(Proof)

In order to prove the inequality (3.7), we first evaluate the expectation values of $e^{-\beta W(\Gamma)}$.

$$\langle e^{-\beta W(\Gamma)} \rangle_{G} = \int d\Gamma \frac{1}{Z_{\beta,\nu_{0}}} e^{-\beta H(\Gamma;\nu_{0})} e^{-\beta W(\Gamma)} = \frac{1}{Z_{\beta,\nu_{0}}} \int d\Gamma_{\tau} \left| \frac{d\Gamma}{d\Gamma_{\tau}} \right| e^{-\beta H(\Gamma;\nu_{0})} e^{-\beta (H(\Gamma_{\tau};\nu_{1}) - H(\Gamma;\nu_{0}))} = \frac{1}{Z_{\beta,\nu_{0}}} \int d\Gamma_{\tau} e^{-\beta H(\Gamma_{\tau};\nu_{1})} = \frac{Z_{\beta,\nu_{1}}}{Z_{\beta,\nu_{0}}},$$

$$(3.8)$$

where we used the definition of work and changed the integration variable to obtain the second line. To proceed to the third line, we used the Liouville's theorem, $|d\Gamma/d\Gamma_{\tau}| = 1$, which follows from the fact that our system is governed by Hamiltonian dynamics. Since we restore the position of the piston, taking $\nu_0 = \nu_1$, we obtain $\langle e^{-\beta W} \rangle_{eq} = 1$ from the equality (3.8). Recalling that the inequality $e^{-x} \ge -x+1$ holds for any real variable x, and putting $x = -\beta W$ we eventually obtain

$$1 = \langle e^{-\beta W(\Gamma)} \rangle_{\text{eq}} \ge -\beta \langle W(\Gamma) \rangle_{\text{eq}} + 1.$$
(3.9)

This leads to (3.7).

Noting that the partition function is given by $Z_{\beta,\nu} = e^{-\beta F(\beta,\nu)}$, where $F(\beta,\nu)$ denotes the Helmholtz free energy, we can rewrite the equality (3.8) as

$$\langle e^{-\beta W(\Gamma)} \rangle_{\text{eq}} = e^{-\beta (F(\beta,\nu_1) - F(\beta,\nu_0))}.$$
(3.10)

This is called the Jarzynski equality [138], which relates the expectation value of any nonequilibrium work¹ to the difference of the equilibrium thermodynamic free energies. This kind of equalities and the fluctuation theorems [139, 140, 141, 142, 143, 144, 145, 146, 147] are called the nonequilibrium identities, which gives the generalization of the second law of thermodynamics.

Before closing this subsection, we make a short comment on our proof. The most important assumption in our proof is that we introduce the proper statistical ensemble only for the initial state, and the final state does not belong to the canonical one. If we permit that the final state also belongs to the canonical one, considering the inverse manipulation, we obtain the result that a similar identity holds for inverse work. This results in a failure to prove the second law of thermodynamics. Therefore, one way to implement the second law of thermodynamics for isolated systems is first to find the proper statistical ensemble, and then, to introduce it only in the initial state. Throughout this thesis, we adopt this strategy to derive the hydrodynamic equations from underlying microscopic theories.

3.2 Basis for derivative expansion

In this section, we give a way to describe the time evolution of conserved current operators, and in Sec. 3.2.1, we develop a way to describe time evolution of the expectation values of local operators. In Sec. 3.2.2, we set up a self-consistent equation which allows us to give the constitutive relations, and to evaluate the average values of the conserved current operators such as the energy-momentum tensor and conserved charge current.

3.2.1 Time evolution

Decomposition of density operator

In the previous chapter, we considered the local thermodynamics on the hypersurface. Here, we discuss the time evolution of the expectation values of local operators. In quantum field theory, the expectation value of any local operator is given by

$$\langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}(x) \rangle = \operatorname{Tr} \hat{\rho}_0 \hat{\mathcal{O}}(x),$$
 (3.11)

where $\hat{\rho}_0$ is the density operator at initial time. Since we employ the Heisenberg picture, the average is always taken over the initial density operator $\hat{\rho}_0$.

¹ Note that we do not put any constraint on work like the quasi-static property, the thermodynamic second law (3.7), and Jarzynski equality (3.10) hold for any rapid manipulation of the piston.

We would like to describe the time evolution of hydrodynamic variables $c_a(x)$ in particular. If the constitutive relation is obtained, i.e., if $\langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^{\mu} \rangle$ is expressed as a functional of c_a or conjugate variables λ^a , its time-evolution equation (hydrodynamic equation) is given by the continuity equation $\nabla_{\mu} \langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^{\mu} \rangle = \delta_a^{\nu} F_{\nu\lambda} \langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\lambda} \rangle$. Therefore, our problem is how we can evaluate the average values of the conserved current operators in terms of λ^a . To obtain the constitutive relation

$$\langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^\mu(x) \rangle = \mathcal{J}_a^\mu[\lambda^a(x)], \qquad (3.12)$$

it is useful to decompose $\langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle$ into nondissipative and dissipative parts, $\langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle = \langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} + \langle \delta \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle$. The nondissipative part $\langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}$ is obviously a functional of $\lambda^{a}(x)$ and does not contain the information of the past state. On the other hand, we need the information of the past state to evaluate $\langle \delta \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle$. The purpose of this section is to derive the self-consistent equation to determine $\langle \delta \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle$.

At a very early stage of time evolution, the system will be far from equilibrium in a state that cannot be characterized by only thermodynamic or hydrodynamic variables. In this stage, microscopic degrees of freedom play an important role to determine the time evolution of the system. In contrast, at later times, we expect the system to be characterized by the thermodynamic variables whose time evolution is governed by the hydrodynamic equations. In this thesis, we assume that at the time \bar{t}_0 , the density operator is given by a local Gibbs one, $\hat{\rho}_0 \equiv \hat{\rho}_{\mathrm{LG}}[\bar{t}_0; \lambda]$, although, in general, this is not exact but only approximate. As we will see below, once we assume this initial condition, the time-evolution equation can be rewritten as a compact form.

In order to evaluate the expectation value of $\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x)$ at the point $x^{\mu} \in \Sigma_{\bar{t}}$ for $\bar{t} > \bar{t}_{0}$, we rearrange the density operator into the new local Gibbs distribution with a new set of thermodynamic parameters $\lambda^{a}(x)$ on $\Sigma_{\bar{t}}$ and the other:

$$\hat{\rho}(\bar{t}_0) = \exp\left(-\hat{S}[\bar{t}_0;\lambda]\right) = \exp\left(-\hat{S}[\bar{t};\lambda] + \hat{\Sigma}[\bar{t},\bar{t}_0;\lambda]\right),\tag{3.13}$$

where we defined $\hat{\Sigma}[\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0; \lambda] \equiv \hat{S}[\bar{t}; \lambda] - \hat{S}[\bar{t}_0; \lambda]$. We can express $\hat{\Sigma}[\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0; \lambda]$ as the divergence of the entropy current operator as

$$\hat{\Sigma}[\bar{t},\bar{t}_0;\lambda] = \int_{\bar{t}_0}^{\bar{t}} d\bar{s}\partial_{\bar{s}} \int d\Sigma_{\bar{s}\mu} \hat{s}^\mu = \int_{\bar{t}_0}^{\bar{t}} d\bar{s} \int d\Sigma_{\bar{s}} N \nabla_\mu \hat{s}^\mu.$$
(3.14)

In the last line, we used the Eq. (2.47). Let us evaluate the explicit form of $\nabla_{\mu}\hat{s}^{\mu}$. From the definition of the entropy current in Eq. (2.44), the divergence of the entropy current leads to

$$\nabla_{\mu}\hat{s}^{\mu} = -(\nabla_{\mu}\Lambda^{a})\hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\mu}_{a} + \nabla_{\mu}\psi^{\mu}, \qquad (3.15)$$

where we used the continuity equations $\nabla_{\mu} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} = \delta_{\nu}^{a} F_{a\lambda} \hat{J}^{\lambda}$, and the definition of $\nabla_{\mu} \Lambda^{a}$ is given in Eq. (2.48). We can read the divergence of ψ^{μ} from Eq. (2.46) as

$$\nabla_{\mu}\psi^{\mu} = (\nabla_{\mu}\Lambda^{a})\langle\hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\mu}_{a}\rangle^{\mathrm{LG}}_{t}.$$
(3.16)

Then, the divergence of the entropy current operator reads

$$\nabla_{\mu}\hat{s}^{\mu} = -(\nabla_{\mu}\Lambda^{a})\delta\hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\mu}_{a} = -(\nabla_{\mu}\beta^{\nu})\delta\hat{T}^{\mu}_{\ \nu} - (\nabla_{\mu}\nu + F_{\nu\mu}\beta^{\nu})\delta\hat{J}^{\mu}, \qquad (3.17)$$

where we defined $\delta \hat{\mathcal{O}} \equiv \hat{\mathcal{O}} - \langle \hat{\mathcal{O}} \rangle_{t}^{\text{LG}}$. The entropy production rate $\langle \nabla_{\mu} \hat{s}^{\mu} \rangle$ is in general nonzero. When we decompose the expectation value of the current as $\langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle = \langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle_{t}^{\text{LG}} + \langle \delta \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle, \langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle_{t}^{\text{LG}}$ can be identified as the nondissipative part because it does not contribute to the entropy production rate, while $\langle \delta \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle$ can be identified as the dissipative part.

We will treat $\hat{\Sigma}[\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0; \lambda]$ as a perturbation term in the derivative expansion because $\nabla_{\mu} \hat{s}^{\mu}$ is proportional to the derivatives of the parameters, $\nabla_{\mu} \Lambda^a$. In order to expand $\hat{\rho}(\bar{t}_0)$ with respect to $\hat{\Sigma}[\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0; \lambda]$, we decompose the density operator as

$$\hat{\rho}(\bar{t}_0) = \hat{\rho}_{\rm LG}(\bar{t})\hat{U}(\bar{t},\bar{t}_0), \qquad (3.18)$$

where $\hat{U}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0)$ is defined as

$$\hat{U}(\bar{t},\bar{t}_0) \equiv T_\tau \exp\left(\int_0^1 d\tau \hat{\Sigma}_\tau[\bar{t},\bar{t}_0;\lambda]\right), \quad \text{with} \quad \hat{\Sigma}_\tau[\bar{t},\bar{t}_0;\lambda] \equiv e^{\tau \hat{K}[\bar{t};\lambda]} \hat{\Sigma}[\bar{t},\bar{t}_0;\lambda] e^{-\tau \hat{K}[\bar{t};\lambda]}, \quad (3.19)$$

where T_{τ} denotes τ ordering. The expectation value of an operator $\hat{\mathcal{O}}(x)$ on a new hypersurface $\Sigma_{\bar{t}}$ is given by

$$\langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}(x) \rangle = \langle \hat{U} \hat{\mathcal{O}}(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}},$$
(3.20)

where $\langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} \equiv \mathrm{Tr} \, \hat{\rho}_{\mathrm{LG}}[\bar{t};\lambda] \hat{\mathcal{O}}(x)$. As we mentioned already, this is analogous to the perturbation theory in the interaction picture in quantum field theories.

Nonequilibrium identity and the second law of thermodynamics

If one takes $\hat{\mathcal{O}} = \hat{U}^{-1}$ in Eq. (3.20), it brings about an identity $\langle \hat{U}^{-1} \rangle = 1$ corresponding to the so-called integral fluctuation theorem in nonequilibrium statistical mechanics [47]. This kind of identities and the Jarzynski equality, provide a generalization of the second law of thermodynamics, and are called the nonequilibrium identities. If we apply the Klein's inequality (see, e.g., Ref. [148]),

$$\operatorname{Tr}\hat{\rho}\ln\hat{\rho} - \operatorname{Tr}\hat{\rho}\ln\hat{\rho}' \ge 0, \qquad (3.21)$$

and choosing $\hat{\rho} = \hat{\rho}(\bar{t}_0) = \hat{\rho}_{LG}[\bar{t}_0; \lambda]$ and $\hat{\rho}' = \hat{\rho}_{LG}[\bar{t}; \lambda]$, we find an inequality similar to the second law of thermodynamics:

$$\langle \hat{S}[\bar{t};\lambda] \rangle - \langle \hat{S}[\bar{t}_0;\lambda] \rangle \ge 0. \tag{3.22}$$

This implies that average values of the total entropy at $\bar{t}(>\bar{t}_0)$ is always larger than that at \bar{t}_0 . We note that this is a general result without the derivative expansion, and satisfies for arbitrary values of the parameters λ^a , but, it does not ensure the positivity of the entropy production at each time. In order to check the positivity of the entropy-current divergence at each time, we need to study $\langle \nabla_{\mu} \hat{s}^{\mu} \rangle$ using the order-by-order constitutive relations.

Entropy production formula

The entropy production operator $\hat{\Sigma}[\bar{t}, \bar{t}_9; \lambda]$ is formally expressed by the use of the divergence of the entropy current in Eq. (3.14), but parameters $\lambda^a(x)$ at the point $x^{\mu} \in \Sigma_{\bar{t}}$ for $\bar{t} > \bar{t}_0$ is not yet specified. In fact, since Eq. (3.20) is an identity, it holds for any parameters λ^a . We, therefore, need a reasonable condition to fix the thermodynamic parameters $\lambda^a(x)$ for $\bar{t} > \bar{t}_0$. Here we impose $\langle \hat{c}_a(x) \rangle = \langle \hat{c}_a(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}$ [56], which are explicitly given as follows:

$$n_{\mu}(x)\langle \hat{T}^{\mu}_{\ \nu}(x)\rangle = n_{\mu}(x)\langle \hat{T}^{\mu}_{\ \nu}(x)\rangle^{\text{LG}}_{\bar{t}},$$
 (3.23)

$$n_{\mu}(x)\langle \hat{J}^{\mu}(x)\rangle = n_{\mu}(x)\langle \hat{J}^{\mu}(x)\rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}.$$
(3.24)

This condition enables us to determine parameters λ^a with the help of the local thermodynamics on the new hypersurface by taking the variation of the new entropy functional through Eq. (2.43). Equations (3.23) and (3.24) also imply that the dissipative parts $\langle \delta \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^{\mu} \rangle$ are orthogonal to $n_{\mu}(x)$, i.e., $n_{\mu} \langle \delta \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^{\mu} \rangle = -\langle \delta \hat{c}_a \rangle = 0$.

In order to consider the time evolution of the expectation values of the current operators, let us start with the spatial projection operator introduced in Sec. 2.2.1,

$$P^{\mu}_{\nu} \equiv \delta^{\mu}_{\nu} + v^{\mu} n_{\nu} \quad \text{with} \quad v^{\mu} n_{\mu} = -1 \,, \quad P^{\mu}_{\nu} v^{\nu} = 0 \,, \quad P^{\mu}_{\nu} n_{\mu} = 0 \,. \tag{3.25}$$

Then, the derivative is decomposed into the time derivative and spatial derivative parts as follows

$$\nabla_{\mu} = (-v^{\nu}n_{\mu} + P^{\nu}_{\mu})\nabla_{\nu} = -\frac{n_{\mu}}{N}\nabla_{\bar{t}} + \nabla_{\perp\mu}, \qquad (3.26)$$

where $\nabla_{\bar{t}} = N v^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu}$ and $\nabla_{\perp \mu} \equiv P_{\mu}^{\ \nu} \nabla_{\nu}$ represent the time derivative and spatial derivative, respectively. With the help of this projection operator, $\hat{\Sigma}[\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0; \lambda]$ reads as

$$\hat{\Sigma}[\bar{t},\bar{t}_0;\lambda] = -\int_{\bar{t}_0}^{\bar{t}} d\bar{s} \int d\Sigma_{\bar{s}} \Big[(\nabla_{\bar{s}}\lambda^a)\delta\hat{c}_a + N(\nabla_{\perp\mu}\Lambda^a)\delta\hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^{\mu} \Big], \qquad (3.27)$$

where we used $F_{\nu\bar{0}}\beta^{\nu} = F_{\nu\bar{0}}t^{\nu} = 0$ in the hydrostatic gauge. As is clearly demonstrated in this equation, we have the time derivative of parameters $\nabla_{\bar{s}}\lambda^a$ in addition to the spatial derivatives $\nabla_{\perp\mu}\lambda^a$. We would like to eliminate this time derivative of parameters from $\hat{\Sigma}[\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0; \lambda]$. As we see below, this can be performed by formally manipulating the continuity equation, $\nabla_{\mu}\langle \hat{J}^{\mu}_{a}\rangle = \nabla_{\mu}\langle \hat{J}^{\mu}_{a}\rangle^{\mathrm{LG}}_{\bar{t}} + \nabla_{\mu}\langle \delta \hat{J}^{\mu}_{a}\rangle = 0.$

Since $\hat{S}[\bar{t};\lambda]$ does not depend on \bar{x}^i , i.e., $\nabla_{\perp\mu}\hat{S}[\bar{t};\lambda] = 0$, $\nabla_{\mu}\hat{S}[\bar{t};\lambda] = -(n_{\mu}/N)\partial_{\bar{t}}\hat{S}[\bar{t};\lambda]$, we can write the divergence of $\langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^{\mu} \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}$ as

$$\nabla_{\mu} \langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} = \mathrm{Tr} \Big[\frac{1}{N(x)} \big(\partial_{\bar{t}} e^{-\hat{S}[\bar{t};\lambda]} \big) \hat{c}_{a}(x) \Big] \\
= \frac{-1}{N(x)} \int d\Sigma'_{\bar{t}} N(x') \int_{0}^{1} d\tau \langle e^{\tau \hat{K}[\bar{t};\lambda]} \nabla_{\mu} \hat{s}^{\mu}(x') e^{-\tau \hat{K}[\bar{t};\lambda]} \hat{c}_{a}(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} \qquad (3.28) \\
= \frac{1}{N(x)} \int d\Sigma'_{\bar{t}} N(x') (\nabla_{\nu} \Lambda^{b}(x')) \big(\delta \hat{c}_{a}(x), \delta \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{b}^{\nu}(x') \big)_{\bar{t}},$$

where $(\hat{A}, \hat{B})_{\bar{t}}$ is the local Gibbs version of the Kubo-Mori-Bogoliubov inner product,

$$(\hat{A},\hat{B})_{\bar{t}} \equiv \int_0^1 d\tau \langle e^{\hat{K}\tau} \hat{A} e^{-\hat{K}\tau} \hat{B}^{\dagger} \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}, \qquad (3.29)$$

which has the following properties:

Linearity :
$$(a\hat{A} + b\hat{B}, \hat{C})_{\bar{t}} = a(\hat{A}, \hat{C})_{\bar{t}} + b(\hat{B}, \hat{C})_{\bar{t}},$$
 (3.30)

Hermite symmetry :
$$(\hat{A}, \hat{B})_{\bar{t}}^* = (\hat{B}, \hat{A})_{\bar{t}},$$
 (3.31)

Positivity: $(\hat{A}, \hat{A})_{\bar{t}} \ge 0$, $(\hat{A}, \hat{A})_{\bar{t}} = 0 \Rightarrow \hat{A} = 0$. (3.32)

Here we used $(\langle \hat{c}_a(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}, \delta \hat{\mathcal{J}}_b^{\nu}(x'))_{\bar{t}} = \langle \hat{c}_a(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} \langle \delta \hat{\mathcal{J}}_b^{\nu}(x') \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} = 0$ to obtain the last line in Eq. (3.28). Using Eq. (3.26), we find that the continuity equation $\nabla_{\mu} \langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^{\mu} \rangle = \delta_a^{\nu} F_{\nu\lambda} \langle \hat{J}^{\lambda} \rangle$ leads to

$$\int d\Sigma'_{\bar{t}} (\delta \hat{c}_a(x), \delta \hat{c}_b(x'))_{\bar{t}} \nabla_{\bar{t}} \lambda^b(x') + \int d\Sigma'_{\bar{t}} (\delta \hat{c}_a(x), \delta \hat{\mathcal{J}}_b^\nu(x'))_{\bar{t}} N(x') \nabla_{\perp\nu} \Lambda^b(x') + N(x) \nabla_\mu \langle \delta \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^\mu(x) \rangle = 0.$$
(3.33)

Multiplying Eq. (3.33) by the inverse of $(\delta \hat{c}_a(x), \delta \hat{c}_b(x'))_{\bar{t}}$, and integrating it with respect to the coordinates on the hypersurface, we obtain

$$\nabla_{\bar{t}}\lambda^{a}(x) = -\int d\Sigma'_{\bar{t}} \int d\Sigma''_{\bar{t}} (\delta\hat{c}_{a}(x), \delta\hat{c}_{b}(x'))^{-1}_{\bar{t}} (\delta\hat{c}_{b}(x'), \delta\hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\nu}_{c}(x''))_{\bar{t}} N(x') \nabla_{\perp\nu} \Lambda^{c}(x'') -\int d\Sigma'_{\bar{t}} (\delta\hat{c}_{a}(x), \delta\hat{c}_{b}(x'))^{-1}_{\bar{t}} N(x') \nabla_{\mu} \langle \delta\hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\mu}_{b}(x') \rangle.$$

$$(3.34)$$

Let us eliminate $\nabla_{\bar{s}}\lambda^a$ in $\Sigma[\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0; \lambda]$. For this purpose, it is convenient to introduce a projection operator $\hat{\mathcal{P}}$ onto $\delta \hat{c}_a$,

$$\hat{\mathcal{P}}\hat{\mathcal{O}} = \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}} \int d\Sigma'_{\bar{t}} \delta\hat{c}_a(x) (\delta\hat{c}_a(x), \delta\hat{c}_b(x'))_{\bar{t}}^{-1} (\delta\hat{c}_b(x'), \hat{\mathcal{O}})_{\bar{t}}.$$
(3.35)

This is the relativistic version of the projection operator used in Refs. [55, 149]. At global thermal equilibrium, it reduces to the Mori projection operator [150]. We have

$$(\delta \hat{c}_b(x'), \hat{\mathcal{O}})_{\bar{t}} = \frac{\delta}{\delta \lambda^b(x')} \langle \hat{\mathcal{O}} \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}, \qquad (3.36)$$

$$\left(\delta\hat{c}_a(x),\delta\hat{c}_b(x')\right)_{\bar{t}}^{-1} = \frac{\delta\lambda^b(x')}{\delta c_a(x)}.$$
(3.37)

Using Eqs. (3.36) and (3.37) and the chain rule, we can rewrite Eq. (3.35) as

$$\hat{\mathcal{P}}\hat{\mathcal{O}} = \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}} \int d\Sigma'_{\bar{t}} \delta\hat{c}_a(x) \frac{\delta\lambda^b(x')}{\delta c_a(x)} \frac{\delta}{\delta\lambda^b(x')} \langle\hat{\mathcal{O}}\rangle^{\mathrm{LG}}_{\bar{t}} = \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}} \delta\hat{c}_a(x) \frac{\delta}{\delta c_a(x)} \langle\hat{\mathcal{O}}\rangle^{\mathrm{LG}}_{\bar{t}}.$$
(3.38)

Now, by using $\hat{\mathcal{P}}$, we can eliminate $\nabla_{\bar{t}}\lambda^a$ from $\hat{\Sigma}[\bar{t},\bar{t}_0;\lambda]$, and we obtain

$$\hat{\Sigma}[\bar{t},\bar{t}_{0};\lambda] = -\int_{\bar{t}_{0}}^{t} d\bar{s} \int d\Sigma_{\bar{s}} N \Big[(\nabla_{\perp\mu}\Lambda^{a})(1-\hat{\mathcal{P}})\delta\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} - \delta\hat{\lambda}^{a}\nabla_{\mu}\langle\delta\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}\rangle \Big]
= -\int_{\bar{t}_{0}}^{\bar{t}} d\bar{s} \int d\Sigma_{\bar{s}} N \Big[(\nabla_{\perp\mu}\beta_{\nu})\tilde{\delta}\hat{T}^{\mu\nu} + (\nabla_{\perp\mu}\nu + F_{\nu\mu}\beta^{\nu})\tilde{\delta}\hat{J}^{\mu} - \delta\hat{\lambda}^{a}\nabla_{\mu}\langle\tilde{\delta}\hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}\rangle \Big].$$
(3.39)

Here we introduced $\tilde{\delta}\hat{\mathcal{O}} \equiv (1-\hat{\mathcal{P}})\delta\hat{\mathcal{O}}$, which enables us to remove the hydrodynamic modes from $\delta\hat{\mathcal{O}}$. In the second line, we replaced $\langle\delta\hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^{\mu}\rangle$ by $\langle\tilde{\delta}\hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^{\mu}\rangle$, because the expectation value of the projected operator vanishes, $\langle\hat{\mathcal{P}}\hat{\mathcal{O}}\rangle = 0$. We also defined

$$\delta\hat{\lambda}^{a}(x) \equiv \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}}' \delta\hat{c}_{b}(x') \frac{\delta\lambda^{a}(x)}{\delta c_{b}(x')}.$$
(3.40)

For later convenience, we perform the tensor decomposition for $\tilde{\delta}\hat{T}^{\mu\nu}$. Since $n_{\mu}\tilde{\delta}\hat{T}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ and $n_{\nu}\tilde{\delta}\hat{T}^{\mu\nu} = 0$, we can decompose $\tilde{\delta}\hat{T}^{\mu\nu}$ as $\tilde{\delta}\hat{T}^{\mu\nu} = h^{\mu\nu}\tilde{\delta}\hat{p} + \tilde{\delta}\hat{\pi}^{\mu\nu}$, where

$$\tilde{\delta}\hat{p} \equiv \frac{1}{d-1}h_{\rho\sigma}\tilde{\delta}\hat{T}^{\rho\sigma},\tag{3.41}$$

$$\tilde{\delta}\hat{\pi}^{\mu\nu} \equiv P^{\mu}_{\rho}P^{\nu}_{\sigma}\tilde{\delta}\hat{T}^{\rho\sigma} - \frac{h^{\mu\nu}}{d-1}h_{\rho\sigma}\tilde{\delta}\hat{T}^{\rho\sigma}, \qquad (3.42)$$

where we introduced $h^{\mu\nu} \equiv P^{\mu}_{\rho} P^{\nu}_{\sigma} g^{\rho\sigma}$ and $h_{\mu\nu}$ that satisfy $h^{\mu\rho} h_{\rho\nu} = P^{\mu}_{\nu}$.

As a result, $\Sigma[\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0; \lambda]$ reads

$$\hat{\Sigma}[\bar{t},\bar{t}_{0};\lambda] = -\int_{\bar{t}_{0}}^{\bar{t}} d\bar{s} \int d\Sigma_{\bar{s}} N \Big[(h^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\mu}\beta_{\nu}) \tilde{\delta}\hat{p} + (\nabla_{\langle\mu}\beta_{\nu\rangle}) \tilde{\delta}\hat{\pi}^{\mu\nu} + (\nabla_{\perp\mu}\nu + F_{\nu\mu}\beta^{\nu}) \tilde{\delta}\hat{J}^{\mu} - \delta\hat{\lambda}^{a} \nabla_{\mu} \langle \tilde{\delta}\hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\mu}_{a} \rangle \Big],$$
(3.43)

where we defined

$$\nabla_{\langle \mu}\beta_{\nu\rangle} \equiv \frac{P^{\rho}_{\mu}P^{\sigma}_{\nu}}{2} (\nabla_{\rho}\beta_{\sigma} + \nabla_{\sigma}\beta_{\rho}) - \frac{h_{\mu\nu}}{d-1}h^{\rho\sigma}\nabla_{\rho}\beta_{\sigma}.$$
(3.44)

We note that $\nabla_{\mu} \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle$ does not contain the explicit time derivative of the parameters, because $\nabla_{\mu} \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle = (-N^{-1}n_{\mu}\nabla_{\bar{t}} + \nabla_{\perp\mu}) \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle = (N^{-1}(\nabla_{\bar{t}}n_{\mu}) + \nabla_{\perp\mu}) \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle$, where we used $n_{\mu} \nabla_{\bar{t}} \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle = -(\nabla_{\bar{t}}n_{\mu}) \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu} \rangle$.

Since $\langle \delta \hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\mu}_{b}(x) \rangle = \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\mu}_{b}(x) \rangle$, our goal is now to solve

$$\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_b^{\mu}(x) \rangle = \langle T_\tau \exp\left(\int_0^1 d\tau \hat{\Sigma}_\tau[\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0; \lambda]\right) \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_b^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}.$$
(3.45)

Here $\hat{\Sigma}_{\tau}[\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0; \lambda]$ contains $\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_b^{\mu}(x) \rangle$ as in Eq. (3.43), so that Eq. (3.45) becomes a self-consistent equation. As we discuss in the subsequent sections, $\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_b^{\mu}(x) \rangle$ can be evaluated order-by-order in the derivative expansion with respect to the parameters.

3.2.2 Towards derivative expansion

In this subsection we lay out the way to perform the derivative expansion to derive relativistic hydrodynamic equations order-by-order. The obtained formula is used in the subsequent sections to obtain the constitutive relations up to the first order of the derivative expansion. The expectation value of the current density operator $\hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^\mu(x)$ consists of the nondissipative and dissipative parts, $\langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^\mu(x) \rangle = \langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^\mu(x) \rangle_{\tilde{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} + \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^\mu(x) \rangle$.

Nondissipative part

As was shown in Sec. 2.2.3, the nondissipative part $\langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}$ is obtained by taking the variation of the Massieu-Planck functional $\Psi[\lambda]$ with respect to the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$, or the external gauge field $A_{\bar{\mu}}$, under the condition that the time vector $\partial_{\bar{t}}x^{\mu}$ is taken to coincide with the fluid-vector $e^{\sigma}u^{\mu}$: $\partial_{\bar{t}}x^{\mu} = e^{\sigma}u^{\mu}$. In other words, we may regard $\Psi[\lambda]$ as the generating functional for the average values of the conserved current operators over the local Gibbs distribution. Therefore, the Masseiu-Planck functional contains enough information on the nondissipative part of the constitutive relation $\langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle^{\mathrm{LG}} = \mathcal{J}_{a}^{\mu}[\lambda^{a}]$.

Then, let us focus on the Massieu-Planck functional. It can be expanded as

$$\Psi[\lambda] = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \Psi^{(n)}[\lambda], \qquad (3.46)$$

where *n* denotes the order of spatial derivative $O(\nabla_{\perp}^n)^{-2}$. As was discussed in Sec. 2.4, $\Psi[\lambda]$ and therefore $\Psi^{(n)}[\lambda]$ enjoy thermal Kaluza-Klein symmetry and spatial diffeomorphism symmetry, and gauge symmetry. These symmetry arguments play an important role to construct $\Psi[\lambda]$ order-by-order. For parity symmetric theories, $\Psi^{(1)}[\lambda]$ vanishes because we cannot construct a scalar with one spatial derivative such that it is invariant under the above symmetries. On the other hand, if systems are put under the parity-violating environment such that the fermionchirality imbalance arises, this is not true, and there exists non-zero $\Psi^{(1)}[\lambda]$ in general³. We consider the situation that systems has parity symmetry in this chapter. The higher-order terms are not forbidden by parity symmetry. The second or higher order hydrodynamics can contain nondissipative terms coming from them⁴.

Dissipative part

The dissipative part $\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^{\mu}(x) \rangle$ can be expanded as

$$\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle = \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{(m,n)}, \qquad (3.47)$$

 $^{^{2}}$ On curved space, curvatures may appear in higher-derivative terms. For example, we identify the spatial curvature as the second-order derivative, because it is given by a commutator of the spatial covariant derivatives.

 $^{^3}$ This is the main subject discussed in Chapter 4.

⁴ In general, we can obtain such a second-order nondissipative part of the constitutive relation based on the symmetry arguments. This kind of analysis was first discussed in Ref. [41].

where the term labeled by (m, n) contains m temporal derivatives, $\nabla_{\bar{t}}$, and n spatial derivatives, ∇_{\perp} . In order to evaluate $\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\mu}_{a}(x) \rangle_{(n,m)}$, we expand the dissipative part $\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}^{\mu}_{a}(x) \rangle$ as

$$\begin{split} \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle &= \langle T_{\tau} \exp\left(\int_{0}^{1} d\tau \hat{\Sigma}_{\tau}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_{0})\right) \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} \\ &= \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} + \int_{0}^{1} d\tau \langle T_{\tau} \hat{\Sigma}_{\tau}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_{0}) \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} d\tau \int_{0}^{1} d\tau \langle T_{\tau} \hat{\Sigma}_{\tau}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_{0}) \hat{\Sigma}_{\tau'}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_{0}) \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} + \cdots . \end{split}$$
(3.48)

Here $\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}$ vanishes by definition. Since $\hat{\Sigma}_{\tau}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_{0})$ contains the derivative of the parameters, $\nabla_{\perp}\lambda^{a}$, $\hat{\Sigma}_{\tau}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_{0})$ is identified as of order ∇_{\perp} . We note that $\hat{\Sigma}_{\tau}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_{0})$ does not contain the temporal derivative of the parameters, $\nabla_{\bar{t}}\lambda$. This fact implies that the derivative expansion starts from $\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{(0,1)}$; i.e., $\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{(l,0)}$ for $l \geq 0$ vanishes. If one considers the *n*th order of $\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle$, one may expand Eq. (3.48) up to the *n*th order of $\hat{\Sigma}_{\tau}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_{0})$. However, we note that all correlation functions with lower orders of $\hat{\Sigma}_{\tau}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_{0})$ contribute to the *n*th order of $\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle$. This is because the expansion of the average values over the local Gibbs distribution contains the derivatives of the parameters in general. For example, when we consider the derivation of the second-order hydrodynamics, in addition to the third term in the second line of Eq. (3.48), the second term also contributes to $\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{(0,2)}$ through the derivative expansion of the correlation function $\langle T_{\tau} \hat{\Sigma}_{\tau}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_{0}) \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{(0,2)}$ through the derivative expansion of the correlation function $\langle T_{\tau} \hat{\Sigma}_{\tau}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_{0}) \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{(0,2)}$ through the derivative expansion of the correlation function $\langle T_{\tau} \hat{\Sigma}_{\tau}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_{0}) \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{(0,2)}$ through the derivative expansion of the correlation function with parity symmetry.

3.3 Zeroth-order relativistic hydrodynamics: Perfect fluid

In this section, we consider the leading order of $\langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^{\mu} \rangle$ in the derivative expansion, and show that the constitutive relations for the energy-momentum tensor and the charge current have the form of a perfect fluid.

As was discussed in Sec. 2.4, the structure of the emergent thermal space is invariant under the thermal Kaluza-Klein gauge transformation, spatial diffeomorphism, and usual gauge transformation. These symmetries strongly restrict possible terms appeared in the Masseiu-Planck functional. First, thanks to the Kaluza-Klein gauge symmetry and the gauge symmetry, $\Psi^{(0)}[\lambda]$ does not contain both of $a_{\bar{i}}$ and $A_{\bar{i}}$. Furthermore, spatial diffeomorphism invariance, together with the Kaluza-Klein gauge symmetry, restricts the γ dependence of $\Psi^{(0)}[\lambda]$ to the form proportional to $d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{\gamma'}$. They, however, do not restrict the σ and ν dependence of $\Psi^{(0)}[\lambda]$. Then, factorizing $\Psi^{(0)}[\lambda]$, we can write down the general form of the $\Psi^{(0)}[\lambda]$ as

$$\Psi^{(0)}[\lambda] = \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{d-1}\bar{x} \ e^{\sigma} \sqrt{\gamma'} p(\beta, \nu),$$

$$= \int d^{d-1}\bar{x} \ \beta' \sqrt{\gamma} p(\beta, \nu),$$

(3.49)

where $\beta' \equiv -n_{\mu}\beta^{\mu}$, $\beta = \beta_0 e^{\sigma}$, and $p(\beta, \mu)$ is the pressure of the perfect fluid as explicitly shown later. To obtain the second line, we used the relation $\beta\sqrt{\gamma'} = \beta'\sqrt{\gamma}$ and the fact that the parameters are independent of the imaginary time. Moreover, if we choose the time vector as $t^{\mu} = \beta^{\mu}$, we can equate the lapse function with β' owing to the relation $\beta' \equiv -n_{\mu}\beta^{\mu} = N$. Then, $\Psi^{(0)}[\lambda]$ is given by

$$\Psi^{(0)}[\lambda] = \int d^{d-1}\bar{x}\sqrt{-g}p(\beta,\nu).$$
(3.50)

Next, we consider the variation of ψ with respect to \bar{t} , which changes the hypersurface and n_{μ} . We obtain

$$d\psi = d(\beta' p) = p_{\mu} d\beta^{\mu} + n' d\nu - \beta^{\mu} p dn_{\mu}. \qquad (3.51)$$

Again using the relation $\beta' = -n_{\mu}\beta^{\mu}$, we obtain

$$\beta' dp = (p_\mu + pn_\mu) d\beta^\mu + n' d\nu. \tag{3.52}$$

Recalling Eq. (2.55), and using this relation and the expression of $\Psi^{(0)}[\lambda]$ in Eq. (3.49), we obtain the average values of the conserved current operators as

$$\langle \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle_{(0,0)}^{\mathrm{LG}} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta}{\delta g_{\mu\nu}(x)} \Psi^{(0)}[\lambda] = \left(-\frac{\beta}{\beta'} u^{\rho} p_{\rho} + p\right) u^{\mu} u^{\nu} + p g^{\mu\nu}$$
(3.53)

$$\langle \hat{J}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{(0,0)}^{\mathrm{LG}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta}{\delta A_{\mu}(x)} \Psi^{(0)}[\lambda] = n' \frac{\beta}{\beta'} u^{\mu}, \qquad (3.54)$$

where we used $\nu = \beta^{\mu}A_{\mu}$ to take the variation of $\Psi^{(0)}$ with respect to A_{μ} . Defining the energy density $e \equiv -\beta u^{\mu}p_{\mu}/\beta' = \langle \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle^{\text{LG}}u_{\mu}u_{\nu}$, and the charge density $n = n'\beta/\beta'$, we eventually obtain the zeroth-order expectation values of the energy-momentum tensor and the charge current as

$$\langle \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle_{(0,0)}^{\mathrm{LG}} = (e+p) u^{\mu} u^{\nu} + p g^{\mu\nu}$$
 (3.55)

$$\langle \hat{J}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{(0,0)}^{\text{LG}} = n u^{\mu},$$
 (3.56)

Equations (3.55) and (3.56) are nothing but the constitutive relations of the energy-momentum tensor and the charge current in a perfect fluid.

3.4 First-order relativistic hydrodynamics: Navier-Stokes fluid

In this section, we consider the next leading order in the derivative expansion, and derive the Navier-Stokes equation for parity-symmetric systems. In Sec. 3.4.1, we derive the first-order

derivative correction to the constitutive relation with Green-Kubo formulas for the transport coefficients. We also discuss the positivity of the entropy production rate there. In Sec. 3.4.2, we discuss the frame choice, which originates from an ambiguity in the definition of the fluid four-velocity.

3.4.1 Derivation of the Navier-Stokes fluid

First-order constitutive relation with Green-Kubo formulas

First of all, it is important to note that we need not consider the nondissipative derivative corrections coming from $\langle \hat{\mathcal{J}}_{a}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{t}^{\text{LG}}$, since $\Psi^{(1)}$ vanishes for the parity-symmetric system as is pointed out in Sec. 3.2.2. Then, Eq. (3.48) reveals that the first-order correction to the dissipative part only comes from

$$\int_0^1 d\tau \langle T_\tau \hat{\Sigma}_\tau(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0) \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^\mu(x) \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} = (\tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}_a^\mu(x), \hat{\Sigma}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0))_{\bar{t}}, \qquad (3.57)$$

where we used the Kubo-Mori-Bogoliubov inner product Eq. (3.29) and the Hermite symmetry of the inner product. The first-order corrections, therefore, read

$$\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle_{(0,1)} \simeq h^{\mu\nu} (\tilde{\delta} \hat{p}(x), \hat{\Sigma}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0))_{\bar{t}} + (\tilde{\delta} \hat{\pi}^{\mu\nu}(x), \hat{\Sigma}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0))_{\bar{t}}, \qquad (3.58)$$

$$\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{J}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{(0,1)} \simeq (\tilde{\delta} \hat{J}^{\mu}(x), \hat{\Sigma}(\bar{t}, \bar{t}_0))_{\bar{t}}.$$
 (3.59)

where \simeq denotes an equality at the first order in derivatives. The right-hand side of Eqs. (3.58) and (3.59) also contain the higher-order contributions. In the first order in the derivative expansion, we can neglect $\delta \hat{\lambda}^a \nabla_\mu \langle \delta \hat{\mathcal{J}}^\mu_a \rangle$ from the entorpy production in Eq. (3.43) because $\langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}^\mu_a \rangle = O(\nabla)$ and thus $\nabla_\mu \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\mathcal{J}}^\mu_a \rangle = O(\nabla^2)$. We can replace \hat{K} in these inner products with $\hat{P}_\mu \beta^\mu(x)$. We remark here that the dissipative corrections are orthogonal to n_μ by construction, and thus we do not need to employ n^μ or v^ν for the tensor decomposition. Therefore, we may decompose these inner products in Eqs. (3.58) and (3.59) by only using $h^{\mu\nu}$, and two-point correlation functions with odd numbers of indices, such as $(\tilde{\delta} \hat{p}(x), \tilde{\delta} \hat{J}^\mu(x'))_{\bar{t}}$, vanish. Furthermore, correlation functions with a single $\tilde{\delta} \hat{\pi}^{\mu\nu}(x)$ also vanish since $\tilde{\delta} \hat{\pi}^{\mu\nu}(x)$ is traceless and cannot be constructed only by $h^{\mu\nu}$. In consequence, we have

$$(\tilde{\delta}\hat{p}(x),\hat{\Sigma}(\bar{t},\bar{t}_{0}))_{\bar{t}} = -\int_{\bar{t}_{0}}^{\bar{t}} d\bar{t}' \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}'} N' (\tilde{\delta}\hat{p}(x),\tilde{\delta}\hat{p}(x'))_{\bar{t}} h^{\mu\nu}(x') \nabla_{\mu}\beta_{\nu}(x')$$

$$\simeq -\frac{\zeta}{\beta(x)} h^{\mu\nu}(x) \nabla_{\mu}\beta_{\nu}(x), \qquad (3.60)$$

$$(\tilde{\delta}\hat{\pi}^{\mu\nu}(x),\hat{\Sigma}(\bar{t},\bar{t}_{0}))_{\bar{t}} = -\int_{\bar{t}_{0}}^{\bar{t}} d\bar{t}' \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}'} N' (\tilde{\delta}\hat{\pi}^{\mu\nu}(x),\tilde{\delta}\hat{\pi}^{\rho\sigma}(x'))_{\bar{t}} \nabla_{\langle\rho}\beta_{\sigma\rangle}(x')$$
$$\simeq -\frac{2\eta}{\beta(x)} h^{\mu\rho}(x) h^{\nu\sigma}(x) \nabla_{\langle\rho}\beta_{\sigma\rangle}(x), \qquad (3.61)$$

$$(\tilde{\delta}\hat{J}^{\mu}(x),\hat{\Sigma}(\bar{t},\bar{t}_{0}))_{\bar{t}} = -\int_{\bar{t}_{0}}^{\bar{t}} d\bar{t}' \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}'} N'(\tilde{\delta}\hat{J}^{\mu}(x),\tilde{\delta}\hat{J}^{\nu}(x'))_{\bar{t}} \left(\nabla_{\perp\nu}\nu(x') + F_{\rho\nu}(x')\beta^{\rho}(x')\right)$$
$$\simeq -\frac{\kappa}{\beta(x)} h^{\mu\nu} \left(\nabla_{\perp\nu}\nu(x) + F_{\rho\nu}(x)\beta^{\rho}(x)\right), \qquad (3.62)$$

where we approximated $\nabla_{\mu}\lambda^{a}(x') \simeq \nabla_{\mu}\lambda^{a}(x)$, which is allowed in the first-order derivative expansion. Here the transport coefficients, ζ , η , and κ , are the bulk viscosity, the shear viscosity, and the diffusion constant, respectively. They are given by the Green-Kubo formulas [74, 75, 76]:

$$\zeta = \beta(x) \int_{-\infty}^{\bar{t}} d\bar{t}' \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}'} N'(\tilde{\delta}\hat{p}(x'), \tilde{\delta}\hat{p}(x))_{\bar{t}}, \qquad (3.63)$$

$$\eta = \frac{\beta(x)}{(d+1)(d-2)} \int_{-\infty}^{\bar{t}} d\bar{t}' \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}'} N' (\tilde{\delta}\hat{\pi}^{\mu\nu}(x'), \tilde{\delta}\hat{\pi}^{\rho\sigma}(x))_{\bar{t}} h_{\mu\rho}(x) h_{\nu\sigma}(x), \qquad (3.64)$$

$$\kappa = \frac{\beta(x)}{d-1} \int_{-\infty}^{\bar{t}} d\bar{t}' \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}'} N' (\tilde{\delta}\hat{J}^{\mu}(x'), \tilde{\delta}\hat{J}^{\nu}(x))_{\bar{t}} h_{\mu\nu}(x), \qquad (3.65)$$

where we replaced \bar{t}_0 by $-\infty$, which can be justified in the first order in the derivative expansion. We can now obtain the first-order dissipative correction to the constitutive relation, which are given as

$$\langle \delta \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle_{(0,1)} = -\frac{\zeta}{\beta} h^{\mu\nu} h^{\rho\sigma} \nabla_{\rho} \beta_{\sigma} - 2\frac{\eta}{\beta} h^{\mu\rho} h^{\nu\sigma} \nabla_{\langle \rho} \beta_{\sigma \rangle}, \qquad (3.66)$$

$$\langle \delta \hat{J}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{(0,1)} = -\frac{\kappa}{\beta} h^{\mu\nu} \left(\nabla_{\perp\nu} \nu + F_{\rho\nu} \beta^{\rho} \right) \tag{3.67}$$

Together with the nondissipative part of the constitutive relation obtained in the previous section, we obtain the complete constitutive relation up to first order as

$$\langle \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle = \langle \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle_{(0,0)}^{\mathrm{LG}} + \langle \delta \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle_{(0,1)}$$

$$= (e+p)u^{\mu}u^{\nu} + pg^{\mu\nu} - \frac{\zeta}{\beta}h^{\mu\nu}h^{\rho\sigma}\nabla_{\rho}\beta_{\sigma} - 2\frac{\eta}{\beta}h^{\mu\rho}h^{\nu\sigma}\nabla_{\langle\rho}\beta_{\sigma\rangle}, \qquad (3.68)$$

$$\langle \hat{J}^{\mu}(x) \rangle = \langle \hat{J}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{(0,0)}^{\mathrm{LG}} + \langle \delta \hat{J}^{\mu}(x) \rangle_{(0,1)}$$

= $n u^{\mu} - \frac{\kappa}{\beta} h^{\mu\rho} (\nabla_{\rho} \nu + F_{\sigma\rho} \beta^{\sigma}).$ (3.69)

Once we calculate the transport coefficients, ζ , η , κ , and the pressure $p(\beta, \nu)$ from underlying microscopic theories, we have a set of closed equations composed of the continuity equations. These are nothing but relativistic versions of the Navier-Stokes equations. We emphasize here that we derive them without choosing a frame such as the Landau-Lifshitz frame or Eckart frame.

Positivity of entropy-current divergence

As is demonstrated in Sec. 3.2.1, we obtain the nonequilibrium identity and the corresponding inequality: $\langle \hat{S}[\bar{t};\lambda] \rangle \geq \langle \hat{S}[\bar{t}_0;\lambda] \rangle$ in Eq. (3.22). Although this is a general result without the derivative expansion, this does not mean that the entropy production rate $\langle \nabla_{\mu} \hat{s}^{\mu} \rangle$ always satisfies a positivity condition, $\langle \nabla_{\mu} \hat{s}^{\mu} \rangle \geq 0$. We, nevertheless, can show that the positivity of the entropy production rate holds in the case of the first-order derivative expansion.

Using the first-order dissipative correction to the constitutive relation in Eqs. (3.66) and (3.67), the expectation value of the entropy production rate at $\bar{t} > \bar{t}_0$ is given by

$$\langle \nabla_{\mu} \hat{s}^{\mu} \rangle = -\left((h^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \beta_{\nu}) \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{p} \rangle + (\nabla_{\langle \mu} \beta_{\nu \rangle}) \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{\pi}^{\mu\nu} \rangle + (\nabla_{\perp \mu} \nu + F_{\nu\mu} \beta^{\nu}) \langle \tilde{\delta} \hat{J}^{\mu} \rangle \right)$$

$$= \frac{\zeta}{\beta} (h^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \beta_{\nu})^{2} + \frac{2\eta}{\beta} (\nabla_{\langle \mu} \beta_{\nu \rangle})^{2} + \frac{\kappa}{\beta} (\nabla_{\perp \mu} \nu + F_{\nu\mu} \beta^{\nu})^{2},$$

$$(3.70)$$

where we used a notation such as $(A_{\mu})^2 \equiv A_{\mu}A_{\nu}h^{\mu\nu} = A_{\perp\mu}A_{\perp\nu}g^{\mu\nu}$. We see that the expectation value of the entropy production is give by a quadratic form of the derivative of parameters. In addition, Green-Kubo formulas for the transport coefficients from Eq. (3.63) to Eq. (3.65) tell us the positivity of them

$$\zeta > 0, \quad \eta > 0, \quad \kappa > 0. \tag{3.71}$$

Therefore, we conclude that the positivity of the entropy production rate, namely $\langle \nabla_{\mu} \hat{s}^{\mu} \rangle \geq 0$, is always satisfied for the first-order relativistic hydrodynamics. This result serves as a justification for the phenomenological derivation of the first-order hydrodynamics reviewed in Sec. 1.1.3. We note that the positivity of the entropy production rate, or the transport coefficients, is derived in our formalism, while they need to be assumed in the phenomenological derivation.
3.4.2 Choice of frame

In relativistic hydrodynamics, we face the so-called frame ambiguity, which stems from a way to define the fluid four-velocity. One useful frame is the Landau-Lifshitz frame, in which the energy flux of a fluid element vanishes at the rest frame of the fluid. Another is the Eckart frame, in which the particle flux is absent. In our approach, the choice of v^{μ} and n_{μ} corresponds to the choice of frames. In this subsection, we show that by explicitly choosing v^{μ} and n^{μ} , our constitutive relations reproduce those in the Landau-Lifshitz and Eckart frames within the derivative expansion. For simplicity, we restrict ourselves to the case without the external gauge field during this subsection.

Landau-Lifshitz frame

The fluid four-velocity in the Landau-Lifshitz frame is defined by the condition that in the local rest frame, the energy flux of a fluid element vanishes. Then, the energy and charge densities coincide with the local thermodynamic values. In other words, the Landau-Lifshitz frame is defined by [12]

$$\langle \delta \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle u_{L\nu}(x) = 0, \quad \langle \delta \hat{J}^{\mu}(x) \rangle u_{L\mu}(x) = 0, \tag{3.72}$$

where the subscript L denotes the Landau-Lifshitz frame. We can easily see that Eq. (3.72) is satisfied if we choose $u_L^{\mu} \equiv v^{\mu} = n^{\mu} = u^{\mu}$. In this case, we have a familiar projection $h^{\mu\nu} = g^{\mu\nu} + u_L^{\mu}u_L^{\nu}$. The constitutive relations up to first order in the derivative expansion read

$$\langle \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle = (e+p)u_L^{\mu}u_L^{\nu} + pg^{\mu\nu} - 2\eta\sigma^{\mu\nu} - \zeta\theta h^{\mu\nu},$$
 (3.73)

$$\langle \hat{J}^{\mu}(x) \rangle = n u_{L}^{\mu} - \frac{\kappa}{\beta} \nabla_{\perp}^{\mu} \nu, \qquad (3.74)$$

where

$$\sigma^{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{1}{2} h^{\mu\alpha} h^{\nu\beta} (\nabla_{\alpha} u_{L\beta} + \nabla_{\beta} u_{L\alpha}) - \frac{1}{d-1} h^{\mu\nu} h^{\alpha\beta} \nabla_{\alpha} u_{L\beta}, \quad \theta \equiv \nabla_{\mu} u_{L}^{\mu}.$$
(3.75)

In this frame, we can explicitly write down the projected operators in Eqs. (3.63)-(3.65) as

$$\tilde{\delta}\hat{p} = \delta\hat{p} - \left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial n}\right)_e \delta\hat{n} - \left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial e}\right)_n \delta\hat{e},\tag{3.76}$$

$$\delta\hat{\pi}^{\mu\nu} = \delta\hat{\pi}^{\mu\nu},\tag{3.77}$$

$$\tilde{\delta}\hat{J}^{\mu} = \delta\hat{J}^{\mu} - \frac{n}{e+p}h^{\mu\nu}\delta\hat{p}_{\nu}.$$
(3.78)

To derive these equations, we used

$$\hat{\mathcal{P}}\delta\hat{p} = \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}}'\delta\hat{c}_a(x')\frac{\delta}{\delta c_a(x')}\langle\hat{p}(x)\rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}} = \left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial n}\right)_e\delta\hat{n} + \left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial e}\right)_n\delta\hat{e} + O(\nabla_{\perp}),\tag{3.79}$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{P}}\delta\hat{J}^{\mu} = \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}} \int d\Sigma'_{\bar{t}}\delta\hat{p}_{\rho}(x) (\delta\hat{p}_{\rho}(x), \delta\hat{p}_{\nu}(x'))_{\bar{t}}^{-1} (\delta\hat{p}_{\nu}(x'), \delta\hat{J}^{\mu})_{\bar{t}} = h^{\mu\nu}\delta\hat{p}_{\nu}\frac{n}{e+p} + O(\nabla_{\perp}),$$
(3.80)

where $\delta \hat{e} \equiv -u_L^{\mu} \delta \hat{p}_{\mu}$, and we used the following relations [40]:

$$\int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}} (\delta \hat{p}_{\rho}(x), \delta \hat{p}_{\nu}(x'))_{\bar{t}} = \frac{1}{\beta} h_{\rho\nu}(e+p) + O(\nabla_{\perp}), \qquad (3.81)$$

$$\int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}} (\delta \hat{p}_{\nu}(x), \delta \hat{J}^{\mu}(x'))_{\bar{t}} = \frac{n}{\beta} P^{\mu}_{\nu} + O(\nabla_{\perp}).$$
(3.82)

Eckart frame

Next, we consider the Eckart frame. The fluid four-velocity for the Eckart frame is defined by the condition that it is proportional to the particle current, i.e., $u_E^{\mu}(x) \equiv J^{\mu}(x)/\sqrt{-J^{\mu}(x)J_{\mu}(x)}$, where the subscript E denotes the Eckart frame, and $J^{\mu}(x) = \langle \hat{J}^{\mu}(x) \rangle$ [20]. It is also required that the energy density is expressed as $e = u_{\mu}^E \langle \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle u_{\nu}^E(x)$. In the first order in the derivative expansion, we may choose v^{μ} and n^{μ} as

$$v^{\mu} = n^{\mu} = u_{E}^{\mu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-\left(u^{\mu} - \frac{\kappa}{\beta n} \nabla_{\perp}^{\mu} \nu\right)^{2}}} \left(u^{\mu} - \frac{\kappa}{\beta n} \nabla_{\perp}^{\mu} \nu\right) = u^{\mu} - \frac{\kappa}{\beta n} \nabla_{\perp}^{\mu} \nu + O(\nabla_{\perp}^{2}).$$
(3.83)

Using $u^{\mu} = u^{\mu}_{E} + (\kappa/(\beta n))\partial^{\mu}_{\perp}\nu + O(\nabla^{2})$, we obtain

$$\langle \hat{T}^{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle = (e+p)u_E^{\mu}u_E^{\nu} + pg^{\mu\nu} + q^{\mu}u_E^{\nu} + u_E^{\mu}q^{\nu} - 2\eta\sigma^{\mu\nu} - \zeta\theta h^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.84)$$

$$\langle \hat{J}^{\mu}(x) \rangle = n u_E^{\mu}, \tag{3.85}$$

where we dropped the terms of order ∇_{\perp}^2 . $\sigma^{\mu\nu}$ and θ are obtained by replacing u_L^{μ} in Eq. (3.75) with u_E^{μ} . The thermal conductivity q^{μ} , which is absent in the Landau-Lifshitz frame reads

$$q^{\mu} = \frac{e+p}{n\beta} \kappa \nabla^{\mu}_{\perp} \nu. \tag{3.86}$$

We note that the shear and bulk viscous terms are the same as those of the Landau-Lifshitz frame.

Although we do not have the charge diffusion in this frame, the expression of heat current is slightly different from the original Eckart one q_E^{μ} , which is given by [20]

$$q_E^{\mu} = -\lambda (\nabla_{\perp}^{\mu} T + T \nabla_{\bar{t}} u_E^{\mu}), \qquad (3.87)$$

where λ denotes the thermal conductivity of the fluid. The apparent difference is coming from whether we use the time derivative of the fluid four-velocity in order to construct the constitutive relations. Although we utilize the Mori projection operator to eliminate the time derivative of the parameters from the entropy production, we can reconstruct the constitutive relations by using the time derivative terms with the help of the equation of motion. In the first order, we can use the equation of motion for the perfect fluid,

$$\nabla_{\bar{t}}u^{\mu} = -\frac{1}{T}\nabla^{\mu}_{\perp}T - \frac{nT}{e+p}\nabla^{\mu}_{\perp}\nu, \qquad (3.88)$$

in order to eliminate $\nabla^{\mu}_{\perp}\nu$ from Eq. (3.86). Then, we derive the constitutive relations in the original Eckart frame with $\lambda = ((e+p)^2\beta/n^2)\kappa$.

Obviously, in our formalism, the constitutive relations in the Landau-Lifshitz and Eckart frames are equivalent within the first order in the derivative expansion. These are related to each other by the redefinition of the fluid four-velocity, $u_L^{\mu} \leftrightarrow u_E^{\mu} + (\kappa/(\beta n))\nabla_{\perp}^{\mu}\nu$ in Eqs. (3.73) and (3.74). More generally, if we choose a frame such that $v^{\mu} = u^{\mu} + O(\nabla)$ and $n^{\mu} = u^{\mu} + O(\nabla)$, the constitutive relations in this frame are equivalent to those in the Landau frame within the first order in the derivative expansion. Namely, if n^{μ} is a functional of λ^a , the constitutive relations are unique and become those in the Landau-Lifshitz frame. We note that such a uniqueness was also discussed in Ref. [151] based on the Boltzmann equation.

3.5 Brief summary

The main results of this chapter can be summarized as follows:

- Assuming the local Gibbs distribution at initial time, we have derived the self-consistent equation for the dissipative part of constitutive relations (3.45) (Sec. 3.2).
- We have derived the zeroth-order constitutive relations (3.55)-(3.56), which result in ones for a perfect fluid, with the equation of state (3.50) (Sec. 3.3).
- We have derived the first-order constitutive relations (3.68)-(3.69), which bring about the relativistic Navier-Stokes equation, with the Green-Kubo formula for transport coefficients (3.63)-(3.65) (Sec. 3.4).

Relativistic hydrodynamic equations for systems with the parity symmetry are derived based on quantum field theories. In order to derive them we put an assumption that the initial density operator has a form of the local Gibbs distribution, and lay out a way to describe the time evolution of the hydrodynamic variables with the help of the rearrangement of this density operator. This manipulation provides us the self-consistent equation for the expectation values of the conserved current operators in the case including the deviation from local thermal equilibrium.

After the elaborate preparation of the self-consistent equation to obtain the constitutive relations, we perform the derivative expansion on the top of the local Gibbs distribution newly introduced at later time. On the basis of the symmetry argument obtained in the previous chapter, we first construct the leading-order Masseiu-Planck functional for parity-even systems Together with the derivative expansion of the self-consistent equation, we derive the zerothorder and the first-order relativistic constitutive relations, which result in one of the perfect fluid, and the Navier-Stokes fluid, respectively. In addition to the constitutive relations, we obtain the Green-Kubo formulas, in which the quantum field theoretical expression for the transport coefficients such as the shear viscosity are given. The real-time evolution in our formulation is schematically shown in Fig. 3.2. The density operator of the system at initial time \bar{t}_0 is assumed to have the form of the local Gibbs distribution. Then we expand the density operator at a later time \bar{t} around the new local Gibbs distribution with the thermodynamic parameters $\lambda^a(x)$ at that time. In each time, the local Gibbs distribution (the Massieu-Planck functional) can be expressed by using the imaginarytime path integral under the curved spacetime background $\Sigma_{\bar{t}} \times S^1$, whose metric is given in Eq. (2.62). After a sufficiently long time, the system reaches the global thermal equilibrium with the uniform imaginary-time radius β_0 . The local Gibbs distribution enables us to treat a nonequilibrium state beyond the real-time formalism [123], in which the distribution is necessarily in the global equilibrium. However, in an early stage far from equilibrium, the density operator cannot be approximated by the local Gibbs distribution, and thus our formulation is no longer applicable.



Figure 3.2: Schematic figure of the real-time evolution in our formulation toward the global thermal equilibrium. The figure is taken from [1].

Chapter 4

Anomalous hydrodynamics

In this chapter, we derive the anomaly-induced transport based on our formulation developed in Chapter 2. For this purpose, we consider a system composed of the Weyl fermion coupled to external gauge fields, which has the quantum anomaly. As is discussed in Chapter 2, information on the nondissipative part of the constitutive relation is fully contained in the Masseiu-Planck functional written in terms of the path-integral formula under the background curved spacetime with the background gauge connection. We first show the zeroth-order and the first-order dissipative parts of the constitutive relations are unchanged even if there exists the quantum anomaly. Then, we show that the quantum anomaly causes the first-order nondissipative corrections thorough the first-order anomalous corrections to the Masseiu-Planck functional. Following the discussion in Refs. [41, 86], we discuss the possible form of the firstorder Masseiu-Planck functional with the help of the symmetry argument. Then, we proceed to perturbative calculation, and evaluate the first-order nondissipative correction to the Masseiu-Planck functional at one-loop level, from which we can read off the constitutive relation for the anomalous current. As a consequence, we obtain the anomaly-induced transport phenomena such as the chiral magnetic effect, the chiral separation effect, and the chiral vortical effect.

This chapter is organized as follows: In Sec. 4.1, we first demonstrate what is affected and is not affected by the quantum anomaly, and show the possible form of the Masseiu-Planck functional in the first-order derivative expansion. In Sec. 4.2, we evaluate the first-order anomalous corrections to the Masseiu-Planck functional in the perturbative way, which results in the anomaly-induced transport phenomena. Sec. 4.3 is devoted to a short summary of this chapter.

Sec. 4.2 is based on our original work in collaboration with Yoshimasa Hidaka (RIKEN) [136].

4.1 Hydrodynamics in the presence of anomaly

In this section, we generalize our discussion on the derivation of the hydrodynamic equation in the presence of the quantum anomaly. In Sec. 4.1.1, we generalize our derivation of hydrodynamic equations, and show the place where the anomaly-induced transport arises. In Sec. 4.1.2, we show a possible form of the first-order Masseiu-Planck functional based on the symmetry argument.

4.1.1 Absence of the first-order anomalous dissipative transport

Suppose that the system considered is composed of the chiral fermions and couples to external gauge fields. Such a system contains the quantum anomaly [90, 91, 92]. For example, let us consider the system composed of the right-handed Weyl fermions in the d = 4 spacetime dimension. Then, in addition to the energy-momentum tensor, which is not conserved by the Lorentz force, the right-handed current is no longer conserved:

$$\nabla_{\mu}\hat{T}^{\mu\nu} = F_{\mu\nu}\hat{J}^{\mu},\tag{4.1}$$

$$\nabla_{\mu}\hat{J}^{\mu}_{R} = C_{R}\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}F_{\mu\nu}F_{\rho\sigma}, \qquad (4.2)$$

where $F_{\mu\nu}$ denotes the field strength of the external gauge field, $\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ the totally antisymmetric tensor, and C_R the anomaly coefficient. Strictly speaking, the right-handed current is not the conserved one due to the quantum anomaly, and, thus, it seems meaningless to introduce the chemical potential for such a non-conserved charge. Nevertheless, there is a situation in which we can approximately introduce the chemical potential for the divergent current e.g. the QGP in heavy-ion collisions¹. Then, we treat the energy-momentum and right-handed current as the conserved quantities, and introduce the local Gibbs distribution. In this case, $\hat{K}[\bar{t};\lambda]$ formally takes the same form as before, in which the chemical potential $\nu = \beta \mu$ for the vector charge is replaced by the one for the right-handed charge $\nu_R = \beta \mu_R$.

Using Eqs. (4.1) and (4.2) instead of Eqs. (1.2) and (1.3), the divergence of the entropy current operator reads

$$\nabla_{\mu}\hat{s}^{\mu} = -(\nabla_{\nu}\beta^{\mu})\delta\hat{T}^{\mu}_{\ \nu} - (\nabla_{\mu}\nu_R + \beta^{\nu}F_{\mu\nu})\delta\hat{J}^{\mu}_R(x), \qquad (4.3)$$

where $\delta \hat{\mathcal{O}} \equiv \hat{\mathcal{O}} - \langle \hat{\mathcal{O}} \rangle_{\bar{t}}^{\mathrm{LG}}$ is the same one encountered in the previous chapter. Although we have the nonzero divergence (4.2) due to the quantum anomaly, we have no contribution in $\nabla_{\mu} \hat{s}^{\mu}$. This is because the term $C_R \nu_R \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} F_{\mu\nu} F_{\rho\sigma}$ coming from the anomaly cancels out in the divergence of the entropy current operator. Therefore, the anomaly does not directly contribute to the dissipative part of the currents, and the first-order dissipative part of the constitutive relations remains unchanged. This is consistent with the observations found in the entropy-production method [59] and in the generating-functional method [41, 85, 86, 87, 88].

Let us now move onto the nondissipative part of the constitutive relations. Full information on the nondissipative part of the constitutive relations is still contained in the Masseiu-Planck

¹ The QGP experience the rapid expansion governed by the relativistic hydrodynamics, whose typical time scale is given by the QCD scale (~ $1 \text{ fm/c} \sim 200 \text{ MeV} \sim 10^{-23} \text{ s}$). On the other hand, a time scale of the breakdown of conservation laws caused by the quantum anomaly associated with the U(1) gauge field is much longer than it due to the small fine structure constant. The existence of this scale separation allows us to introduce the chemical potential for the anomalous current.

functional. Then, we focus on the possible corrections to the Masseiu-Planck functional. In the completely same way as given in Chapter. 3, the symmetry properties of the Masseiu-Planck functional play an important role: The Kaluza-Klein gauge symmetry and gauge symmetry for the external gauge field prohibit us from constructing the zeroth-order terms in terms of the gauge fields $A_{\bar{i}}$ and $a_{\bar{i}}$ even if there exists the quantum anomaly. Therefore, the possible anomalous corrections appear only in the next-to-leading corrections to the Masseiu-Planck functional.

4.1.2 Anomalous correction to the Masseiu-Planck functional

We have laid out the symmetry properties of the Masseiu-Planck functional in Sec. 2.4. Following Refs. [41, 86], we show a possible modification of the first-order Masseiu-Planck functional based on the symmetry argument.

As shown in Chapter 3, we see that the Kaluza-Klein gauge field $a_{\bar{i}}$ and the modified external gauge field $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\bar{i}}$ do not appear in the next-to-leading-order expressions of the Masseiu-Planck functional for the parity-symmetric systems. This is a macroscopic manifestation of the parity invariance of the systems. However, the situation is changed if the system does not have parity invariance due to parity-violating variables such as the chemical potential for the right-handed fermions μ_R .

In our notation, it is written as

$$\Psi^{(1)}[\lambda, A_{\bar{\mu}}] = \int d^3x \sqrt{\gamma'} \varepsilon^{ijk} \left[C\left(\frac{\nu_R}{3} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_i \partial_j \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_k + \frac{\nu_R e^{\sigma} \mu_R}{6} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_i \partial_j a_k \right) + T_0 C_3 \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_i \partial_j a_k \right], \qquad (4.4)$$

where $T_0 \equiv 1/\beta_0$ denotes the temperature, and C the anomaly coefficient determined by the consistency with the quantum anomaly. Here C_3 is also constant, but is not determined by the quantum anomaly². Though the symmetry argument restricts the possible form as above and the coefficient C, we cannot determine C_3 without another consideration [152, 105, 106, 87, 153, 88]. We evaluate them on the basis of the perturbative approach in the next section.

4.2 Derivation of the anomaly-induced transport

In this section, we provide a perturbative approach to calculate the Masseiu-Planck functional under the external fields. In Sec. 4.2.1, we set out the basis for the perturbative calculation of the Masseiu-Planck functional. In Sec. 4.2.2, we evaluate the first-order corrections to the Masseiu-Planck functional of the system with Weyl fermions. In Sec. 4.2.3, we derive the anomaly-induced transport.

 $^{^{2}}$ If the systems considered do not have the CPT invariance, another term could appear as discussed in [41]. Here, we do not consider such terms for sake of simplicity.

4.2.1 Perturbative approach to the Masseiu-Placnk functional

Let us consider the system in local thermal equilibrium. As is discussed in Chapter 2, the Massieu-Planck functional is written in terms of the path integral of the Euclidean action $S[\varphi; \tilde{g}_{\mu\bar{\nu}}, \tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}}]$. Then, we expand $S[\varphi; \tilde{g}_{\mu\bar{\nu}}, \tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}}]$ around the one in global thermal equilibrium described by $\tilde{g}^{(\text{eq})}_{\mu\bar{\nu}}$ and $\tilde{A}^{(\text{eq})}_{\bar{\mu}}$:

$$S[\varphi; \tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}, \tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}}] = S_0[\varphi; \tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}^{(\text{eq})}, A_{\bar{\mu}}^{(\text{eq})}] + \delta S[\varphi; \tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}, \tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}}].$$
(4.5)

In the linear order for the external fields, we can write the coupling part as

$$\delta S[\varphi; \tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}, \tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}}] = \int_0^{\beta_0} d\tau \int d^{d-1}\bar{x} \sqrt{-\tilde{g}} \left(\delta \tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}} \tilde{J}^{\bar{\mu}}(\tau, \boldsymbol{x}) + \frac{1}{2} \delta \tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} \tilde{T}^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}(\tau, \boldsymbol{x}) \right), \tag{4.6}$$

with $\delta \tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} \equiv \tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}} - \tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}^{(eq)}$ and $\delta \tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}} \equiv A_{\bar{\mu}} - A_{\bar{\mu}}^{(eq)}$. Here we introduced the energy-momentum tensor and the current in the thermal space as follows:

$$\tilde{T}^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}(\tau,\boldsymbol{x}) \equiv \frac{2}{\sqrt{-\tilde{g}}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta \tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}(\tau,\boldsymbol{x})}, \quad \tilde{J}^{\bar{\mu}}(\tau,\boldsymbol{x}) \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{-\tilde{g}}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta \tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}}(\tau,\boldsymbol{x})}.$$
(4.7)

When we consider the fermionic systems we define the energy-momentum tensor by taking a variation of the Euclidean action with respect to the thermal vierbein instead of the thermal metric,

$$\tilde{T}^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}(\tau, \boldsymbol{x}) \equiv \frac{1}{\tilde{e}} \left(\tilde{e}_{a}^{\ \bar{\nu}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta \tilde{e}_{\bar{\mu}}^{\ a}} + \tilde{e}_{a}^{\ \bar{\mu}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta \tilde{e}_{\bar{\nu}}^{\ a}} \right), \tag{4.8}$$

Here local Lorentz invariance allows us to adopt the symmetric energy-momentum tensor. We note that these currents still depend on the thermal metric and the external gauge field in general.

Then, we consider the perturbative expansion of the Masseiu-Planck functional with respect to the external fields:

$$\Psi[\lambda] = \log Z = \Psi^{(0)}[\lambda] + \Psi^{(1)}[\lambda] + \mathcal{O}((\partial_{\perp})^2),$$
(4.9)

where $\Psi^{(0)}[\lambda]$ denotes the leading-order Masseiu-Planck functional in Eq. (3.49). The next-toleading-order Masseiu-Planck functional $\Psi^{(1)}[\lambda]$ is given by

$$\Psi^{(1)}[\lambda] = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau_{1} d\tau_{2} \int d^{d-1} x_{1} d^{d-1} x_{2} \\ \times \left(\langle \tilde{J}^{\bar{\mu}}(X_{1}) \tilde{J}^{\bar{\nu}}(X_{2}) \rangle_{0} \delta \tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}}(X_{1}) \delta \tilde{A}_{\bar{\nu}}(X_{2}) + \langle \tilde{T}^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}(X_{1}) \tilde{J}^{\bar{\alpha}}(X_{2}) \rangle_{0} \delta \tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}(X_{1}) \delta \tilde{A}_{\bar{\alpha}}(X_{2}) + \cdots \right),$$

$$(4.10)$$

with $X \equiv (\tau, \boldsymbol{x})$. Here $\langle \cdots \rangle_0$ denotes the path integral over the action $S_0[\varphi; \tilde{g}^{(\text{eq})}_{\mu\bar{\nu}}, \tilde{A}^{(\text{eq})}_{\bar{\mu}}]$, which only contains the connected diagrams.

4.2.2 Masseiu-Planck functional for Weyl fermion

Here we consider the system composed of the right-handed Weyl fermions ξ under the external U(1) gauge field in the d = 4 spacetime dimension, whose Lagrangian reads

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{i}{2} \xi^{\dagger} \left(e_a^{\ \mu} \sigma^a \overrightarrow{D}_{\mu} - \overleftarrow{D}_{\mu} \sigma^a e_a^{\ \mu} \right) \xi, \tag{4.11}$$

where we introduced $\sigma^a = (1, \sigma^i)$ with the Pauli matrices σ^i (i = 1, 2, 3). Since this Lagrangian describes the chiral fermion, we have the quantum anomaly

$$\partial_{\mu}\hat{J}^{\mu}_{R} = C_{R}\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}F_{\mu\nu}F_{\rho\sigma}, \quad \text{with} \quad \hat{J}^{\mu}_{R} = \xi^{\dagger}\sigma^{\mu}\xi, \tag{4.12}$$

where C_R denotes the anomaly coefficient, which results in $C_R = 1/(32\pi^2)$ for single component Weyl fermion. As is discussed in the previous section, we introduce the chemical potential for this divergent current, which results in the Euclidean action

$$S[\xi,\xi^{\dagger};\lambda,A_{\bar{\mu}}] = \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{3}\bar{x}\,\tilde{e}\left[\frac{i}{2}\xi^{\dagger}\left(\tilde{e}_{a}^{\ \bar{\mu}}\sigma^{a}\overrightarrow{\tilde{D}}_{\bar{\mu}} - \overleftarrow{\tilde{D}}_{\bar{\mu}}\sigma^{a}\tilde{e}_{a}^{\ \bar{\mu}}\right)\xi\right],\tag{4.13}$$

where $\tilde{e}_a^{\ \mu}$ is the inverse thermal vierbein defined in Eq. (2.142), and \tilde{D}_{μ} the covariant derivative in the thermal tilde space in Eq. (2.144). By taking the variations with respect to the Euclidean action, we construct the symmetric energy-momentum tensor and the right-handed fermion current in the thermal space as

$$\tilde{T}^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}(X) = -\frac{i}{4}\xi^{\dagger}(X)(\sigma^{\bar{\mu}}\overrightarrow{\tilde{D}}^{\bar{\nu}} + \sigma^{\bar{\nu}}\overrightarrow{\tilde{D}}^{\bar{\mu}} - \overleftarrow{\tilde{D}}^{\bar{\nu}}\sigma^{\bar{\mu}} - \overleftarrow{\tilde{D}}^{\bar{\mu}}\sigma^{\bar{\nu}})\xi(X) + \tilde{g}^{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}\mathcal{L}, \qquad (4.14)$$

$$\tilde{J}_R^{\bar{\mu}}(X) = \xi^{\dagger}(X)\sigma^{\bar{\mu}}\xi(X), \qquad (4.15)$$

Suppose that the charge density has a uniform distribution, while other external fields have smooth spatial coordinate dependence. In other words, we treat the chemical potential in a nonperturbative way by making $S_0[\varphi; \beta_0, \mu_R]$ contain the constant chemical potential, while other parts of the external fields are treated perturbatively:

$$S[\xi,\xi^{\dagger};\tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}},\tilde{A}_{\bar{\mu}}] = S_0[\xi,\xi^{\dagger},\beta_0,\mu_R] + \delta S[\varphi;\tilde{g}_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}},\tilde{A}_{\bar{i}}], \qquad (4.16)$$

Furthermore, for sake of simplicity, we assume that the original spacetime is flat, and choose the cartesian coordinate system. Then, we can replace the covariant derivative and the thermal metric in the currents (4.14) and (4.15) with the partial derivative and Minkowski metric in the leading-order derivative expansion.

By performing the Fourier transformation, we rewrite the Euclidean action $S_0[\xi, \xi^{\dagger}, \mu_R]$ as

$$S_0[\xi,\xi^{\dagger}] = -\sum_P \xi^{\dagger}(P)\sigma^{\mu}\tilde{P}_{\mu}\xi(P) \equiv -\sum_P \xi_a^{\dagger}(P)\left(\mathcal{G}_0^{-1}(\tilde{P})\right)_{ab}\xi_b(P), \qquad (4.17)$$

where a, b (= 1, 2) denote the spinor indices. We introduced the Fourier transformation as

$$\xi(X) = T_0 \sum_{\omega_n} \int \frac{d^3 \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^3} e^{-i\omega_n \tau + i\boldsymbol{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{x}} \xi(\omega_n, \boldsymbol{p}) \equiv \sum_P e^{iP \cdot X} \xi(P), \qquad (4.18)$$

with the temperature $T_0 \equiv 1/\beta_0$. Here we defined $\tilde{P}_{\mu} \equiv (-i\omega_n - \mu_R, \mathbf{p})$ with the chemical potential μ_R . We also introduced the free propagator $\mathcal{G}_0(P)$

$$\mathcal{G}_0^{-1}(P) \equiv \sigma^{\mu} P_{\mu}, \quad \mathcal{G}_0(P) = \frac{\bar{\sigma}^{\mu} P_{\mu}}{P^2},$$
(4.19)

with $\bar{\sigma}^a \equiv (-1, \sigma^i)$ and $\sigma^a \bar{\sigma}^b + \sigma^b \bar{\sigma}^a = 2\eta^{ab}$. Note that the argument of the propagator in Eq. (4.17) is not P but \tilde{P} , and, thus, it represents the propagator fully dressed by the chemical potential μ_R .

We, then, evaluate the first-order Masseiu-Planck functional (4.10) related to the anomalyinduced transport phenomena. The first-order Masseiu-Planck functional is divided into three sectors: the two-point function between currents, and the two-point function between the energy-momentum tensor and the current, and the two-point function between the energymomentum tensors. Since we are now interested in the anomalous current, we focus on the first two sectors, which contain at least one external gaug Q field A_i . In other word Q we only focus on the following diagrams: P



where we will take the Pong-Qave-length limit $Q \sim 0$.

Evaluation $\overset{\delta \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}}{\underset{Q}{\overset{\circ}{\text{of the anomalous Masseiu-Planck functional}}}}$

First, let us evaluate the *p*erm which contains two external gauge fields:

$$\underbrace{A_{\mu}}_{Q} \underbrace{Q}_{P} \underbrace{A_{\nu}}_{Q} = -T_{0} \sum_{n} \int \frac{d^{3}\boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \operatorname{tr}\left(\frac{(\tilde{Q}_{\rho} + \tilde{P}_{\rho})\tilde{P}_{\sigma}\bar{\sigma}^{\rho}\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\sigma}\sigma^{\nu}}{(\tilde{Q} + \tilde{P})^{2}\tilde{P}^{2}}\right), \quad (4.21)$$

where we used $\mathfrak{M}_{\text{e}+\text{fr}} \mathfrak{Q}_{\text{e}}$ propagator defined in Eq. (4.19). Here "tr" denotes the trace over the spinor $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$ dices. With the help of the trace formula for the Pauli matrices

$$Q \qquad \operatorname{tr} \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} \sigma^{\nu} \bar{\sigma}^{\alpha} \sigma^{\beta} Q = -2i \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} + 2\eta^{\mu\nu} \eta^{\alpha\beta} - 2\eta^{\mu\alpha} \eta^{\nu\beta} + 2\eta^{\mu\beta} \eta^{\nu\alpha}, \qquad (4.22)$$

we can decompose the two-point functions into the totally antisymmetric part and other parts. Since we are interested in the anomalous term which results from the totally antisymmetric part, we focus on that part:

$$= 2i\varepsilon^{\rho\mu\sigma\nu}\tilde{Q}_{\rho}\delta^{0}_{\sigma}B^{(1,0)}_{3}(0) + (\text{symmetric terms}) + \mathcal{O}(Q^{2}),$$

Hef \tilde{g}_{μ} we have introduced A_{α} Q $\tilde{g}_{2}^{(k,l)}(m) =$

P+Q

As evaluated in Appendix. A.2, we have $B_3^{1,0}(0) = \mu_R/(8\pi^2)$, which leads to

$$\Psi_{1}^{(1)}[\lambda] = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{Q} \frac{\mu_{R}}{4\pi^{2}} i \varepsilon^{\rho\mu\sigma\nu} \tilde{Q}_{\rho} \delta^{0}_{\sigma} A_{\mu}(Q) A_{\nu}(-Q)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{3}\boldsymbol{x} \frac{\mu_{R}}{8\pi^{2}} \varepsilon^{0ijk} A_{i}(\boldsymbol{x}) \partial_{j} A_{k}(\boldsymbol{x})$$

$$(4.25)$$

Since the external gauge field does not depend on the imaginary time, we perform the imaginary time fittegral explicitly. \uparrow

Q ext, let us evaluate thQ term which contains one external gauge field and one thermal metric. Then, P similar calculus brings about the next result

$$\begin{split} & \underbrace{\delta \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}}{Q} \underbrace{\longleftarrow}_{Q} P + Q \\ & \underbrace{\longleftarrow}_{Q} Q = -\frac{1}{2} T_0 \sum_n \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^3} (2\tilde{P}^{\nu} + \tilde{Q}^{\nu}) \operatorname{tr} \left(\frac{(\tilde{Q}_{\rho} + \tilde{P}_{\rho}) \tilde{P}_{\sigma} \bar{\sigma}^{\rho} \sigma^{\mu} \bar{\sigma}^{\sigma} \sigma^{\alpha}}{(\tilde{Q} + \tilde{P})^2 \tilde{P}^2} \right). \\ & = 2i \tilde{Q}_{\rho} \left(\eta^{\nu 0} \varepsilon^{\rho \mu 0 \alpha} B_3^{(2,0)}(0) + \frac{1}{3} \delta_{ij} \eta^{\nu i} \varepsilon^{\rho \mu j \alpha} B_3^{(0,2)}(0) \right) \\ & + \left(\operatorname{symmetric terms} \right) + \mathcal{O}(Q^2) \end{split}$$

+ (symmetric terms) + $\mathcal{O}(Q^2)$ (4.26)

Here $B_3^{(k,l)}(m)$ is defined in Eq. (4.24). As evaluated in the Appendix. A.2, $B_3^{(2,0)}(0)$ and $B_3^{(0,2)}(0)$ are given by

$$B_3^{(2,0)}(0) = \frac{\mu_R^2}{16\pi^2} + \frac{T_0^2}{48} \equiv C(T_0, \mu_R), \quad B_3^{(0,2)}(0) = \frac{3\mu_R^2}{16\pi^2} + \frac{T_0^2}{16} = 3C(T_0, \mu_R).$$
(4.27)

As a result, we obtain

$$\Psi_{2}^{(1)}[\lambda] = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{Q} 2iC(T_{0}, \mu_{R})\tilde{Q}_{\rho} \left(\eta^{\nu 0}\varepsilon^{\rho\mu 0\alpha} + \delta_{ij}\eta^{\nu i}\varepsilon^{\rho\mu j\alpha}\right)\delta\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(Q)A_{\alpha}(-Q) = \int_{0}^{\beta_{0}} d\tau \int d^{3}x \left(\frac{\mu_{R}^{2}}{8\pi^{2}} + \frac{T_{0}^{2}}{24}\right)\varepsilon^{0ijk}A_{i}(x)\partial_{j}\tilde{g}_{0k}(x)$$
(4.28)

We have evaluated the anomalous part of the Masseiu-Planck functional for the system composed of the right-handed Weyl fermion, which contains at least one external gauge field A_i , and causes the anomaly-induced transport. The result is summarized as follows:

$$\Psi^{(1)}[\lambda] = \int d^3x \frac{\nu_R}{8\pi^2} \varepsilon^{0ijk} A_i \partial_j A_k + \int d^3x \varepsilon^{0ijk} \left(\frac{\nu_R \mu_R}{8\pi^2} + \frac{T_0}{24}\right) A_i(x) \partial_j \tilde{g}_{0k}(x).$$
(4.29)

Here we performed the imaginary-time integration since the integrands do not depend on the imaginary time, and introduced $\nu_R \equiv \beta_0 \mu_R$. As discussed in Sec. 2.4, the external gauge field is not Kaluza-Klein gauge invariant. In order to see the Kaluza-Klein gauge invariance, we rewrite Eq. (4.29) in terms of the modified gauge field $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{\mu}$ defined in Eq. (2.154), which is manifestly Kaluza-Klein gauge invariant. As a result, we obtain the value of the constant as follows:

$$C = \frac{3}{8\pi^2}, \quad C_3 = \frac{1}{24}, \tag{4.30}$$

The former one is in accordance with the anomaly coefficient [41]. The latter one is also consistent with the one obtained by the use of the Green-Kubo formula [105, 106], or the anomaly inflow mechanism [152].

4.2.3 Anomaly-induced transport from Masseiu-Planck functional

We have evaluated the first-order anomalous correction to the Masseiu-Planck functional (4.29). Then, we can easily extract the anomalous constitutive relation by taking the variation with respect to the external gauge field A_i . It results in

$$\langle \hat{J}_R^i(x) \rangle_{(0,1)}^{\mathrm{LG}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta \Psi^{(1)}}{\delta A_i(x)} = \frac{\mu_R}{4\pi^2} B^i(x) + \left(\frac{\mu_R^2}{8\pi^2} + \frac{T^2}{24}\right) \omega^i(x), \tag{4.31}$$

where we introduced the magnetic field $B \equiv \nabla \times A$, and the vorticity $\boldsymbol{\omega} \equiv \nabla \times \boldsymbol{v}$. Here (0, 1) represents the term containing no time derivative, and one spatial derivative, as is introduced in Sec. 3.2. Eq. (4.31) implies that we have the right-handed current along the magnetic field, and fluid vorticity. If we consider the system composed of the left-handed Weyl fermions, by repeating the same procedure, we obtain the left-handed current as follows:

$$\langle \hat{J}_{L}^{i}(x) \rangle_{(0,1)}^{\mathrm{LG}} = -\frac{\mu_{L}}{4\pi^{2}} B^{i}(x) - \left(\frac{\mu_{L}^{2}}{8\pi^{2}} + \frac{T^{2}}{24}\right) \omega^{i}(x), \qquad (4.32)$$

where μ_L denotes the chemical potential for the left-handed Weyl fermion. The difference only appears in the sign of current.

We can consider the system consisting of the massless Dirac fermions as a sum of the rightand left-handed Weyl fermions. Then, recalling the fact that the vector current \hat{J}_V and the axial current are expressed in terms of the right-handed and left-handed current

$$\hat{J}_{V}^{\mu}(x) = \hat{J}_{R}^{\mu}(x) + \hat{J}_{L}^{\mu}(x), \quad \hat{J}_{A}^{\mu}(x) = \hat{J}_{R}^{\mu}(x) - \hat{J}_{L}^{\mu}(x),$$
(4.33)

we obtain the constitutive relation of the vector and axial currents. Combining the above results (4.31) and (4.32), we arrive at the following constitutive relations

$$\langle \hat{J}_V(x) \rangle_{(0,1)}^{\mathrm{LG}} = \frac{\mu_5}{2\pi^2} \boldsymbol{B} + \frac{\mu\mu_5}{2\pi^2} \boldsymbol{\omega},$$
 (4.34)

$$\langle \hat{J}_A(x) \rangle_{(0,1)}^{\text{LG}} = \frac{\mu}{2\pi^2} \boldsymbol{B} + \left(\frac{\mu^2 + \mu_5^2}{4\pi^2} + \frac{T^2}{12} \right) \boldsymbol{\omega},$$
 (4.35)

where we introduced the vector chemical potential $\mu = (\mu_R + \mu_L)/2$ and the chiral chemical potential $\mu_5 = (\mu_R - \mu_L)/2$. These constitutive relations correctly describe the chiral magnetic effect, the chiral separation effect, and the chiral vortical effect. In conclusion, together with the leading-order part and the first-order dissipative parts, we have constructed a complete set of the constitutive relations for the system containing the quantum anomaly for the system composed of the Weyl fermions, and for the system composed of the massless Dirac fermions.

4.3 Brief summary

The main results of this chapter can be summarized as follows:

• Considering the system composed of the Weyl fermions, we have perturbatively evaluated the first-order Masseiu-Planck functional (4.29), and derived the anomaly-induced transport (4.34)-(4.35) (Sec. 4.2).

In this Chapter, the anomaly-induced transport phenomena were derived on the basis of pathintegral formulation for local thermal equilibrium developed in Chapter. 2. We first show that our derivation of the hydrodynamic equations for the zeroth-order part and the first-order dissipative part discussed in Chapter. 3 is still robust even in the presence of the quantum anomaly. After that we remarked that the anomaly-induced transport result from the firstordrer corrections to the Masseiu-Planck functional for parity-violating systems. We, then, show the possible form of the anomalous correction based on the symmetry consideration [41, 86].

On the basis of our original formulation developed in Chapter. 2, we consider the the systems of Weyl fermions, in which the quantum anomaly and the anomaly-induced transport



Figure 4.1: Illustrative summary of Chapter 4. From the one-loop calculation of the Masseiu-Planck functional, we obtain the anomalous constitutive relations.

phenomena take place. We perform the perturbative calculation of the Masseiu-Planck functional at one-loop level with the help of the imaginery-time formalism. As a result, we obtain the first-order corrections to the Masseiu-Planck functional. We see that the obtained anomalous constitutive relations correctly describe the chiral magnetic effect, the chiral separation effect, and the chiral vortical effect (see Fig. 4.1).

Chapter 5

Summary and Outlook

In this thesis, we have derived relativistic hydrodynamics from quantum field theories on the basis of the local Gibbs ensemble method. In order to derive the hydrodynamic equations we introduced an assumption that the initial density operator is given by a local Gibbs distribution. This enables us to describe the time evolution of the hydrodynamic variables by approximating the initial density operator by a local Gibbs distribution introduced at later time. We have shown that deviations from the local Gibbs distribution is proportional to the derivatives of hydrodynamic variables, which can be treated in a perturbative way. Then, we have decomposed the constitutive relations for the energy-momentum tensor and charge current into nondissipative and dissipative parts and analyzed their time evolution in detail. While the nondissipative part is completely determined by the local Gibbs distribution at the present time, the dissipative part depends on the past information in general.

First, we focused on the nondissipative part of the constitutive relation, and performed the path-integral formulation of the thermodynamic potential for the local Gibbs distribution. This gives a generalization of the imaginary-time formalism for systems under local thermal equilibrium. We have shown that the thermodynamic pontential, which gives the generating functional of locally thermalized system, is written in terms of the quantum field theory in the curved spacetime. Similar to the standard imaginary-time formalism, this curved spacetime has one imaginary-time direction and d-1 spatial directions. The structure of this thermally emergent curved spacetime is completely determined by hydrodynamic variables such as the local temperature, and fluid-four velocity at the present time. The vital point we have demonstrated is that, regardless of the spin of quantum fields, this emergent curved spacetime has the same notable symmetry properties: Kaluza-Klein gauge symmetry, spatial diffeomorphism symmetry, and gauge symmetry. With the help of the symmetry argument, we can write down the general form of the Masseiu-Planck functional. As a result, the nondissipative part of the hydrodynamic equations, in particular the perfect fluid part of the constitutive relation is obtained in the leading-order derivative expansion. Our formalism is also applicable to the situation in the presence of the quantum anomaly, and we have derived the anomaly-induced tranport. In fact, considering the first-order nondissipative corrections in the parity-violating system composed of the chiral fermions, we have obtained the anomaly-induced transport in the nondissipative constitutive relations. With the perturbative calculation, we have evaluated the anomalous transport coefficients at one-loop level.

Second, we have formulated a solid basis to study dissipative corrections in the constitutive relations. In fact, we have obtained the self-consistent equation for the expectation value of the conserved currents which enables us to perform the derivative expansion order-by-order. In particular, by performing the leading order dissipative derivative expansion, together with the result on nondissipative part, we have derived the first-order dissipative hydrodynamic equations, which results in the relativistic version of the Navier-Stokes equation. In addition to the correct constitutive relations, our formalism also gives the quantum field theoretical expression of the Green-Kubo formulas. These results give a complete derivation of the hydrodynamic equation from quantum field theories based on recent developments of nonequilibrium statistical mechanics.

There are several prospects on future research based on our approach. One is an extension to the case in the coexistence of the other zero modes such as the Nambu-Goldstone mode, and the electromagnetic wave. As is mentioned in the introduction, there exists a well-established hydrodynamic way to describe such systems: the superfluid (two-fluid) hydrodynamics, and the magneto-hydrodynamics. Our approach may shed new light on the understanding of the hydrodynamic description of such systems, in particular from the point of the view of quantum field theories and nonequilibrium statistical mechanics. For example, if the underlying quantum field theory has the quantum anomaly, the hydrodynamic equation could be modified in the same way as the (normal) anomalous hydrodynamics discussed in Chapter. 4. It is interesting to derive the chiral superfluid hydrodynamic equation, and the chiral magnetohydrodynamic equation, which would describe the novel transport phenomena related to the quantum anomaly.

Another interesting direction is an application to the second-order hydrodynamic equations. Due to the undesirable acausal property of the first-order relativistic hydrodynamics, there exist a lot of works concerning the derivation of the second-order equations which restore the causality. Although most of them are based on the relativistic Boltzmann equations [23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32], their analyses are, in principle, only valid in the weakly coupled systems, which is not the case e.g. for the QGP created in heavy-ion collisions. Moreover, an approach based on the fluid/gravity correspondence suggests that there are some nondissipative terms missed in the conventional kinetic approach. In contrast to the kinetic approach, our method is also applicable to strongly coupled systems. Also, it allows us to access the nondissipative part including the anomaly-induced transport through the Masseiu-Planck functional. Therefore, our method gives the way to calculate them based on the imaginary-time formalism. To obtain the second-order hydrodynamic equation with a complete set of transport coefficients is next step to be pursued.

It is of utmost importance to apply the derived hydrodynamic equation to the real physical phenomena such as the QGP created in heavy-ion collisions, the QED plasma and neutrino gases in compact stars, and the emergent relativistic quasi-particle systems in condensed matters. In particular, the applications of anomalous hydrodynamics to the QGP and the neutrino gases have recently been attracted much attentions, although we are still miles away from the complete understanding of the anomaly-induced transport in these situations. Thanks to the microscopic derivation of such transport presented in this thesis, we are now equipped to implement anomalous hydrodynamic simulations which enable us to perform the quantitative analysis of various physical systems. ____

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Tetsuo Hatsuda for invaluable comments, unstinting supports, and careful reading of the whole manuscript. I am also extremely grateful to Yoshimasa Hidaka for stimulating discussions and collaborations, from which I have learned innumerable subjects on physics. I also thank my collaborators, Prof. Tetsufumi Hirano, and Yuji Hirono for helpful advices, and fruitful collaborations, Toshifumi Noumi, Tomoya Hayata for collaboration on subjects covered in this thesis. I also thank Shin-ichi Sasa for a motive intensive lecture necessary for this thesis. I thank my colleagues and friends in particular, Ryuichi Kurita, Kota Masuda, Koichi Murase, Noriaki Ogawa, Yasuki Tachibana, Yuya Tanizaki in Hatsuda QHP group, Hiromi Hinohara, Koji Kawaguchi, Kenichi Nagai, Shiori Takeuchi in Sophia Hadron Physics group, Masato Taki, Akinori Tanaka in RIKEN STAMP group, Masato Itami, Yuta Kikuchi, Taro Komiyama, Kazuya Mameda, Yuki Minami, Michihiro Nakamura, Hidetoshi Taya, Shoichiro Tsutsui, Arata Yamamoto, and Naoki Yamamoto. The discussions with them have been enormously fruitful and meaningful throughout the doctoral course. Finally, I am extremely grateful for invaluable supports from my family, without which I could not complete my Ph.D. in physics at The University of Tokyo.

Appendix A

Detailed calculation

A.1 Derivation of Eq. (2.47)

Let us, here derive Eq. (2.47). Noting that the volume element can be written as $d\Sigma_{\bar{t}\mu} = d^d x \sqrt{-g} \delta(\bar{t} - \bar{t}(x)) \partial_\mu \bar{t}(x) = -d^d x \sqrt{-g} \partial_\mu \theta(\bar{t} - \bar{t}(x))$, we write

$$\int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}\mu} f^{\mu}(x) = -\int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \partial_{\mu} \theta(\bar{t} - \bar{t}(x)) f^{\mu}(x)$$

$$= \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \theta(\bar{t} - \bar{t}(x)) \nabla_{\mu} f^{\mu}(x),$$
(A.1)

where we used the integral by part, and assumed that $f^{\mu}(x)$ vanishes at the boundary. The derivative of Eq. (A.1) with respect to \bar{t} leads to Eq. (2.47),

$$\partial_{\bar{t}} \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}\mu} f^{\mu}(x) = \partial_{\bar{t}} \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \theta(\bar{t} - \bar{t}(x)) \nabla_{\mu} f^{\mu}(x) = \int d\Sigma_{\bar{t}} N(x) \nabla_{\mu} f^{\mu}(x),$$
(A.2)

where we used $d\Sigma_{\bar{t}} = d^d x \sqrt{-g} \delta(\bar{t} - \bar{t}(x)) N^{-1}$.

A.2 Evaluation of integral (4.24)

Here, we evaluate integrals

$$B_3^{(k,l)}(m) \equiv T_0 \sum_n \int \frac{d^3 \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{(\dot{P}_0)^k(\boldsymbol{p})^l}{(\tilde{P}^2 + m^2)^2}.$$
 (A.3)

in the case of (l, k) = (1, 0), (2, 0), (0, 2).

Evaluation of $B_3^{(1,0)(0)}$

First, let us evaluate the $B_3^{(1,0)}(0)$. By taking the Mastubara sum, we obtain as follows:

$$\begin{split} B_{3}^{(1,0)}(m) &= T \sum_{n} \int \frac{d^{3} \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\tilde{P}_{0}}{(\tilde{p}^{2} + m^{2})^{2}} = -\int \frac{d^{3} \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} T \sum_{n} \frac{\tilde{P}_{0}}{\tilde{p}^{2} + m^{2}} \\ &= -\int \frac{d^{3} \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} T \sum_{n} \frac{i\omega_{n} + \mu}{(i\omega_{n} + \mu)^{2} + \mathbf{p}^{2} + m^{2}} \\ &= \int \frac{d^{3} \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} \left(\int_{-i\infty+\mu+0^{+}}^{i\infty+\mu-0^{+}} \frac{dp_{0}}{2\pi i} \frac{p_{0}}{p_{0}^{2} + \mathbf{p}^{2} + m^{2}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(p_{0}-\mu)} + 1} \right) \\ &+ \int_{-i\infty+\mu-0^{+}}^{i\infty+\mu-0^{+}} \frac{dp_{0}}{2\pi i} \frac{p_{0}}{p_{0}^{2} + \mathbf{p}^{2} + m^{2}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(p_{0}-\mu)} + 1} \right) \\ &= \int \frac{d^{3} \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} \left(\int_{-i\infty+\mu+0^{+}}^{i\infty+\mu-0^{+}} \frac{dp_{0}}{2\pi i} \frac{p_{0}}{p_{0}^{2} + \mathbf{p}^{2} + m^{2}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(p_{0}-\mu)} + 1} \right) \\ &+ \int_{-i\infty+\mu-0^{+}}^{i\infty+\mu-0^{+}} \frac{dp_{0}}{2\pi i} \frac{p_{0}}{(p_{0} + \omega_{p})(p_{0} - \omega_{p})} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(p_{0}-\mu)} + 1} \right) \\ &= \int \frac{d^{3} \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} \left(-\frac{\omega_{p}}{2\omega_{p}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\omega_{p}-\mu)} + 1} + \frac{-\omega_{p}}{-2\omega_{p}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\mu+\omega_{p})} + 1} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2\pi^{2}}} \int_{0}^{\infty} p^{2} dp \frac{1}{2p} \frac{\partial}{\partial p} \left(-\frac{1}{e^{\beta(\omega_{p}-\mu)} + 1} + \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\mu+\omega_{p})} + 1} \right), \end{split}$$

Here, we drop terms which do not depend on the thermodynamic variables. Then, putting m = 0, we obtain

$$B_{3}^{(1,0)}(m=0) = -\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dp \left(\frac{1}{e^{\beta(p+\mu)}+1} - \frac{1}{e^{\beta(p-\mu)}+1} \right)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}\beta} \int_{0}^{\infty} dx \left(\frac{1}{e^{x+\nu}+1} - \frac{1}{e^{x-\nu}+1} \right)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{8\pi^{2}\beta} \left(\log(1+e^{-\nu}) - \log(1+e^{\nu}) \right)$$

$$= \frac{\nu}{8\pi^{2}\beta} = \frac{\mu}{8\pi^{2}}.$$
 (A.5)

Evaluation of $B_3^{(2,0)(0)}$

Next, let us evaluate the $B_3^{(2,0)}(0)$ in a similar way as $B^{(1,0)(0)}$.

$$\begin{split} B_{3}^{(2,0)}(m) &= T \sum_{n} \int \frac{d^{3} \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{(\tilde{P}_{0})^{2}}{(\tilde{P}^{2} + m^{2})^{2}} = -\int \frac{d^{3} \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} T \sum_{n} \frac{(\tilde{P}_{0})^{2}}{\tilde{P}^{2} + m^{2}} \\ &= -\int \frac{d^{3} \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} T \sum_{n} \frac{(i\omega_{n} + \mu)^{2}}{(i\omega_{n} + \mu)^{2} + \boldsymbol{p}^{2} + m^{2}} \\ &= \int \frac{d^{3} \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} \left(\int_{-i\infty+\mu+0^{+}}^{i\infty+\mu-0^{+}} \frac{dp_{0}}{2\pi i} \frac{p_{0}^{2}}{p_{0}^{2} + \boldsymbol{p}^{2} + m^{2}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\mu-\mu)} + 1} \right) \\ &+ \int_{-i\infty+\mu-0^{+}}^{i\infty+\mu-0^{+}} \frac{dp_{0}}{2\pi i} \frac{p_{0}^{2}}{p_{0}^{2} + \boldsymbol{p}^{2} + m^{2}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\mu-\mu)} + 1} \right) \\ &= \int \frac{d^{3} \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} \left(\int_{-i\infty+\mu+0^{+}}^{i\infty+\mu-0^{+}} \frac{dp_{0}}{2\pi i} \frac{p_{0}^{2}}{p_{0}^{2} + \boldsymbol{p}^{2} + m^{2}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\mu-\mu)} + 1} \right) \\ &+ \int_{-i\infty+\mu-0^{+}}^{i\infty+\mu-0^{+}} \frac{dp_{0}}{2\pi i} \frac{p_{0}^{2}}{(p_{0} + \omega_{p})(p_{0} - \omega_{p})} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\mu-\mu)} + 1} \right) \\ &= \int \frac{d^{3} \boldsymbol{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} \left(-\frac{\omega_{p}^{2}}{2\omega_{p}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\omega_{p}-\mu)} + 1} + \frac{\omega_{p}^{2}}{-2\omega_{p}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\mu+\omega_{p})} + 1} \right) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} p^{2} dp \frac{1}{2p} \frac{\partial}{\partial p} \left(\frac{\omega_{p}}{e^{\beta(\omega_{p}-\mu)} + 1} + \frac{\omega_{p}}{e^{\beta(\mu+\omega_{p})} + 1} \right), \end{split}$$

Here, we again drop terms which do not depend on the thermodynamic variables. Putting m = 0, we obtain

$$B_{3}^{(2,0)}(m=0) = \frac{1}{8\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dp \left(\frac{p}{e^{\beta(p-\mu)}+1} + \frac{p}{e^{\beta(p+\mu)}+1} \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{8\pi^{2}\beta^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dx \left(\frac{x}{e^{x-\nu}+1} + \frac{x}{e^{x+\nu}+1} \right)$$
$$= \frac{\mu^{2}}{16\pi^{2}} + \frac{T^{2}}{48} \equiv C(\mu, T).$$
(A.7)

Evaluation of $B_3^{(0,2)}(0)$

Let us evaluate the $B_3^{(0,2)}(0)$.

$$\begin{split} B_{3}^{(0,2)}(m) &= T \sum_{n} \int \frac{d^{3} \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}}{(\tilde{P}^{2} + m^{2})^{2}} = -\int \frac{d^{3} \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} T \sum_{n} \frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}}{\tilde{P}^{2} + m^{2}} \\ &= -\int \frac{d^{3} \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} T \sum_{n} \frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}}{(i\omega_{n} + \mu)^{2} + \mathbf{p}^{2} + m^{2}} \\ &= \int \frac{d^{3} \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} \left(\int_{-i\infty + \mu + 0^{+}}^{i\infty + \mu - 0^{+}} \frac{dp_{0}}{2\pi i} \frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}}{p_{0}^{2} + \mathbf{p}^{2} + m^{2}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\nu_{0} - \mu)} + 1} \\ &+ \int_{-i\infty + \mu - 0^{+}}^{i\infty + \mu - 0^{+}} \frac{dp_{0}}{2\pi i} \frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}}{p_{0}^{2} + \mathbf{p}^{2} + m^{2}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\nu_{0} - \mu)} + 1} \right) \\ &= \int \frac{d^{3} \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} \left(\int_{-i\infty + \mu + 0^{+}}^{i\infty + \mu - 0^{+}} \frac{dp_{0}}{2\pi i} \frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}}{p_{0}^{2} + \mathbf{p}^{2} + m^{2}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\nu_{0} - \mu)} + 1} \right) \\ &+ \int_{-i\infty + \mu - 0^{+}}^{i\infty + \mu - 0^{+}} \frac{dp_{0}}{2\pi i} \frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}}{(p_{0} + \omega_{p})(p_{0} - \omega_{p})} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\nu_{0} - \mu)} + 1} \right) \\ &= \int \frac{d^{3} \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \mathbf{p}^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial m^{2}} \left(-\frac{1}{2\omega_{p}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\omega_{p} - \mu)} + 1} + \frac{1}{-2\omega_{p}} \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\mu + \omega_{p})} + 1} \right) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} p^{4} dp \frac{1}{2p} \frac{\partial}{\partial p} \left(\frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}/\omega_{p}}{e^{\beta(\omega_{p} - \mu)} + 1} + \frac{\mathbf{p}^{2}/\omega_{p}}{e^{\beta(\mu + \omega_{p})} + 1} \right) \\ &= \frac{3}{8\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dp \frac{p^{2}}{\omega_{p}} \left(\frac{1}{e^{\beta(\omega_{p} - \mu)} + 1} + \frac{1}{e^{\beta(\mu + \omega_{p})} + 1} \right), \end{split}$$

Here, we drop terms which do not depend on the thermodynamic variables. Putting m = 0, we obtain

$$B_{3}^{(0,2)}(m=0) = \frac{3}{8\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dp \left(\frac{p}{e^{\beta(p-\mu)}+1} + \frac{p}{e^{\beta(p+\mu)}+1} \right)$$

$$= \frac{3}{8\pi^{2}\beta^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dx \left(\frac{x}{e^{x-\nu}+1} + \frac{x}{e^{x+\nu}+1} \right)$$

$$= \frac{3\mu^{2}}{16\pi^{2}} + \frac{T^{2}}{16} = 3C(T,\mu).$$
 (A.9)

Appendix B Ambiguity of energy-momentum tensor

As is well known, there is an ambiguity for the definition of the energy-momentum tensor. As we see from now on, a part of ambiguity is related to the definition of an angular momentum density of the system. Here, we restrict ourselves to discussion in the flat spacetime for simplicity.

The invariance of the Lagrangian under the space-time translations and the Lorentz transformation, together with Noether's theorem, tells us the existence of a so-called canonical energy-momentum tensor $\Theta^{\mu}_{\ \nu}$ and a canonical angular momentum density tensor $M^{\mu}_{\ \rho\sigma}$

$$\Theta^{\mu}_{\ \nu} = -\frac{1}{2}\bar{\psi}(\gamma^{\mu}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{\nu} - \overleftarrow{\partial_{\nu}}\gamma^{\mu})\psi - \delta^{\mu}_{\nu}\mathcal{L}, \qquad (B.1)$$

$$M^{\mu}_{\ \rho\sigma} = M^{\mu(\text{orbital})}_{\ \rho\sigma} + M^{\mu(\text{spin})}_{\ \rho\sigma}, \tag{B.2}$$

where the canonical angular momentum density tensor is composed of an orbital angular momentum density $M^{\mu(\text{orbital})}_{\rho\sigma}$ and a spin density $M^{\mu(\text{spin})}_{\rho\sigma}$, which are given by

$$M^{\mu(\text{orbital})}_{\rho\sigma} = x_{\rho}\Theta^{\mu}_{\ \sigma} - x_{\sigma}\Theta^{\mu}_{\ \rho}, \tag{B.3}$$

$$M^{\mu(\text{spin})}_{\rho\sigma} = \frac{i}{2} \bar{\psi} \{ \gamma^{\mu}, \Sigma_{\rho\sigma} \} \psi.$$
(B.4)

If we raise the subscript $\Theta^{\mu\nu} = g^{\nu\rho}\Theta^{\mu}{}_{\rho}$, the canonical energy-momentum tensor $\Theta^{\mu\nu}$ is not symmetric under $\mu \leftrightarrow \nu$. Furthermore, it is also not gauge invariant in general.

On the other hand, using the canonical energy-momentum tensor $\Theta^{\mu\nu}$, we can construct a symmetric and gauge-invariant energy-momentum tensor, which is so-called a Belinfante energy-momentum tensor $T^{\mu\nu}$ given by

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \Theta^{\mu\nu} + \partial_{\rho} G^{\rho\mu\nu},$$

$$= -\delta^{\mu}_{\nu} \mathcal{L} - \frac{1}{4} \bar{\psi} (\gamma^{\mu} \overrightarrow{D}_{\nu} + \gamma_{\nu} \overrightarrow{D}^{\mu} - \overleftarrow{D}_{\nu} \gamma^{\mu} - \overleftarrow{D}^{\mu} \gamma_{\nu}) \psi$$
(B.5)

where $G^{\rho\mu\nu}$ is defined using the spin density $M_{\rm spin}^{\mu\rho\sigma}$ as

$$G^{\rho\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left(M^{\rho\mu\nu}_{(\rm spin)} + M^{\mu\nu\rho}_{(\rm spin)} + M^{\nu\mu\rho}_{(\rm spin)} \right). \tag{B.6}$$

Since $G^{\rho\mu\nu}$ is anti-symmetric with respect to its first indices $G^{\rho\mu\nu} = -G^{\mu\rho\nu}$, the Belinfante energy-momentum tensor also satisfied the conservation law:

$$\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\Theta^{\mu\nu} + \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\rho}G^{\rho\mu\nu} = 0.$$
(B.7)

It is also important to note that $T^{\mu\nu}$ and $\Theta^{\mu\nu}$ give the same total energy-momentum

$$\int d^3x T^{0\nu} - \int d^3x \Theta^{0\nu} = \int d^3x \partial_\rho G^{\rho 0\nu} = \int d^3x \partial_i G^{i0\nu} = 0, \qquad (B.8)$$

where we assume that the fields fall off sufficiently rapidly as $|x| \to \infty$ to obtain the final result.

In a similar way, we can define a Belinfante angular momentum density tensor $J^{\mu\rho\sigma}$ as

$$J^{\mu\rho\sigma} = M^{\mu\rho\sigma} + \partial_{\lambda} \left(x^{\rho} G^{\lambda\mu\sigma} - x^{\sigma} G^{\lambda\mu\rho} \right),$$

= $x^{\rho} T^{\mu\sigma} - x^{\sigma} T^{\mu\rho},$ (B.9)

where we used the relation $M_{\text{spin}}^{\mu\rho\sigma} = G^{\sigma\mu\rho} - G^{\rho\mu\sigma}$ which follows from the definition of $G^{\rho\mu\nu}$ in Eq. (B.6) to obtain the second line. The Belinfante angular momentum density has, therefore, the form of a purely orbital angular momentum tensor associated with the Belinfante energy-momentum tensor. It is trivially conserved as a consequence of the symmetry of $T^{\mu\nu}$ under $\mu \leftrightarrow \nu$.

From above two properties, we usually do not mind the difference between $T^{\mu\nu}$ and $\Theta^{\mu\nu}$ and freely choose a convenient one. However, as discussed in Sec. 2.2.2, the one coupled to the metric in the curved spacetime is symmetric energy-momentum tensor. In order to formulate the imaginary-time formalism in local thermal equilibrium, we have to adopt the symmetric one. Otherwise, it turns out that we have to add another term resulted from the angular momentum.

References

- T. Hayata, Y. Hidaka, T. Noumi, and M. Hongo, "Relativistic hydrodynamics from quantum field theory on the basis of the generalized Gibbs ensemble method," *Phys. Rev.* D92 no. 6, (2015) 065008, arXiv:1503.04535 [hep-ph].
- [2] B. Pascal, Traite de l'équilibre des liqueure et de la pesantene de la masse de l'air. 1663.
- [3] I. Newton, *Philosophiæ Naturalis Principia Mathematica*. 1713.
- [4] D. Bernoulli, Hydrodynamica, sive de viribus et motibus fluidorum commentarii. Basel, 1738.
- [5] A. C. Clairaut, *Théorie de la figure de la terre*. 1743.
- [6] J. L. R. d'Alembert, Traite de l'équilibre et du mouvement des fluides. 1744.
- [7] J. L. R. d'Alembert, Essai d'une nouvelle théorie sur la resistance des fluides. 1752.
- [8] L. Euler, "Principes généraux de l'état d'équilibre des fluides," Mémoires de l'Acadmie des Sciences de Berlin (1755).
- [9] L. Euler, "Principes généraux du mouvement des fluides," Mémoires de l'Acadmie des Sciences de Berlin (1755).
- [10] J. L. Lagrange, *Mécanique analytique*. Paris, 1788.
- [11] O. Darrigol, Worlds of Flow: A History of Hydrodynamics from the Bernoullis to Prandtl. Oxford University Press, USA, 2, 2009.
- [12] L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz, *Fluid Mechanics, Second Edition*. Butterworth Heinemann, Oxford, UK, 1987.
- [13] B. B. Back, M. D. Baker, M. Ballintijn, D. S. Barton, B. Becker, et al., "The PHOBOS perspective on discoveries at RHIC," Nucl. Phys. A757 (2005) 28–101, arXiv:nucl-ex/0410022 [nucl-ex].
- [14] BRAHMS Collaboration Collaboration, I. Arsene *et al.*, "Quark gluon plasma and color glass condensate at RHIC? The Perspective from the BRAHMS experiment," *Nucl. Phys.* A757 (2005) 1–27, arXiv:nucl-ex/0410020 [nucl-ex].

- [15] PHENIX Collaboration Collaboration, K. Adcox *et al.*, "Formation of dense partonic matter in relativistic nucleus-nucleus collisions at RHIC: Experimental evaluation by the PHENIX collaboration," *Nucl. Phys.* A757 (2005) 184–283, arXiv:nucl-ex/0410003 [nucl-ex].
- [16] STAR Collaboration Collaboration, J. Adams *et al.*, "Experimental and theoretical challenges in the search for the quark gluon plasma: The STAR Collaboration's critical assessment of the evidence from RHIC collisions," *Nucl. Phys.* A757 (2005) 102–183, arXiv:nucl-ex/0501009 [nucl-ex].
- [17] P. Romatschke and U. Romatschke, "Viscosity Information from Relativistic Nuclear Collisions: How Perfect is the Fluid Observed at RHIC?," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **99** (2007) 172301, arXiv:0706.1522 [nucl-th].
- [18] H. Song, S. A. Bass, U. Heinz, T. Hirano, and C. Shen, "200 A GeV Au+Au collisions serve a nearly perfect quark-gluon liquid," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **106** (2011) 192301, arXiv:1011.2783 [nucl-th].
- [19] ALICE Collaboration, K. Aamodt *et al.*, "Elliptic flow of charged particles in Pb-Pb collisions at 2.76 TeV," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **105** (2010) 252302, arXiv:1011.3914 [nucl-ex].
- [20] C. Eckart, "The Thermodynamics of irreversible processes. 3.. Relativistic theory of the simple fluid," *Phys. Rev.* 58 (1940) 919–924.
- [21] I. Müller, "Zum Paradoxon der Wärmeleitungstheorie," Z. Phys. 198 (1967) 329–344.
- [22] W. Israel and J. M. Stewart, "Transient relativistic thermodynamics and kinetic theory," Ann. Phys. 118 (1979) 341–372.
- [23] A. Muronga, "Relativistic Dynamics of Non-ideal Fluids: Viscous and heat-conducting fluids. II. Transport properties and microscopic description of relativistic nuclear matter," *Phys. Rev.* C 76 (2007) 014910, arXiv:nucl-th/0611091 [nucl-th].
- [24] T. Tsumura, T. Kunihiro, and K. Ohnishi, "Derivation of covariant dissipative fluid dynamics in the renormalization-group method," *Phys. Lett.* B646 (2007) 134–140.
- [25] K. Tsumura and T. Kunihiro, "First-Principle Derivation of Stable First-Order Generic-Frame Relativistic Dissipative Hydrodynamic Equations from Kinetic Theory by Renormalization-Group Method," Prog. Theor. Phys. 126 (2011) 761-809, arXiv:1108.1519 [hep-ph].
- [26] M. A. York and G. D. Moore, "Second order hydrodynamic coefficients from kinetic theory," Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 054011, arXiv:0811.0729 [hep-ph].

- [27] B. Betz, D. Henkel, and D. H. Rischke, "From kinetic theory to dissipative fluid dynamics," Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 62 (2009) 556-561, arXiv:0812.1440 [nucl-th].
- [28] A. Monnai and T. Hirano, "Effects of Bulk Viscosity at Freezeout," Phys. Rev. C 80 (2009) 054906, arXiv:0903.4436 [nucl-th].
- [29] A. Monnai and T. Hirano, "Relativistic Dissipative Hydrodynamic Equations at the Second Order for Multi-Component Systems with Multiple Conserved Currents," *Nucl.Phys.* A847 (2010) 283–314, arXiv:1003.3087 [nucl-th].
- [30] P. Van and T. S. Biro, "First order and stable relativistic dissipative hydrodynamics," *Phys. Lett.* B709 (2012) 106–110, arXiv:1109.0985 [nucl-th].
- [31] G. S. Denicol, H. Niemi, E. Molnar, and D. H. Rischke, "Derivation of transient relativistic fluid dynamics from the Boltzmann equation," *Phys. Rev.* D 85 (2012) 114047, arXiv:1202.4551 [nucl-th].
- [32] A. Jaiswal, "Relativistic dissipative hydrodynamics from kinetic theory with relaxation time approximation," *Phys. Rev.* C 87 no. 5, (2013) 051901, arXiv:1302.6311 [nucl-th].
- [33] R. Baier, P. Romatschke, D. T. Son, A. O. Starinets, and M. A. Stephanov, "Relativistic viscous hydrodynamics, conformal invariance, and holography," *JHEP* 0804 (2008) 100, arXiv:0712.2451 [hep-th].
- [34] M. Natsuume and T. Okamura, "Causal hydrodynamics of gauge theory plasmas from AdS/CFT duality," Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 066014, arXiv:0712.2916 [hep-th].
- [35] S. Bhattacharyya, V. E. Hubeny, S. Minwalla, and M. Rangamani, "Nonlinear Fluid Dynamics from Gravity," JHEP 0802 (2008) 045, arXiv:0712.2456 [hep-th].
- [36] V. E. Hubeny, S. Minwalla, and M. Rangamani, "The fluid/gravity correspondence," arXiv:1107.5780 [hep-th].
- [37] T. Koide, G. S. Denicol, P. Mota, and T. Kodama, "Relativistic dissipative hydrodynamics: A Minimal causal theory," *Phys. Rev.* C 75 (2007) 034909, arXiv:hep-ph/0609117 [hep-ph].
- [38] M. Fukuma and Y. Sakatani, "Relativistic viscoelastic fluid mechanics," Phys. Rev. E 84 (2011) 026316, arXiv:1104.1416 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [39] T. Koide and T. Kodama, "Transport Coefficients of Non-Newtonian Fluid and Causal Dissipative Hydrodynamics," *Phys. Rev.* E 78 (2008) 051107, arXiv:0806.3725 [cond-mat.stat-mech].

- [40] Y. Minami and Y. Hidaka, "Relativistic hydrodynamics from projection operator method," Phys. Rev. E 87 (2013) 023007, arXiv:1210.1313 [hep-ph].
- [41] N. Banerjee, J. Bhattacharya, S. Bhattacharyya, S. Jain, and S. Minwalla, "Constraints on Fluid Dynamics from Equilibrium Partition Functions," *JHEP* **1209** (2012) 046, arXiv:1203.3544 [hep-th].
- [42] K. Jensen, M. Kaminski, P. Kovtun, R. Meyer, A. Ritz, and A. Yarom, "Towards hydrodynamics without an entropy current," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **109** (2012) 101601, arXiv:1203.3556 [hep-th].
- [43] A. Vilenkin, "Macroscopic parity-violating effects: Neutrino fluxes from rotating black holes and in rotating thermal radiation," *Phys. Rev.* D20 (1979) 1807–1812.
- [44] A. Vilenkin, "Equilibrium parity-violating current in a magnetic field," Phys. Rev. D22 (1980) 3080–3084.
- [45] J. W. Gibbs, Elementary principles in statistical mechanics. Charles Scribner's Sons, 1902.
- [46] L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz, Statistical Physics, Part 1, 3rd Edition. Butterworth Heinemann, Oxford, UK, 1984.
- [47] S.-i. Sasa, "Derivation of Hydrodynamics from the Hamiltonian Description of Particle Systems," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **112** no. 10, (Mar., 2014) 100602, arXiv:1306.4880
 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [48] S. Nakajima, "Thermal irreversible processes (in Japanese)," Busseironkenkyu 2 no. 2, (1957) 197–208.
- [49] H. Mori, "Statistical-mechanical theory of transport in fluids," *Phys. Rev.* 112 (Dec, 1958) 1829–1842. http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.112.1829.
- [50] J. A. McLennan, "Statistical mechanics of transport in fluids," *Physics of Fluids* 3 no. 4, (1960).
- [51] J. A. McLennan, Introduction to Non Equilibrium Statistical Mechanics (Prentice Hall Advanced Reference Series). Prentice Hall, 10, 1988.
- [52] D. N. Zubarev, Nonequilibrium Statistical Thermodynamics. Plenum Pub Corp., 1974.
- [53] D. N. Zubarev, V. Morozov, and G. Ropke, Statistical Mechanics of Nonequilibrium Processes, Volume 1: Basic Concepts, Kinetic Theory. Wiley-VCH, 1 ed., 6, 1996.

- [54] D. N. Zubarev, V. Morozov, and G. Ropke, Statistical Mechanics of Nonequilibrium Processes, Volume 2: Relaxation and Hydrodynamic Processes. Wiley-VCH, 9, 1997.
- [55] K. Kawasaki and J. D. Gunton, "Theory of nonlinear transport processes: Nonlinear shear viscosity and normal stress effects," *Phys. Rev. A* 8 (Oct, 1973) 2048–2064. http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.8.2048.
- [56] D. N. Zubarev, A. V. Prozorkevich, and S. A. Smolyanskii, "Derivation of nonlinear generalized equations of quantum relativistic hydrodynamics," *Theor. Math. Phys.* 40 no. 3, (1979) 821–831.
- [57] F. Becattini, L. Bucciantini, E. Grossi, and L. Tinti, "Local thermodynamical equilibrium and the beta frame for a quantum relativistic fluid," *Eur. Phys. J.* C75 no. 5, (2015) 191, arXiv:1403.6265 [hep-th].
- [58] J. M. Luttinger, "Theory of Thermal Transport Coefficients," Phys. Rev. 135 (1964) A1505–A1514.
- [59] D. T. Son and P. Surowka, "Hydrodynamics with Triangle Anomalies," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 103 (2009) 191601, arXiv:0906.5044 [hep-th].
- [60] S. R. De Groot, W. A. van Leeuwen, and C. G. van Weert, *Relativistic Kinetic Theory: Principles and Applications*. Elsevier Science Ltd, 11, 1980.
- [61] A. G. Walker, "The Boltzmann equations in general relativity," Proceedings of the Edinburgh Mathematical Society (Series 2) 4 (4, 1936) 238-253. http://journals.cambridge.org/article_S0013091500027504.
- [62] A. Lichnerowicz and R. Marrot, "Propriétés statistiques des ensembles de particules en relativité restreinte," C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 210 (1940) 759–761.
- [63] R. Marrot, "Sur l'equation intégrodifferentielle de Boltzmann," J. Math. Pures Appl. 25 (1946) 93–113.
- [64] G. E. Tauber and J. W. Weinberg, "Internal State of a Gravitating Gas," *Phys. Rev.* 122 no. 4, (1961) 1342–1365.
- [65] S. Chapman and T. G. Cowling, The Mathematical Theory of Non-uniform Gases: An Account of the Kinetic Theory of Viscosity, Thermal Conduction and Diffusion in Gases (Cambridge Mathematical Library). Cambridge University Press, 1970.
- [66] W. Israel, "Relativistic kinetic theory of a simple gas," Journal of Mathematical Physics 4 no. 9, (1963).

- [67] N. G. van Kampen, "Chapman-Enskog as an application of the method for eliminating fast variables," J. Stat. Phys. 46 no. 3-4, (1987) 709-727. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF01013381.
- [68] P. L. Bhatnagar, E. P. Gross, and M. Krook, "A model for collision processes in gases. i. small amplitude processes in charged and neutral one-component systems," *Phys. Rev.* 94 (May, 1954) 511-525. http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.94.511.
- [69] H. Grad, "On the kinetic theory of rarefied gases," Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics 2 no. 4, (1949) 331-407.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cpa.3160020403.
- [70] H. Grad, "Asymptotic theory of the Boltzmann equation," *Physics of Fluids* 6 no. 2, (1963).
- [71] K. Tsumura, T. Kunihiro, and K. Ohnishi, "Derivation of covariant dissipative fluid dynamics in the renormalization-group method," *Phys. Lett.* B656 (2007) 274, arXiv:hep-ph/0609056 [hep-ph]. [Phys. Lett.B646,134(2007)].
- [72] K. Tsumura, Y. Kikuchi, and T. Kunihiro, "Relativistic Causal Hydrodynamics Derived from Boltzmann Equation: a novel reduction theoretical approach," *Phys. Rev.* D92 no. 8, (2015) 085048, arXiv:1506.00846 [hep-ph].
- [73] Y. Kikuchi, K. Tsumura, and T. Kunihiro, "Derivation of second-order relativistic hydrodynamics for reactive multi-component systems," arXiv:1507.04894 [hep-ph].
- [74] M. S. Green, "Markoff random processes and the statistical mechanics of time-dependent phenomena. II. irreversible processes in fluids," *The Journal of Chemical Physics* 22 no. 3, (1954).
- [75] H. Nakano, "A method of calculation of electrical conductivity," Prog. Theor. Phys. 15 no. 1, (1956) 77-79. http://ptp.oxfordjournals.org/content/15/1/77.short.
- [76] R. Kubo, "Statistical-mechanical theory of irreversible processes. i. general theory and simple applications to magnetic and conduction problems," *Journal of the Physical Society of Japan* 12 no. 6, (1957) 570–586.
- [77] D. T. Son and N. Yamamoto, "Berry Curvature, Triangle Anomalies, and the Chiral Magnetic Effect in Fermi Liquids," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **109** (2012) 181602, arXiv:1203.2697 [cond-mat.mes-hall].
- [78] M. A. Stephanov and Y. Yin, "Chiral Kinetic Theory," Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 162001, arXiv:1207.0747 [hep-th].

- [79] D. T. Son and N. Yamamoto, "Kinetic theory with Berry curvature from quantum field theories," *Phys. Rev.* D87 no. 8, (2013) 085016, arXiv:1210.8158 [hep-th].
- [80] J.-W. Chen, S. Pu, Q. Wang, and X.-N. Wang, "Berry Curvature and Four-Dimensional Monopoles in the Relativistic Chiral Kinetic Equation," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **110** no. 26, (2013) 262301, arXiv:1210.8312 [hep-th].
- [81] C. Manuel and J. M. Torres-Rincon, "Kinetic theory of chiral relativistic plasmas and energy density of their gauge collective excitations," *Phys. Rev.* D89 no. 9, (2014) 096002, arXiv:1312.1158 [hep-ph].
- [82] C. Manuel and J. M. Torres-Rincon, "Chiral transport equation from the quantum Dirac Hamiltonian and the on-shell effective field theory," *Phys. Rev.* D90 no. 7, (2014) 076007, arXiv:1404.6409 [hep-ph].
- [83] J.-Y. Chen, D. T. Son, M. A. Stephanov, H.-U. Yee, and Y. Yin, "Lorentz Invariance in Chiral Kinetic Theory," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **113** no. 18, (2014) 182302, arXiv:1404.5963
 [hep-th].
- [84] J.-Y. Chen, D. T. Son, and M. A. Stephanov, "Collisions in Chiral Kinetic Theory," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **115** no. 2, (2015) 021601, arXiv:1502.06966 [hep-th].
- [85] K. Jensen, "Triangle Anomalies, Thermodynamics, and Hydrodynamics," *Phys. Rev.* D85 (2012) 125017, arXiv:1203.3599 [hep-th].
- [86] N. Banerjee, S. Dutta, S. Jain, R. Loganayagam, and T. Sharma, "Constraints on Anomalous Fluid in Arbitrary Dimensions," JHEP 03 (2013) 048, arXiv:1206.6499 [hep-th].
- [87] K. Jensen, R. Loganayagam, and A. Yarom, "Anomaly inflow and thermal equilibrium," *JHEP* 05 (2014) 134, arXiv:1310.7024 [hep-th].
- [88] F. M. Haehl, R. Loganayagam, and M. Rangamani, "Adiabatic hydrodynamics: The eightfold way to dissipation," JHEP 05 (2015) 060, arXiv:1502.00636 [hep-th].
- [89] E. Noether, "Invariant variation problems," Transport Theory and Statistical Physics (English translation 1 no. 3, (1971) 186–207.
- [90] H. Fukuda and Y. Miyamoto, "On the gamma-decay of neutral meson," Prog. Theor. Phys. 4 no. 3, (1949) 347–357.
- [91] S. L. Adler, "Axial vector vertex in spinor electrodynamics," Phys. Rev. 177 (1969) 2426–2438.

- [92] J. S. Bell and R. Jackiw, "A PCAC puzzle: $\pi_0 \to \gamma \gamma$ in the σ -model," Nuovo Cim. A60 (1969) 47–61.
- [93] J. Wess and B. Zumino, "Consequences of anomalous Ward identities," Phys. Lett. B37 (1971) 95.
- [94] E. Witten, "Global Aspects of Current Algebra," Nucl. Phys. B223 (1983) 422–432.
- [95] H. B. Nielsen and M. Ninomiya, "The Adler-Bell-Jackiw anomaly and Weyl fermions in a crystal," *Phys. Lett.* B130 (1983) 389.
- [96] A. Yu. Alekseev, V. V. Cheianov, and J. Frohlich, "Universality of transport properties in equilibrium, Goldstone theorem and chiral anomaly," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 81 (1998) 3503-3506, arXiv:cond-mat/9803346 [cond-mat].
- [97] K. Fukushima, D. E. Kharzeev, and H. J. Warringa, "The Chiral Magnetic Effect," *Phys. Rev.* D78 (2008) 074033, arXiv:0808.3382 [hep-ph].
- [98] D. T. Son and A. R. Zhitnitsky, "Quantum anomalies in dense matter," Phys. Rev. D70 (2004) 074018, arXiv:hep-ph/0405216 [hep-ph].
- [99] M. A. Metlitski and A. R. Zhitnitsky, "Anomalous axion interactions and topological currents in dense matter," *Phys. Rev.* D72 (2005) 045011, arXiv:hep-ph/0505072 [hep-ph].
- [100] J. Erdmenger, M. Haack, M. Kaminski, and A. Yarom, "Fluid dynamics of R-charged black holes," JHEP 01 (2009) 055, arXiv:0809.2488 [hep-th].
- [101] N. Banerjee, J. Bhattacharya, S. Bhattacharyya, S. Dutta, R. Loganayagam, and P. Surowka, "Hydrodynamics from charged black branes," *JHEP* 01 (2011) 094, arXiv:0809.2596 [hep-th].
- [102] P. B. Arnold, G. D. Moore, and L. G. Yaffe, "Transport coefficients in high temperature gauge theories. 1. Leading log results," JHEP 11 (2000) 001, arXiv:hep-ph/0010177 [hep-ph].
- [103] P. B. Arnold, G. D. Moore, and L. G. Yaffe, "Transport coefficients in high temperature gauge theories. 2. Beyond leading log," JHEP 05 (2003) 051, arXiv:hep-ph/0302165 [hep-ph].
- [104] I. Amado, K. Landsteiner, and F. Pena-Benitez, "Anomalous transport coefficients from Kubo formulas in Holography," JHEP 05 (2011) 081, arXiv:1102.4577 [hep-th].
- [105] K. Landsteiner, E. Megias, and F. Pena-Benitez, "Gravitational Anomaly and Transport," Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 021601, arXiv:1103.5006 [hep-ph].

- [106] K. Landsteiner, E. Megias, and F. Pena-Benitez, "Anomalous Transport from Kubo Formulae," Lect. Notes Phys. 871 (2013) 433-468, arXiv:1207.5808 [hep-th].
- [107] D. E. Kharzeev, L. D. McLerran, and H. J. Warringa, "The Effects of topological charge change in heavy ion collisions: 'Event by event P and CP violation'," *Nucl. Phys.* A803 (2008) 227-253, arXiv:0711.0950 [hep-ph].
- [108] V. Skokov, A. Yu. Illarionov, and V. Toneev, "Estimate of the magnetic field strength in heavy-ion collisions," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A24 (2009) 5925-5932, arXiv:0907.1396 [nucl-th].
- [109] M. Hongo, Y. Hirono, and T. Hirano, "First Numerical Simulations of Anomalous Hydrodynamics," arXiv:1309.2823 [nucl-th].
- [110] H.-U. Yee and Y. Yin, "Realistic Implementation of Chiral Magnetic Wave in Heavy Ion Collisions," Phys. Rev. C89 no. 4, (2014) 044909, arXiv:1311.2574 [nucl-th].
- [111] Y. Hirono, T. Hirano, and D. E. Kharzeev, "The chiral magnetic effect in heavy-ion collisions from event-by-event anomalous hydrodynamics," arXiv:1412.0311 [hep-ph].
- [112] STAR Collaboration, L. Adamczyk *et al.*, "Observation of charge asymmetry dependence of pion elliptic flow and the possible chiral magnetic wave in heavy-ion collisions," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **114** no. 25, (2015) 252302, arXiv:1504.02175 [nucl-ex].
- [113] Y. Yin and J. Liao, "Hydrodynamics with chiral anomaly and charge separation in relativistic heavy ion collisions," arXiv:1504.06906 [nucl-th].
- [114] D. E. Kharzeev, J. Liao, S. A. Voloshin, and G. Wang, "Chiral Magnetic Effect in High-Energy Nuclear Collisions — A Status Report," arXiv:1511.04050 [hep-ph].
- [115] S. Murakami, "Phase transition between the quantum spin hall and insulator phases in 3d: emergence of a topological gapless phase," New Journal of Physics 9 no. 9, (2007) 356. http://stacks.iop.org/1367-2630/9/i=9/a=356.
- [116] S. Murakami and S.-i. Kuga, "Universal phase diagrams for the quantum spin hall systems," *Phys. Rev. B* 78 (Oct, 2008) 165313. http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.78.165313.
- [117] X. Wan, A. M. Turner, A. Vishwanath, and S. Y. Savrasov, "Topological semimetal and fermi-arc surface states in the electronic structure of pyrochlore iridates," *Phys. Rev. B* 83 (May, 2011) 205101. http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.83.205101.
- [118] A. A. Burkov and L. Balents, "Weyl semimetal in a topological insulator multilayer," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 107 (Sep, 2011) 127205. http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.107.127205.
- [119] S.-Y. Xu, I. Belopolski, N. Alidoust, M. Neupane, G. Bian, C. Zhang, R. Sankar, G. Chang, Z. Yuan, C.-C. Lee, S.-M. Huang, H. Zheng, J. Ma, D. S. Sanchez, B. Wang, A. Bansil, F. Chou, P. P. Shibayev, H. Lin, S. Jia, and M. Z. Hasan, "Discovery of a weyl fermion semimetal and topological fermi arcs,".
- B. Q. Lv, H. M. Weng, B. B. Fu, X. P. Wang, H. Miao, J. Ma, P. Richard, X. C. Huang, L. X. Zhao, G. F. Chen, Z. Fang, X. Dai, T. Qian, and H. Ding, "Experimental discovery of weyl semimetal taas," *Phys. Rev. X* 5 (Jul, 2015) 031013. http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevX.5.031013.
- [121] Q. Li, D. E. Kharzeev, C. Zhang, Y. Huang, I. Pletikosic, A. V. Fedorov, R. D. Zhong, J. A. Schneeloch, G. D. Gu, and T. Valla, "Observation of the chiral magnetic effect in ZrTe5," arXiv:1412.6543 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [122] J. I. Kapusta, *Finite-Temperature Field Theory*. Cambridge University Press, 1994.
- [123] M. Le Bellac, *Thermal field theory*. Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- [124] J. I. Kapusta and C. Gale, Finite-Temperature Field Theory: Principles and Applications. Cambridge University Press, 2006.
- [125] R. Kubo, H. Ichimura, T. Usui, and N. Hashitsume, *Thermodynamics: An Advanced Course with Problems and Solutions*. Elsevier Science Publishing Co Inc., U.S., 12, 1968.
- T. Matsubara, "A new approach to quantum-statistical mechanics," Prog. Theor. Phys. 14 no. 4, (1955) 351–378.
- [127] A. A. Abrikosov, L. P. Gorkov, and I. E. Dzyaloshinskii, "On the application of quantum-field-theory methods to problems of quantum statistics at finite temperatures," Sov. Phys. JETP 9 no. 3, (1959) 636–641.
- [128] J. S. Schwinger, "Brownian motion of a quantum oscillator," J. Math. Phys. 2 (1961) 407–432.
- [129] L. V. Keldysh, "Diagram technique for nonequilibrium processes," Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.
 47 (1964) 1515–1527. [Sov. Phys. JETP20,1018(1965)].
- [130] H. Umezawa, Thermo Field Dynamics and Condensed States. Elsevier Science Ltd, 1982.

- [131] H. Umezawa, Advanced Field Theory: Micro, Macro, and Thermal Physics. American Institute of Physics, 1997.
- [132] D. T. Son, "Newton-Cartan Geometry and the Quantum Hall Effect," arXiv:1306.0638 [cond-mat.mes-hall].
- [133] K. Jensen, "On the coupling of Galilean-invariant field theories to curved spacetime," arXiv:1408.6855 [hep-th].
- [134] C. G. van Weert, "Maximum entropy principle and relativistic hydrodynamics," Ann. Phys. 140 no. 1, (1982) 133 - 162. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0003491682903384.
- [135] H. A. Weldon, "Covariant Calculations at Finite Temperature: The Relativistic Plasma," Phys. Rev. D 26 (1982) 1394.
- [136] M. Hongo and Y. Hidaka in preparation.
- [137] C. Jarzynski, "Nonequilibrium work theorem for a system strongly coupled to a thermal environment," *Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment* 2004 no. 09, (2004) P09005. http://stacks.iop.org/1742-5468/2004/i=09/a=P09005.
- [138] C. Jarzynski, "Nonequilibrium equality for free energy differences," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 78 (Apr, 1997) 2690-2693. http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.78.2690.
- [139] T. Yamada and K. Kawasaki, "Nonlinear effects in the shear viscosity of critical mixtures," *Prog. Theor. Phys.* 38 no. 5, (1967) 1031–1051.
- [140] D. J. Evans, E. G. D. Cohen, and G. P. Morriss, "Probability of second law violations in shearing steady states," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **71** (Oct, 1993) 2401-2404. http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.71.2401.
- [141] G. Gallavotti and E. G. D. Cohen, "Dynamical ensembles in nonequilibrium statistical mechanics," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 74 (Apr, 1995) 2694-2697. http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.74.2694.
- [142] J. Kurchan, "Fluctuation theorem for stochastic dynamics," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General 31 no. 16, (1998) 3719.
 http://stacks.iop.org/0305-4470/31/i=16/a=003.
- [143] C. Maes, "The fluctuation theorem as a gibbs property," Journal of Statistical Physics 95 no. 1-2, (1999) 367-392. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A%3A1004541830999.

- [144] J. Lebowitz and H. Spohn, "A Gallavotti-Cohen-type symmetry in the large deviation functional for stochastic dynamics," *Journal of Statistical Physics* 95 no. 1-2, (1999) 333-365. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A%3A1004589714161.
- [145] G. E. Crooks, "Path-ensemble averages in systems driven far from equilibrium," *Phys. Rev. E* 61 (Mar, 2000) 2361-2366.
 http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevE.61.2361.
- [146] C. Jarzynski, "Hamiltonian derivation of a detailed fluctuation theorem," Journal of Statistical Physics 98 no. 1-2, (2000) 77-102. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A%3A1018670721277.
- [147] U. Seifert, "Entropy production along a stochastic trajectory and an integral fluctuation theorem," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **95** (Jul, 2005) 040602.
 http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.95.040602.
- [148] A. Wehrl, "General properties of entropy," Rev. Mod. Phys. 50 (Apr, 1978) 221-260. http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/RevModPhys.50.221.
- [149] R. Esposito and R. Marra, "On the derivation of the incompressible Navier-Stokes equation for Hamiltonian particle systems," J. Stat. Phys. 74 (1994) 981–1004.
- [150] H. Mori, "Transport, collective motion, and brownian motion," Prog. Theor. Phys. 33 no. 3, (1965) 423–455.
- [151] K. Tsumura and T. Kunihiro, "Uniqueness of landau-lifshitz energy frame in relativistic dissipative hydrodynamics," *Phys. Rev.* E 87 (May, 2013) 053008. http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevE.87.053008.
- [152] K. Jensen, R. Loganayagam, and A. Yarom, "Thermodynamics, gravitational anomalies and cones," JHEP 02 (2013) 088, arXiv:1207.5824 [hep-th].
- [153] F. M. Haehl, R. Loganayagam, and M. Rangamani, "Effective actions for anomalous hydrodynamics," JHEP 03 (2014) 034, arXiv:1312.0610 [hep-th].